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Each second we live is a new and unique 
moment of the universe, a moment that 
never was before and never will be again. 
And what do we teach our children in 
school? We teach them that two and two 
make four and that Paris is the capital of 
France. When will we also teach them what 
they are? We should say to each of them: Do 
you know what you are? You are a marvel. 
You are unique. In all of the world there is 
no other child exactly like you. In the mil­
lions of years that have passed, there has 
never been a child like you. And look at your 
body—what a wonder it is! Your legs, your 
arms, your cunning fingers, the way you 
move! You may become a Shakespeare, a Mi­
chelangelo, a Beethoven. You have the ca­
pacity for anything. Yes, you are a marvel.

And when you grow up, can you then 
harm another who is, like you, a marvel? You 
must cherish one another. You must work— 
we all must work—to make this world wor­
thy of its children.

Pablo Casals
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"Do not fear your enemies: The worst they 
can do is kill you. Do not fear friends: At 

worst they may betray you. Fear those who 
do not care: They neither kill nor betray, 
but betrayal and murder exist because of 

their silent consent."

Bruno Yasensky, Russian novelist

Prologue

On November 18, 1978, virtually on the eve of the 
International Year of the Child, 276 children were mur­
dered in an unprecedented act of cult genocide in 
Jonestown, Guyana. The imposed silence that followed 
their brutal deaths cast a long shadow on the sincerity of 
this country’s 1979 commitment to the International 
Year of the Child. Totally ignored by President Jimmy 
Carter, Governor Jerry Brown, and other national leaders 
and lost in all the national and international press cover­
age on the tragedy, they were buried in unmarked, 
bulldozed, common graves in Oakland, California. Both 
the White House and the State Department were more 
than anxious to put the Jonestown matter to rest, and 
officials responsible for the bodies until interment were

1



2 THE CHILDREN OF JONESTOWN

ordered to keep the lowest possible public profile. So it 
is that these children, insignificant hostages in life, have 
all but been forgotten in death.

On April 14, 1978, seven months before the mass 
murders of these innocent children, President Carter 
announced the establishment of the United States Com­
mission on the International Year of the Child for 1979 
by Executive Order 12053:

We shall foster within the United States a better under­
standing of the special needs of children. In particular . . . 
special attention to the health, education, social environ­
ment, physical and emotional development, and legal 
rights and needs of children that are unique to them as 
children.

On June 8, 1978, Carter made an even stronger com­
mitment to the Commission when he said, “I hope to 
add the prestige and influence of the Presidency itself to 
making this a successful effort.”

As this book was written, nearly fifty American citizens 
were being held hostage in the U.S. Embassy in Tehe­
ran, Iran. When Iranian militants seized the Embassy 
and took hostages, President Carter and Secretary of 
State Cyrus Vance spoke out strongly against this viola­
tion of international law as well as against the conditions 
that the hostages were forced to endure. Our nation 
responded with a massive wave of heartfelt concern and 
patriotism.

Yet only a little over a year before, a group of Con­
cerned Relatives submitted a moving and well-docu­
mented petition to Secretary Vance, entreating him to 
protect the human rights of loved ones being held by Jim 
Jones in a jungle encampment in Guyana, South Amer­
ica. Defectors from Jonestown told, in sworn affidavits, of 
over 1,000 people imprisoned, of armed guards prevent­
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ing their escape, and of the deadly threat of “revolution­
ary suicide/murder” at the hands of their isolated and 
mad leader.

When a shocked nation was informed that all the 
Jonestown hostages were dead, the President expressed 
sorrow to the immediate families of the murdered press 
corps and Congressman Leo Ryan. Not until almost two 
weeks later did Mr. Carter finally comment on what 
happened at Jonestown itself. During a nationally tele­
vised news conference, he stated, . . I believe that we 
don’t need to deplore on a nationwide basis the fact that 
the Jonestown cult, so called, was typical of America, 
because it is not” and stressed, “It did not take place in 
our country.”

What the President ignored was the fact that although 
the deaths did not occur on our soil, those 276 babies, 
toddlers, youngsters, and teen-agers came from every 
comer of the United States: Chicago, Miami, Indianap­
olis, Atlanta, Los Angeles, Philadelphia, Detroit, Omaha, 
San Francisco, Kansas City, Houston, New Orleans, 
Springfield (Ohio), Trenton, Little Rock, Denver, Jack- 
son (Mississippi), and a host of smaller cities and rural 
towns.

It matters little where these children perished. What 
matters is why they died in the manner they did. Other 
major human disasters or near-disasters have been 
investigated by either a Presidential commission or an 
in-depth inquiry by an appropriate federal agency—the 
DC 10 crash in Chicago, May 1979, and the Three Mile 
Island incident, for example. To date, the Jonestown 
tragedy has not been given the national priority or 
attention it deserves.

Authorities did conduct three routine investigations, 
with little fanfare: No one was found responsible. More­
over, U.S. Attorney General Griffin Bell refused to re­
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lease to people interested in further study the murder/ 
suicide tapes found at Jonestown, on the grounds that 
they served “no purpose.” Bell admitted that he had not 
listened to the tapes, saying, “I do not suffer from morbid 
curiosit}'. It is not one of my traits . . . Jonestown was an 
aberration that is not likely to occur again."

But was it an aberration? In view of estimates that 
three to ten million Americans are trapped in cults that 
employ the same oppressive and dishonest techniques 
as Jim Jones’ People’s Temple, how can we be certain it 
will never happen again? There is a growing cry for help 
from those who have already lost their loved ones to 
cults, and they feel their pleas are being ignored. Can we 
as a free people afford to tolerate apathy and silence on 
the part of authorities?

The International Year of the Child has passed, and 
the silence on the factors that led to the mass slaugh­
ter of the children of Jonestown endures. The apathy 
of those responsible at all levels of government be­
fore the tragedy turned into imposed official silence 
after it. Without question, the President set the na­
tional tone.

In 1979, President Carter created a Commission on the 
Holocaust, which addressed itself to the eleven million 
Jewish and other victims of Nazi genocide during World 
War II. To Commission Chairman Elie Wiesel and his 
colleagues, the President said, “Never again will the 
world stand silent or look the other way in the face of 
genocide. We must stamp out oppression wherever it 
exists.” With that, he urged the founding of a mu­
seum, a memorial, and an educational foundation, as 
well as the establishment of a Committee of Con­
science for the purpose of receiving reports of any 
new attempts at genocide.

It appears that the unique problem facing the children 
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of Jonestown was the total lack of a powerful lobbying 
group to represent them in Washington and Sacramento. 
As a result, their President, their Governor—all of gov­
ernment—did not care enough to look down and see 
their sad and horrible plight. Children don’t vote; hence, 
consciously or unconsciously, they were cast aside in the 
priority process of political power. They had only their 
loved ones and a lone public official, the late Congress­
man Leo Ryan, who could not succeed in the savage 
battle to save them.

Time moves on. Let this book record, however, that 
during the final moments in the lives of hundreds 
trapped in a concentration camp in Jonestown, Guyana, 
there was betrayal and murder because those who could 
have helped chose to give, instead, their silent consent.



“Children who said they were not happy 
and wanted to go away were severely 

beaten."

Tracy Parks, aged ten, who escaped the massacre 
but whose mother died at Port Kaituma, Guyana

1. Child Abuse and Terror 
in People’s Temple

The 276 children who died in Jonestown were hos­
tages of an insane terrorist who cruelly abused them and 
finally murdered them to win a place in history. From 
the time they entered People’s Temple with their par­
ents till they were killed with cyanide poison in Guyana, 
Reverend Jim Jones manipulated them to create a favor­
able media image, to win the support of celebrities and 
political leaders, and to enrich the Temple’s coffers with 
public money. Through them he was able to keep their 
parents in his church, to obtain all their possessions and
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savings, and to lure these innocent believers to Guyana, 
where they lost their freedom and, ultimately, their 
lives.

On the day that Congressman Leo Ryan and his party 
of Concerned Relatives and working press were ex­
pected to arrive at Jonestown, Jim Jones’ voice blared 
from the loudspeakers in the compound: “If you mess 
up, you will get the severest punishment!” The children, 
as well as everyone else, knew that the big man with 
dark glasses was not fooling. To varying degrees they 
understood all too well the potential horror that awaited 
them in what was called “life in an experimental com­
munity,” but was in reality a brutal and sadistic concen­
tration camp.

Five-year-old Tracy Arterberry was punished for be­
ing restless in class. Blindfolded at night and taken to a 
well approximately one-quarter of a mile from the main 
pavilion, she was told that monsters and snakes were 
waiting for her at the 14-foot well. As she approached the 
area, a slimy rope—a “snake”—was placed on her bare 
shoulders, while adults, hidden nearby, made monster 
sounds. Tracy’s screaming was heard back at the camp. It 
continued long after she was put to bed.

Eleven-year-old Nawab Lawrence also had a slight 
discipline problem in class. He, too, was taken to the 
well, a rope was placed under his arms, and he was 
thrown in. Adult “monsters” in the well pulled and 
yanked at his arms, legs, and head as he violently- 
splashed and screamed in terror. One People’s Temple 
member recalled:

You could hear the child screaming all the way there and all 
the way back, “I’m sorry, I’m sorry, Father! I’m sorry, 
Father!” And if he didn’t scream loud enough how sorry he 
was, then Jones would send the child back down.
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Michele Brady, twelve, a child under a California state 
guardianship, had a history of mental instability and was 
often abused because she couldn’t control her actions at 
the camp. Michele was put in a plywood box 3 feet wide, 
6 feet long, and 4 feet high, with two fender holes that 
admitted air but no light. Kept there for weeks with 
nothing but a can for toilet, she was taunted constantly 
by passersby.

Tommy Bogue and Jerry Wilson, both seventeen, 
were beaten for minor reasons such as resting at work 
without permission and disagreeing on seed yield and 
amounts of fertilizer to be used on the crops. Wilson had 
his teeth knocked out during a public beating. Bogue 
was subjected to “stretching” by four security guards, 
each of whom grabbed a limb and pulled it until he was 
unconscious; his father feared he would die.

Of the above, only Tommy Bogue survived, though he 
was wounded at the airstrip when Congressman Ryan 
and the others were killed. According to the Bogue 
family, and confirmed by members of the Jonestown 
basketball team who escaped the mass murders/suicides, 
other forms of punishment for both adults and children 
included:

• Digging a 9 by 9 by 9-foot hole and filling it up again, 
which took around thirty hours, unless it rained, 
when it took longer, because water had to be bailed 
to prevent mud slides and drowning.

• Confinement in the cellar, which was 90 feet long, 
12 feet wide, and 10 to 12 feet deep.

• Hard labor, called “public service,” for people six 
years old and up. They were confined to cottage #11, 
crowded like cattle in an area with almost no open 
floor space. Later, observers on the scene dubbed it 
“slave ship.”
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• Beatings by security guards and other high-ranking 
members, including Jones’ own son, Steven, while 
Jones sat in his throne chair, supervising and encour­
aging the assaulters.

There was little to eat and little time to sleep in 
Jonestown. The workday began at 7 A.M. and lasted 
till 6 P.M. There was a one-hour lunch break, much of 
which was spent standing in line for rice soup, gravy, 
and greens. One survivor recalled, “Since complaints 
about the food were dealt with severely, little was 
said about the maggots in the rice. Either you picked 
them out while sitting in the light, or, if you were 
too weary from long work in the fields, you just ate 
them.” Jones, however, dined on eggs, chicken, pork, 
canned fruits, vegetables, soda, cake, and candy, and 
drank cognac. (Once a week he would pass out one 
cookie per person, but only to those who had been 
“good"—a practice later stopped during an economy 
drive.) By 7 P.M., the long meetings and public pun­
ishments would commence, and Jones would ha­
rangue far into the night.

The realities of People’s Temple were very different 
from its pretentious propaganda. During the mid-1970s, 
People’s Temple Choir buses roamed the country. Many 
newspapers recorded the smiling faces and good works 
of the children. ^.Washington Post editorial commented:

The hands-down winners of anybody’s tourists-of-the-year 
award have got to be the 660 wonderful members of the 
People’s Temple Christian Church of Redwood Valley, 
California, who bend over backwards to leave every place 
they visit more attractive than when they arrived. Like 
thousands of other tourists, they went calling on the U.S. 
Capitol the other day; but unlike others who tramp 
through our town spreading litter helter-skelter, this 
spirited group of travelers fanned out from their 13 
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buses and spent an hour cleaning up the grounds. . , . 
The church . . . has already won friends in dozens of 
cities since its tour left Redwood Valley August 8, and 
still more areas will benefit by the members’ stopoffs on 
their return trip.

The Post and other newspapers across the country that 
commented favorably on the tour didn’t know that these 
“spirited” children were carried like baggage on the 
thirteen buses, in overhead racks, on the floors, even in 
the luggage compartments, except in the spacious bus 
that housed Jim Jones and his inner circle. The vehicles 
smelled bad since, to make time, they rarely stopped for 
passengers to use restrooms. They had to make do with 
open cans on the buses. As the late former Temple 
member Jeannie Mills recalled in her book, Six Years 
with God, “Toilet paper was rationed out because Jones 
feared we wasted it. One piece for # 1 and two pieces for 
#2.” For a period of time when they did stop at public 
facilities, “counselors were stationed in the toilet stalls 
to hand out paper.”

The traveling took a heavy toll on the children as well 
as on the adults. No one had time to sleep properly on a 
typical weekend, when Temple members would go 
south from their Redwood, California, retreat en masse 
for services in San Francisco and L.A. The buses rolled 
into San Francisco for Saturday-evening services. Imme­
diately after, they traveled all night to Los Angeles, 
arriving by noon on Sunday. After Sunday worship, the 
buses drove north the entire night, arriving back in 
Redwood on Monday at 6:30 A.M., in time for the 
children to catch school buses for another hour-and-a- 
half trip. Ruby Bogner, a teacher at Redwood School, 
recalled that the children were so tired, they would fall 
asleep and sleep right through classes. “I would feel so 
sorry for them,” she said, “that I would take their jackets
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and sweaters and cover their heads and shoulders and 
permit them to get the sleep they needed.”

Once Jones made a record with the title HE’S ABLE— 
People’s Temple Choir, which starts with a lovely, lively 
song, “Welcome,” sung by youngsters of between two 
and seven years old. “He keeps me singing a happy 
song; he keeps me singing it all day long . . .” the song 
goes in part. In fact, the children had to stay in a 
recording studio more than fourteen hours straight, until 
the song was recorded correctly.

Physical abuse of the young was part of the routine at 
People’s Temple. As Jones began to exercise total con­
trol, children were beaten if they failed to call him 
Father or were otherwise disrespectful, or if they talked 
with peers who were not members of People’s Temple. 
Belts were used at first, then were replaced by elm 
switches, which in turn were replaced by the “board of 
education,” a long, hard piece of wood, swung by 250- 
pound Ruby Carroll. According to Grace Stoen, wife of a 
Temple lawyer, and a counselor until her defection in 
1976, the children were faced with punishments that 
escalated in terms of severity:

Mild discipline gave way to making young girls strip almost 
nude in front of the full membership and then forcing them 
to take cold showers or jump into the cold swimming pool at 
the Redwood Valley Church. Unequal boxing matches gave 
way to beatings with paddles, then electric shock, and 
finally something [Jones] called “a blue-eyed monster,” 
which hurt and terrorized the younger ones in a dark­
ened room.

A five-year-old described in incoherent detail his 
experience with Jones’ monster:

. . . them people made me lay down on a big chair, you 
know . . . These cut, these knives that comes down and
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cuts your shirt open and your stomach . . . iny stomach was 
tore open, remember? . . . They cutted your bone open— 
they went al! the way down to your bone. That hurts. They 
had something come out of the blue-eyed monster . . . they 
were going to eat me up. Yeah, that shocks you, you know, 
shaking like this . . .

A monster drawing by one of the children that may 
have been inspired by such an experience was found in 
the San Francisco Temple building.

Jones rarely hit anyone himself. As a rule, he simply 
sat and laughed hysterically as big Kuby Carroll’s 
‘ board of education” delivered between one and two 
hundred strokes to children and adults. However, on one 
occasion Grace Stoen saw Jones “beat a young boy with 
a wet rubber hose so hard, the boy had to have his penis 
cauterized to stop the bleeding.” He once confided to 
Jeannie Mills that it excited him sexually to hear young­
sters crying in pain and that one boy in particular 
aroused him. A few days later, on a small pretext, that 
boy was beaten severely.

In another incident, when a young girl tenderly ap­
proached a shaken friend who has just received 150 
whacks from the “board of education,” Grace Stoen 
overheard this as the girl was reprimanded by Jones: 
“Get the hell away from him. ... I should put acid in 
your cunt.”

By the time the Temple buildings were wired for 
sound and speakers were placed throughout, the night­
mare was total. As late as two or three in the morning, 
youngsters were awakened and taken into “planning 
commission” meetings for beatings. A microphone was 
held to their mouths so that everyone could hear their 
screams, mingled with the laughter of Jim Jones.

Perhaps the most frightening aspect of this abuse is 
that much of it was done legally and the rest covered up
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by Jones’ extensive political influence. Parents or guard­
ians of children under eighteen were forced to sign a 
notarized release, prepared by Temple lawyers, that 
gave Jones legal permission to punish and terrorize their 
children or wards.

On October 6, 1975, a Ukiah school counselor, Darwin 
Richardson, filed a child abuse petition against Jack 
Beam, one of Jones’ top lieutenants, for the beating of his 
own son, Anthony, using an extension cord folded in half 
four times, one end taped for a handle, with the loops on 
the other end cut and the insulation peeled back to leave 
the wires bare. The Richardson report was filed at 9:30 
A.M., but because Jones had Temple members placed in 
jobs in the human services departments of the county, 
within four hours he had called everyone concerned 
with the issue and had the report killed.

Jim Jones, with his political influence, flouted with 
impunity the California Child Abuse Law, Title 22, 
which states, “. . . children cannot be subject to verbal 
or physical abuse, are entitled to the right of religion and 
must be treated with dignity.” But not even this token 
protection was available in Jonestown, where the leader 
was the law and tyranny flourished.

Before departing for Guyana, all members had to fill 
out the Temple’s Form 10, “Promised Land Work Prefer­
ence.” The forms found after the massacre show that few 
children had any experience or willingness to work in 
construction, agriculture, or other heavy industry. Yet 
roughly 60 percent of the 100 or more people who were 
on continuous hard labor were teen-agers. Also ear­
marked for “public service” were many of the young 
people in school who were bored with the poor educa­
tion and its heavy doses of Soviet propaganda films and 
Communist Chinese booklets, such as Lin Wen Hsuen: A 
Boy Martyr. Those who didn’t work hard enough at
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“public service’ received isolation in wooden boxes, 
an idea of Tom Grubbs, the school principal. Juanita 
Bogue described it this way: “We’d work in tempera­
tures as high as 120 degrees all day with only a ten- 
minute break ... If you stopped to rest and leaned 
on your hoe, the security forces would write down 
the time wasted.' Juanita’s outspoken and indepen­
dent older brother, Tommy, was constantly punished 
by Jones. On one occasion, his legs were “put in 
chains” so that he would be unable to leave the set­
tlement but could still work in the fields. Those who 

^succeeded in getting away from the compound were 
/ almost always caught and heavily drugged.

All incoming and outgoing mail was censored and all 
were told what to write in their letters. Janet Tupper, 
who would soon unwittingly commit suicide, wrote her 
father, Lawrence:

We are as happy as one could possibly be! We saw all the 
dirty old articles in The Progress [a small San Francisco 
newspaper] that you put in, and we didn’t like it. This is a 
beautiful place so just quit bothering us. Sincerely yours 
truly.

At one meal, Juanita Bogue reported, Jones told the 
children that they had just eaten a dead man. Youngsters 
were forced to eat hot peppers and their own vomit, and 
toddlers who soiled their underclothes were made to 
wear the fouled clothing on their heads. Jones raged over 
a little boy’s killing a bug. Once he ordered the collec­
tion and destruction of all the dolls because “a curse was 
put on [his] life.” To prevent the youngsters from con­
stantly running around the compound, he claimed there 
weren’t enough shoes to go around because the “federal 
customs agents broke into a shipment of children’s shoes 
and stole them.” Toddlers were confined to a fenced­
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in dirt playground, where fifty of them played in an 
area 6 by 10 feet. According to one escapee’s account 
in the summer before the massacre:

They’re all sick. All the children have ringworm or some 
kind of little parasite. A lot of them have their hair missing 
in various places and oozing sores on their legs. There is 
very little medication given to them and they mainly use 
cassava powder to put on the sores. It doesn’t do any good.

Jones’ sexual exploitation of his adult followers has 
been documented, but little has been said about the 
sexual abuse of the children of People’s Temple. Ac­
cording to information pieced together from church 
members in San Francisco and Jonestown and from a 
Guyanese official who lived in Mabaruma, a town 
eighty miles northeast of Jonestown, the children 
were subject to constant sexual molestation. In Cali­
fornia, teen-age girls were forced into prostitution to 
pleasure influential persons who Jones felt could en­
hance his political power. “Black-(fe)mailing them” 
was Jones’ ribald label for it. While he usually used 
girls over eighteen years of age, reliable sources have 
corroborated an incident in which he purposely sent 
two fifteen-year-olds to service a prominent Califor­
nian. He later told the man that a mistake had been 
made, and “now [Jones] was having a difficult time 
keeping the girls’ parents in line.”

An adult Temple member with a long history of 
sexually assaulting children was assigned to work with 
the youngsters. Caught raping a ten-year-old boy, the 
man was beaten in front of the Temple’s assembled 
membership, then shipped back to work again with the 
same children.

In San Francisco, Jones raped a fifteen-year-old boy 
and forced him into a homosexual relationship that 
continued until Jones left permanently for Guyana. The 
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youth miraculously escaped going to Jonestown. He still 
lives in the Bay Area but suffers greatly from the trauma 
of the experience, especially since the massacre.

At one point, a Guyanese official heard about the 
sexual goings-on involving children, which sounded so 
bizarre to him that he did not believe what he heard. If 
husbands and wives were caught talking privately, it was 
their children who were punished. In these cases, 
daughters were forced to masturbate in public or to have 
sex with someone they didn’t like before the entire 
Jonestown population, children as well as adults.

At the same time, Jones became increasingly depen­
dent on drugs; more and more paranoid, he had longer, 
more frequent periods of crazed irresponsibility. Con­
cerned ex-Temple members had begun monitoring the 
radio messages between Guyana and church members in 
San Francisco, and noted that large quantities of 
Thorazine were being ordered for the jungle settle­
ment. As Jones’ paranoia and his own dependency on 
drugs reached monstrous proportions, he unleashed 
them on his faithful. Not only had he restrained them 
psychologically and physically, but now, unknown to 
them, he began to give them powerful mind-control­
ling pills. After the deaths, huge quantities of drugs 
were found at Jonestown: xvell over 11,000 doses of 
Thorazine, along with massive amounts of Quaalude, 
Demerol, Valium, and morphine.

According to Dr. C. Leslie Mootoo, chief medical 
examiner of Guyana, there were more drugs in Jones­
town (where the population was never more than 1,000) 
than were needed or could ever be used legally by the 
66,000 inhabitants of Georgetown, the capital of Guyana. 
While the drugs were used primarily to calm down the 
Jonestown residents, they were increasingly employed 
for purposes of punishment, intimidation, and control. In 
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September 1977, they were given to the children of 
Jonestown in what is now believed to be the leader’s first 
serious attempt at carrying out his experiment with mass 
“suicide.’’

Dr. Joyce H. Lowinson, a member of President 
Carter’s Strategy Council on Drug Abuse Prevention, 
told The New York Times that the drugs found at Jones­
town indicated “either there were a lot of psychotic 
patients or they were using it to control people.” Dale 
Parks, a nursing supervisor who left with Congress­
man Ryan, said:

If a person wanted to leave Jonestown or if there was a 
J breach of rules, one was taken to the extended-care unit. It 

was a rehabilitation place where one would be reintegrated 
back into the community. The people were given drugs to 
keep them under control.

Another survivor told about a young teen-ager who 
attempted to escape and was caught. The youth was 
placed in solitary confinement and drugged for about a 
week. When he was let out, his face was completely 
distorted from massive doses of Thorazine and 
Quaalude. Jones, however, told everyone that the boy 
was a good example of what the jungle can do to you.

Charles Touchette, whose wife was totally devoted to 
Jones and would later, as a nurse, dispense the deadly 
cyanide to the youngsters, told this author in Guyana that 
there was a time he talked about leaving and taking his 
large family with him. Then be began to have what he 
thought was a series of small strokes, because he 
couldn’t stay awake for any length of time. After the 
tragedy, Jones’ natural son, Steven, told Touchette that 
his father had ordered that he be drugged. Jones feared 
an exodus of the Touchettes would give rise to an exit 
mentality.
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By the summer of 1978, Jones was so addicted to 
amphetamine that Dr. Carlton Goodlett, his personal 
physican, told Temple lawyer Charles Garry that “Jones 
is literally burning his brains out with drugs.”

A custody battle between Jones and Tim and Grace 
Stoen over their son, John Victor, whom Jones claimed to 
have sired, had been coming to a head. The courts of 
California and Guyana sided with the Stoens and in­
structed Jones to surrender the child, whom he was 
holding in Jonestown. A sworn statement by Deborah 
Blakey, a former high official of the People’s Temple, 
dated June 15, 1978, conveyed the seriousness of the 
situation:

The September 1977 crisis concerning John Stoen reached 
major proportions. The radio messages from Guyana were 
frenzied and hysterical. One morning, Terri J. Buford, 
public relations adviser to Rev. Jones, and myself were 
instructed to place a telephone call to a high-ranking 
Guyanese official who was visiting the United States and 
deliver the following threat. Unless the government of 
Guyana took immediate steps to stall the Guyanese court 
action regarding John Stoen’s custody, the entire popula­
tion of Jonestown would extinguish itself in a mass suicide 
by 5:30 P.M. that day. I was later informed that Temple 
members in Guyana placed similar calls to other Guyanese 
officials. . . . We later received radio communication to the 
effect that the court case had been stalled and that the 
suicide threat was called off.

In fact, Jones had decided to bum the members of his 
church to death in a warehouse. He came so close to 

■ carrying this out that “all of the babies had been given 
small doses of sleeping pills that day so that it would be
easier for them to die.”
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Forced labor, hunger, corporal punishment, humilia­
tion, dnigging, and sexual abuse were insufficient to 
satiate the insane needs of Jones. He now sought the 
ultimate perverse fulfillment. Mass suicide rehearsals 
known as “White Nights” became part of the Jonestown 
routine, and talk of death the daily fare of the children. 
Shortly before the end, Jones conducted a three-day 
marathon of brainwashing and propaganda. He asked 
rhetorically, “Would you kill your child?” answering 
himself, “You would if you loved him enough.” Then he 
asked, “How would you kill your child?” He was 
pleased by the assortment of answers, some of which 
were extremely violent, but said, “Well, I wouldn’t kill 
them that way. I would do it gently, with a sedative. Just 
put them to sleep.”

On another occasion, Jones again asked how they 
should kill their children. According to a survivor, Mi­
chael Touchette, someone gave a long, bloody, historical 
account of how one group did it by cutting off heads. A 
morbid discussion ensued, detailing a mass suicide for 
the adults “after they had cut off the heads of all the 
children.” That night most of the children couldn’t sleep 
for fear of finding in the morning that their heads had 
been cut off. The next day a delegation of older youths 
went to Jones, told him how upset the younger children 
were, and asked if they, too, couldn’t be poisoned rather 
than decapitated. Jones smiled and said that Dr. Larry 
Schacht, the Jonestown physician, was looking into that 
possibility for everyone.

One teen-ager, still very upset, summed it up later in 
the day when he said to Juanita Bogue, “Jones only 
wants to make a name for himself. He doesn’t give a shit 
about us. He only wants to use us to get into history'.”



"If parents gwve up their child in 
guardianship to another person, and then 
they were to defect front the church, they 

wouldn't be able to get their child back 
without a big legal hassle; and, of course, 

with the amount of money Jim had and the 
attorneys he had, a young mother would feel 

absolutely helpless trying to fight it. . . .

"Jim felt it was so important to get the legal 
guardianships for children . . . in case he 

ever wanted to take them down to 
Jonestown, he’d be able to get the papers he 

needed.”

From an interview with Jeannie Mills, author of 
Six Years with God

2. Manipulation of 
Court Guardianships 
and Children's Lives

The deaths of 913 people of Jonestown are often de­
scribed as “mass suicide,” especially in governmental 
circles. However, more than one-quarter of the 
settlement’s population were children ranging from in­
fants bom in Guyana to those at the age of consent. 
Legally, under English law, a child cannot consent to 

suicide,” said Cecil A. Roberts, deputy police commis­
sioner of Guyana, a former British colony; “. . . all 276 
were murdered.”

To begin with, the children were not in Jonestown by 
educated choice. In the first major exodus from the

20
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United States in the late spring and early summer of 
1977, they were abruptly put on buses and transported to 
airports on the East Coast. They had no prior knowledge 
of arrangements. They all thought they were going off on 
a vacation. Instead, they became prisoners and eventual 
fatalities. But many would not have died if they had not 
been in the legal custody of Jim Jones under court- 
approved guardianships.

Jones brilliantly manipulated the law and the courts to 
gain control over the children of People’s Temple, 
making it virtually impossible for them or their parents 
to break away. Careful research had convinced him that 
legal guardianships would provide the leverage he 
needed to keep children and adults in check. They 
would also provide a steady flow of cash to the church 
coffers. The plan was so successful that even after the 
tragedy, the investigation by the General Accounting 
Office of the Congress concluded that “Jones broke no 
laws in doing what he did.”

Forty-five sets of court-approved guardianship papers, 
representing fifty-six young wards, were found in the 
files of People’s Temple on Geary Street in San Fran­
cisco. (More are believed to exist, but the GAO was 
unable to confirm this during investigations because 
“California court officials were not very cooperative on 
the question.”) These guardianships were processed 
through the superior courts—twenty-eight in the county 
of San Francisco, thirteen in Los Angeles County, ten in 
Mendocino County, four in Contra Costa County, and 
one in Alameda County—where unsupervised proce­
dure permitted Jones to snare the children from their 
natural parents.

Children under California court guardianships who 
were taken to Guyana illegally are listed below by 
counties:
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NAME COURT CASE NO. COUNTY COURT

Brown, Delaine Y. 47251 Contra Costa
Brown, Amanda D. 47251 Contra Costa
Brown, Jerross K. 47251 Contra Costa

Lopez, Vincent, Jr. 204 108 7 Alameda

Dover, Vicky P 602822 Los Angeles
Green, Anita 608616 Los Angeles
LaMothe, Ramona ?? Los Angeles
Mitchell, Cheryl P 597989 Los Angeles
Reed, Kenneth P 597989 Los Angeles
Sellers, Marvin P 615645 Los Angeles
Wilson, Jerry P 618615 Los Angeles
Wright, Stanley 618614 Los Angeles

Anderson, Jerome ?? Mendocino
Brady, Michele 15515 Mendocino
Brady, Georgiann 15515 Mendocino
Buckley, Christopher 16320 Mendocino
Buckley, Dorothy 15711 Mendocino
Gardner, John Lawrence 14638 Mendocino
Runnels, Julie Ann 15959 Mendocino
Truss, Cornelius Lee 16288 Mendocino

Buckley, Frances E. 210463 San Francisco
Buckley, Odesta 210463 San Francisco
Campbell, Ronald 213013 San Francisco
Carroll, Randall E. 213015 San Francisco
Carroll, Rondell J. 213015 San Francisco
Cordell, Mark N. 212038 San Francisco
Cordell, Natasha LaNa 215678 San Francisco
Dames, Ollie II 213017 San Francisco
Dames, Searcy 213017 San Francisco
Douglas, Joyce 212150 San Francisco
Duckett, Ronald 213020 San Francisco
Harrell, Joanette B. 212675 San Francisco
Lawrence, Jameel 207312 San Francisco
Lawrence, Nawab 208849 San Francisco
Smith, Kelin K. 122674 San Francisco
Stone, Tracy 213018 San Francisco
Touchette, Michelle E. 213012 San Francsico
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Tim Stoen, who helped draft the guardianship papers 
in the early years, stated that not only did Jones want to 
break up the family unit quickly, he also wanted the 
children to “grow up with those [of us] who were more 
committed and loyal to him.” No one was exempt from 
this divide-and-conquer approach. Even such members 
as the Touchette and Cordell families, who loyally 
followed the minister from his early days in Indiana, 
were each forced to sign over a child in guardianship to 
other members of the Temple. In turn, Jones made both 
Joyce Touchette and Barbara Cordell guardians of other 
children.

J. R. Purifoy, a contractor and member of People’s 
Temple for four years, recalled how Jones tried for 
several years to get him and his wife to sign guardianship 
papers on their children, but they stood firm. Later, 
however, and without any legal sanction, Jones reso­
lutely had the children removed from their home any­
way, admitting to Purifoy that this was a way of keeping 
people faithful to the cause: “If they [the parents] want 
to keep their children safe, they won’t create any prob­
lems for us.”

From the start, Jones concentrated on securing foster 
care children, and this strategy paid off. The church 
began to realize increasing profits from the monthly 
allocations received by foster care parents who, respond­
ing to their charismatic leader’s public praise of them, 
handed over more and more money for church offerings 
and spent less and less on their wards. Later, when 
communal living quarters were set up for the children, 
the child-allowance checks were simply turned over to 
the Temple in toto.

Mendocino County welfare director Dennis Denny 
estimated that Jones had as many as 150 foster care 
children over a period of seven or eight years.
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We finally told the Temple: “Either get the foster homes 
licensed or get them out of Mendocino County.” They 
circumvented that by securing guardianships on some of 
the children. When you are a parent or a guardian, you don’t 
have to be licensed in California to care for children. 
Consequently, there would be no supervision ... no one 
investigating a damned thing except the guardianship in 
the court.

Another file found in the San Francisco People’s 
Temple revealed that its lawyers had closely studied 
even' conceivable statute dealing with marriage, di­
vorce, foster care, adoption, dependent and neglected 
children, juvenile delinquency, and court guardianships 
in the state. They wanted to be certain that there would 
be little cause for scrutiny or supervision from officials 
who would be making life-affecting decisions on the 
children. Face-to-face contact with authorities encour­
aged more questions, and for that reason, special priority 
was given to avoiding court appearances for guardian­
ships—as witnessed in the following note from lawyer 
Eugene Chaikin to his secretary, June Crym, and Tim 
Stoen on November 21, 1975:

Los Angeles

The judge determines if appearance is required; if papers 
are stamped JTD, then appearance would be necessary. 
But, can call two days before hearing and the clerk will tell 
if the recommendation is for approval—in which case no 
appearance would be required.

Contra Costa

Appearance is usually not necessary', if all the particulars 
are given and are in order. Request on the transmittal letter 
the date of hearing. Ten days’ notice is required. After date 
is set, send up the order for termination and state that 
attorney does not intend to appear unless requested by
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Court. If no request to appear is sent, then would not have 
to be there, but should check with probate clerk to be sure. 
Alameda

Would have to ask Alameda County Counsel, Chuck Har­
rington, 874-7272; sometimes “he’s a nice guy” according 
to the public defender’s office.

Here is another example of evading a courtroom ap­
pearance.

I, Denise Holmes, declare:
I am the mother of Ramona LaMothe, who was bom on the 
29th day of July, 1970.
At the time of her birth, I was not married. Her father is 
Kenneth LaMothe.
I am not well, physically or mentally, sufficiently to 
care for this child. I wish the child to be cared for by 
Cleave and Paulette Jackson of 1119 Dora Street, Ukiah, 
California, who have agreed to do so. I ask the court to 
appoint Cleave and Paulette Jackson the guardians of the 
child. I hereby waive notice of the hearing on the peti­
tion for guardianship.
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true 
and correct.
Dated at Camarillo, California, on June 21, 1973.

This signed and witnessed waiver at least gave the 
appearance (il legality, but others bore only the mother’s 
signature and were simply blank, signed papers for the 
mass production of guardianships. Jeannie Mills re­
ported, “It was common for parents to be asked to sign a 
battery of forms—from confessions of abuse and neglect, 
of abnormal sex acts and subversion and sabotage, to 
legal documents giving up all claims to real estate, bank 
accounts, savings, inheritances, and even their own 
children.”

The reasons for guardianships that Temple lawyers 
gave the judges and courts of California were both varied 
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and creative. A close look at the files in their entirety 
revealed obvious lies and contradictions. Some petitions 
claimed medical needs; others mentioned a desire for 
better education, a better neighborhood, a rural setting, 
more family stability, and a father figure. Children living 
in Los Angeles needed “out of town” medical attention 
in San Francisco, while others living with parents in San 
Francisco “had to get special treatment in Los Angeles.”

Following is a portion of a typical guardianship peti­
tion of People’s Temple:

Guardianship of the Person of, Estate of, RONALD 
CAMPBELL, a Minor, No. 213013, superior court of 
THE STATE OF CALIFORNLA FOR THE CITY AND COUNTY 
OF SAN FRANCISCO.
.............. It is necessary and convenient that a guardian or 
guardians be appointed for the person of said minor for the 
following reasons: The mother of the child wishes him to 
live in a structured, loving home with mother-father im­
ages, which she is unable to provide at this time and which 
petitioners are willing and able to provide. Petitioners and 
mother of the minor are friends, visit each other often, and 
it is mutually agreeable for the petitioners to care for said 
minor.

In a similar fashion, Kelin Kirtas Smith was taken from 
his parents, Gladys and David, three brothers, and two 
sisters and placed under the guardianship of Bob and 
Joyce Houston fora “more structured home life.” (Ironi­
cally, his guardian, Bob, was rarely home. He held down 
two jobs and was totally involved in Temple matters— 
until his defection and subsequent mysterious death.) In 
an effort to head off any inquiries from an interested and 
puzzled aunt of the boy s, Gene Chaikin composed a 
propitiating letter for Joyce Houston to send to the 
woman:
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... to satisfy the State legal requirements, we went to 
court to seek guardianship of Kirtas so the school authori­
ties would be satisfied we are legally entitled to have him 
in our home. David and Gladys come visit almost every 
week and it’s almost as if they lived with us. The enclosed 
notice is sent to you in accordance with court regulations. 
You are not required to appear at the hearing. Please be 
assured guardianship is nothing like an adoption; it is a 
temporary action to set up a legal parental situation while 
the child is not living with the parent.

Many children were not only taken from their parents 
but also separated from brothers and sisters. Little Chris­
topher Buckley’s sister, Dorothy Helen, was placed with 
the Janero family because “she needed a father figure,” 
while the Mendocino County courts handed the boy 
over to Jones’ 300-pound henchman and bodyguard, Jim 
McElvane: “Minor needs a father image and the educa­
tional environment which petitioner [mother] cannot 
offer because of long hours of work in the hospital.” A 
few months after McElvane became Chris’ legal guard­
ian, he personally supervised the slaughter of more than 
thirty dogs that Jones had given shelter to in Redwood 
Valley—the dogs having been a successful publicity 
gimmick that Jones no longer felt he could afford.

In almost every instance of guardianship placement, 
relatives of the child expressed interest and concern for 
his or her sudden withdrawal from the family. Such was 
the case with fourteen-year-old Cornelius Lee Truss. 
Ignoring the fact that his immediate family consisted of 
both parents, two grandfathers, one grandmother, three 
uncles, and two aunts, the courts again nodded their 
approval, and Cornelius was thrown into Jim Jones’ 
guardianship mill.

For the most part, the parents of People’s Temple 
caused no problems. Among them was Mrs. Alta Sellers, 
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who listened spellbound one Sunday afternoon in 
People’s Temple, Los Angeles, as Jones dramatically 
meditated. She was, in her own words, “psyched out” 
when the minister’s voice suddenly boomed: “Marvin 
Sellers, come to Redwood Valley for safety and work!” 
Within an hour Mrs. Sellers was seated in a room of the 
church with lawyer Gene Chaikin and a silent Jones, 
signing away her twelve-year-old son, Marvin, under a 
state guardianship.

Marvin’s guardians were Richard and Clare Janero, 
church members and caretakers of Happy Acres, a state- 
licensed home for the mentally retarded in Redwood 
Valley, outside San Francisco. The Janeros remitted all 
their state receipts and other profits to Jones, who, in 
turn, supplied Happy Acres with free child labor.

Marvin Sellers was far from retarded himself. He was 
an excellent student and dreamed of becoming a doctor. 
His intelligence ultimately saved his mother’s life. The 
boy was sent to Jonestown without his mother and 
without her knowledge, a hostage tactic that Jones used 
to lure parents to Guyana. But Marvin quickly discov­
ered the truth about the jungle settlement. Two weeks 
before the November 18 massacre, he learned his mother 
intended to follow him there and he wrote her three 
letters, including one that was addressed to her in care of 
an uncle who was a retired Navy man.

Mrs. Sellers was particularly puzzled by the word 
flies written at the bottom of the letter. But it didn’t 

puzzle the uncle, who realized the boy was using some 
Navy terminology’ he had taught him. “Flies,” he told his 
sister-in-law, “that’s a code. It’s a warning. It’s telling 
you, ‘Warning! Danger! Stay where you are!’” Mrs. 
Sellers canceled her travel plans. Marvin Sellers was 
killed with cyanide in the same building where he 
had written the letters.
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Jones knew that the whole guardianship strategy was 
vulnerable, and for that reason, any inquiries from inter­
ested persons were tenaciously stonewalled. Such was 
the case involving five-year-old Melita Nicole Gibson, 
whose guardianship gave People’s Temple at least 
$2,480 annually (not including her father’s support 
checks). On April 12, and again on June 7, 1976, Melita’s 
father, Leroy Gibson, wrote to Chaikin from Gram­
bling, Louisiana:

I have received the petition of Exie Elleby for guardianship 
and estate of MELITA NICOLE GIBSON, a Minor. Kindly 
send to the above address a copy of the final petition decree 
stating the action of the court concerning the guardianship.

Still another letter, dated August 20, 1976, continued to 
request a copy of the legal guardianship:

. . . thank you for your letter of August 13, 1976. I would 
appreciate very much if you could send the copy of the 
guardianship order on or before August 31, 1976, due to the 
fact that I am still sending child-support payments to my ex- 
wife for Melita and was unaware where the child was.

This letter prompted an interoffice memo from Chaikin’s 
secretary:

Jean Gibson’s baby daughter, Melita, is taken care of by 
Exie Elleby in Los Angeles, a senior citizen, who has 
guardianship of the child. When we did the guardianship, 
we served notice on the father of the child in Louisiana, 
who wrote back and said he wanted a copy of the final 
order. We figure he wants it so he can use it to stop sending 
support payments. Guardianship does not absolve him of 
support responsibility, but he may try. Gene wanted sev­
eral opinions on whether we should send him the order.

Needless to say, Leroy Gibson never received the final 
decree.
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Defections of adults from People’s Temple were given 
swift and decisive action. The errant members were 
harassed, discredited, threatened, and, in some cases, 
physically harmed. Even suspicious deaths were re­
ported. But the major thrust in dealing with restive 
members was to make certain that their children re­
mained under direct jurisdiction of Jim Jones, regardless 
of whether they were natural children or under guard­
ianship.

Al and Deanna Mertle (alias Al and Jeannie Mills) 
were faithful, dedicated participants: Al was the church’s 
photographer and Deanna was publications director. 
They were loving and caring people whose home be­
came a shelter of warmth and security for many young 
people, especially children who were attached to the 
Temple. Among the latter were Patricia and Paul An­
thony Petitt, whom the Superior Court of California 
placed under guardianship of Deanna, and Searcy, Ollie, 
and Najah Dames.

After the Mertles left the church, Jones had Anita 
Petitt, Patricia and Paul’s mother, petition the court to 
remove Deanna as legal guardian of her children for the 
following reason:

. . . said guardian has failed, neglected, and refused, and 
continues to fail, neglect, and refuse, to provide for the 
needs of said minors, maintain or obtain appropriate living 
conditions for said minors, obtain medical treatment for 
said wards, or in any manner perform her duties as the 
guardian of said wards.

The petition, filed by Chaikin, asked the court to appoint 
Juanita Harris and Carolyn Looman as the legal guard­
ians because there was still “continuing need for guard­
ianship.”

On February 18, 1976, a notice of the hearing on Court 
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Order No. 207576, for the “removal of guardian for 
cause,” was said to have been mailed to Deanna, but 
Mrs. Mertle never received it and was unaware of the 
matter until April 13, 1976, when two hand-picked 
guardians took over the children. For the next two years, 
until the disaster in Guyana, Patricia and Paul Anthony 
Petitt lived in the San Francisco church of People’s 
Temple, where, according to interviews with them, they 
were never taught simple numbers or colors and could 
not read. They were constantly threatened with the 
dreaded “blue-eyed monster” if they acted up or got into 
trouble. But they survived.

Searcy, Ollie, and Najah Dames were not so lucky. 
After the Mertles were forced to leave them at the 
Temple, they were placed under the guardianship of 
Ronald James. When little Searcy saw Deanna leaving 
the church for the last time, he pleaded, “We don’t 
like it here, Mommy. Please let us move back with 
you!” Less than a year later, the boy was raped by a 
thirty-year-old man, then forced to watch as a guard 
beat the man’s penis till it bled. Searcy, Ollie, and 
Najah, who never knew their real father—he died 
when they were still infants—went to Guyana and 
perished.

One of the most enlightening files deals with Michele 
Margaret Brady and her sister, Georgiann. The Bradys’ 
natural father, George Brady, a serviceman stationed at 
Fort Belvoir, Virginia, had lost track of the children for 
several years. He believed they were with their mother, 
whom he had been unable to contact. He had no infor­
mation about or understanding of why the children had 
been placed in a guardianship situation. Nor did he 
know his wife or children were in Guyana until his 
brother informed him ol their death.

The Brady guardianship brought panic to People’s 
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Temple when its lawyers forgot to account, fraudulently, 
for the $2,844 they had misused from the government- 
supported estates of the two children. According to 
William S. Johnstone, Jr., a Pasadena, California, lawyer 
an expert on guardian- and conservatorships, “The only 
way in which guardians are accountable is a mandatory 
annual financial statement of expenses to the court, but 
no expenditure receipts are necessary.’’

In late December 1977, June Crym opened Chaikin’s 
mail to find a court order from Judge Author B. Broad­
dus:

In the matter of the guardianship of the Persons and Estate 
of Michele Brady, Georgiann Brady, minors . . . this 
guardianship having come on for review because no annual 
account has been filed, the court notes that there was a 
purported substitution of attorneys which has not been and 
is not approved by the court. The attorney for the guardian­
ship is ordered to prepare and file an accounting forthwith. 
Pending approval of the accounting, all powers of the 
guardians of the minors are suspended and the attorney, 
Eugene Chaikin, is directed to notify parties paying funds 
to the guardians or holding guardianship funds.

Cniii immediately typed the following long, but impor­
tant, memo to the high officials of People’s Temple:

Attached is an order issued by Judge Broaddus this week 
against the guardianship of Michele and Georgiann Brady; 
received today in mail.

Maureen Fitch and Debbie Schroeder are guardians of the 
persons and estate of Michele and Georgiann. The estate 
of the children is social security they receive because their 
parents are dead.

Every year we have had to file an “annual accounting” with 
the Ukiah court explaining how the guardians spent the 
money of the children: the social security benefits, and afdc 
if any was received.
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Before Chaikin left, we talked a lot about what to do with 
guardianships that have estates that require yearly account­
ings and the children are overseas. We ended up hoping 
that if we filed substitutions of attorneys getting Chaikin off 
the record as attorney and placing the guardians in as 
attorneys for themselves, whatever happened would not 
come back to Chaikin. However, we were never sure what 
would happen when we reached the stage of an accounting 
being due and how the court would react.
In this case, I filed the substitution of attorneys to get 
Chaikin off record but never got an endorsed copy back 
from the court; later I noticed that I had forgotten to type in 
Maureen’s address under her name, which is required on 
substitutions of attorneys so that once the attorney is 
removed from the court record, the court has an address for 
the guardian. This may be the reason that the court decided 
not to approve the substitution of attorneys, as it states in 
the attached order. The hearing for the accounting was 
scheduled by the Ukiah court for Dec. 9; we received 
notice last week, too late, so I called the judge’s office and 
continued it to Jan. 6. The judge’s secretary confirmed that 
it was continued to Jan. 6 so I assumed there was nothing 
more required until we filed the accounting. But appar­
ently, the judge heard the case anyway and saw that the 
accounting was not filed, and issued this order.

However, the most important thing about this order is that

1. all powers of the guardians of the minors are sus­
pended pending approval of the accounting (this 
means they are not considered guardians at this time 
until an accounting is approved by the court);

2. the attorney, Chaikin, is directed to notify parties 
paying funds to the guardians (social security adminis­
tration) of this suspension;

3. the accounting must be filed with Chaikin as attorney 
of record, and with this minute order, I’m sure they 
will require a court appearance and direct the attorney 
to explain why an accounting has not been filed, etc. 
Might ask where are the guardians, children, etc.
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Finally, the children and the guardians are out of state. 
There is no court permission in this case for the children 
and the guardians to be out of the state. Debbie Schroeder 
obviously can’t return.

We better ask Garry or Pat about this and see if we can get 
an attorney in his firm to appear in Ukiah for the account­
ing, which is now set for January 13, 1978. Maybe Garry 
could do some fast talking over the phone with Judge to 
avoid a court appearance.

The accounting was typed up several months ago and 
returned from Guyana signed by Maureen, so it can be 
filed. The figures are just estimates, based on incomplete 
records as Robin’s records only go back 6 months and 
Guyana said they had nothing. See attached. Needs 
Chaikin’s signature.

The Temple’s written strategy—to fraudulently report 
how the public hinds were spent, and to again avoid a 
direct confrontation by saying that Chaikin, the mother, 
and the children were out of the country—worked. A few 
weeks later, an “Order Approving Guardians’ Fourth 
Annual Account and Report” was endorsed and filed 
with the Mendocino County Clerk:

MAUREEN FITCH and DEBBIE SCHROEDER, as 
guardians of the above-named wards, having heretofore 
filed with the Clerk of the Court their fourth annual account 
and report from July 1976 to August 1977, and the matter 
coming on regularly for hearing this day, and it appearing to 
the Court that due and legal notice of the hearing has been 
given in all respects as required by law, and no one 
appearing to object to or contest the account, the Court, 
after hearing the evidence, approves the notice given and 
finds the account and report to be true and correct. IT IS 
ORDERED that the fourth annual account and report of the 
guardians be, and the same is hereby, approved, allowed, 
and settled in all respects as set forth therein, and all acts of 
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the guardians as shown and set forth in the fourth annual 
account and report, including payment by the guardians of 
each and all of the items of disbursement as shown therein, 
are hereby specifically approved.

Following is the third annual account of the guardian­
ship and estate of nine-year-old Michele and ten-year- 
old Georgiann Brady—Eugene Chaikin’s monthly break­
down of expenses against the children’s annual estate of 
$2,844 ($1,464 in Social Security benefits plus $1,380 
AFDC benefits). The fourth annual account, as well as 
the entries for other months, is almost identical:

DISBURSEMENTS: JULY 1975

ITEM AMOUNT

Food 
Allowance 
Vitamins 
Clothing 
Entertainment

$ 134.00
20.00
23.00
40.00
20.00

237.00
x 12 months

$2844.00 annual expenses

“Fraudulent” is how Grace Stoen described all the 
guardianship accounts:

Most of the food was free, such as day-old doughnuts and 
bread, with government-surplus peanut butter, and pow­
dered milk to wash it down. Clothing was Salvation Army 
and Goodwill castoffs. Any entertainment, which was sel­
dom, was free. Twenty-three dollars a month for vitamins 
was inflated, and the twenty dollars listed for an allowance 
was simply not accurate.

However, since expenditure receipts were not required, 
the author was free to write his own story.
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Michaeleen Brady joined her children, Michele and 
Georgiann, late in 1977 in Guyana, where she died with 
them. Her $57,(XX) estate disappeared into the church’s 
bank accounts. This was not unusual: Interviews with 
relatives have revealed a definite pattern. Any assets a 
guardianship child may have had—from Julie Ann 
Runnels’ $495 to Christine Talley’s trust fund of be­
tween $30,(XX) and $60,000—vanished into the vast 
holdings of People’s Temple.

Although there are varied legal opinions among Cali­
fornia experts on just how far the state should go to 
protect its young wards, the nationally prominent Legal 
Services for Children, Inc., based in San Francisco, feels 
that the state and/or the courts have a legal and moral 
obligation to protect youngsters placed within their 
governmental system: First, if the guardian is a nonrela­
tive, the Department of Health must investigate the 
home to determine if it is suitable. Second, the child 
must be assigned a social worker to ascertain if he or she 
is being cared for properly. There is no record that this 
was ever done with People’s Temple guardianships. The 
courts simply gave total control of children to the adults 
of People’s Temple who were not their natural parents. 
One social worker in San Francisco said, “Jones’ politi­
cal power was well known, and we knew not to hassle 
him or else our jobs would be on the line. Therefore, we 
didn’t check on the children within People’s Temple. It 
was too much of a political time bomb!” Finally, while 
wards may leave the state for vacations, they cannot 
change their residence. Yet thirty-five children were 
taken out of state permanently and the state did nothing, 
even when relatives begged for investigations and help.

Rhonda Kloempken, chairwoman of the California 
State Foster Care Association, stated that “if out of the 
tragedy we could have one reform, namely, curbing the 
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power of judges to make direct placements . . . the 
death of those poor children will not be in vain.”

Young Philip Lacy took the law and reform into his 
own hands. After spending six years under guardianship 
in People’s Temple, first with Richard Cordell and then 
with Eugene Chaikin, Lacy tired of the beatings, the lack 
of freedom, and the threat of being sent to the jungle in 
Guyana. In violation of the ruling of the Superior Court 
of California in Mendocino County, Phil walked out of 
People’s Temple and went to his father’s apartment. 
“There,” he said, “I loaded a gun and waited for Temple 
members to come and get me.” They never came. Phil 
went on to attend college at San Luis Obispo. He was 
lucky. He lived.



"They were my family, I loved them, and I 
knew I would never see them again if I 

would live through this experience. And my 
thirteen-year-old brother’s eyes . . . the way 

he would look at me, like he was looking 
away from me and talking to my mother 

and it was curious. . . . Here is his big 
brother that he hasn’t really had the chance 

to know, here is his big brother that he 
loves, and he is showing it in little ways 

. . . it was those eyes that woke me up for a 
long time after Jonestown. And it's those 
eyes that keep me from going to sleep at 

night . . . 1 was thinking that he was 
thirteen years old and he hadn't really had a 

chance to live his own life or to see what 
life’s all about, and I thought about the 

other children that were there . . . and how 
Jones manipulated the children to get the 

parents to stay."

Jim Cobb, ex-Temple member

3. Jim Jones Versus
the Family

As members of the human species, we acquire both our 
biological genes and our identity from our parents, 
grandparents, great-grandparents, and more distant an­
cestors who braved the elements of life and extended the 
wellspring to us, the future generations. The strength of 
Family ties cannot be denied. We have only to observe 
the crowded airports, train stations, bus terminals, and 
highways at holiday times for affirmation that the family 
is a fundamental essence of life. A solid family produces 
stable individuals with strong ideals and loyalties based 
on a love that springs from the depths of creation. It is 
the bond of a nation. At the same time, the family 
38
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structure is not immune to influences that can often 
shake it to its core. Its real strengths make it vulnerable 
in times of duress for the entire unit or for individual 
members. It is this vulnerability upon which Jim Jones 
preyed.

The families of People’s Temple were, for the most 
part, composed of innocent people who entered the 
church out of a sincere need to relate to their fellow 
human beings and to believe in something that would 
give their lives a greater sense of purpose. Jones lured 
them through a mixture of old-time religious fervor and a 
pure socialistic cause. The neophytes soon found them­
selves trapped in the well-devised plan of a madman.
* The brilliant but evil use of children as hostages paved 
the way for Jones to amass millions of dollars, immeasur­
able political influence, and total power to exploit, ter­
rorize, and control the rest of his followers. But he knew 
that before he could use the children effectively, he had 
to destroy the family unit.

In Jones’ private quarters of'the San Francisco Tem­
ple was a book on deprogramming young cult members: 
Let Our Children Go! by Ted Patrick. The following 
passage was darkly underscored, and it epitomizes the 
plight of the children in People’s Temple:

Once they get a victim, they consciously and deliberately 
set about to destroy every normal pattern of living the 
victim has known; he is separated from his friends, he is 
turned against his family ... he is literally robbed of 
whatever financial assets he may possess, and his parents 
are, as a matter of course, blackmailed into contributing 
large sums of money to the cult merely in order to be 
occasionally permitted to see their child.

Jones did not precipitately turn families against them­
selves. Instead, he implemented a deliberate strategy, 
subtly and effectively, to achieve his desired end. Tern- 
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pie members found themselves kept increasingly busy, 
with fewer opportunities for relaxation and sleep, and 
this condition eventually produced a state of mental 
confusion. They were totally unaware that they were 
being brainwashed by Jones’ adaptation of “the book" 
on mind control. Soon they were being fed a steady diet 
of antifamily doctrine.

Al and Jeannie Mills have related how, after some very 
intense and long, exhaustive hours of work, they looked 
forward to spending Thanksgiving with Al’s parents. 
They sent a note to the Temple’s “planning commis­
sion" requesting permission for the visit, and Jones 
responded:

It’s time for you to cut your family ties. This church is your 
family now. Blood ties are dangerous because they prevent 
people from being totally dedicated to the Cause.

The Millses obeyed. Shortly thereafter, they were further 
instructed on the rules of family relationships by Jack 
Beam and Linda Sharon Amos, top officials of the Tem­
ple. Jack Beam said:

Families are a part of the enemy system. They do not love 
you. If you were in trouble, only Jim and his church family 
would be there to help you. Your family would turn their 
backs on you if you needed something that might cause 
them inconvenience. They don’t understand this Cause, 
and therefore you cannot trust them.

Linda Amos, who later, on Jones’ command, slit the 
throats of her three children, then her own, said:

When you have to see your families, you are to go for just 
one purpose. You should make up some sad story to get 
them to give you money or valuables. Ask them for presents 
or clothes or anything you think you can get.

Another defector, Yolanda Crawford, who was in Guy­
ana for several months in 1977, wrote in an affidavit:
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Jones ordered all of us to break our ties with our families. 
He said that our highest and only loyalty should be the 
Cause, and the only reason for staying in touch with our 
families at all was to keep them pacified and to collect 
inheritances when they died off.

Families that joined the church as a unit were quickly 
separated through manipulation and/or slick legal work 
and court action—not to mention the pretense that the 
“socialistic body” or “cause” was much more important 
than the smaller unit, the family. The Purifoys, for 
instance, who had been steadfast in remaining a family, 
were promoted to the planning commission. The day 
their children were taken away followed twenty-four 
hours of intensive brainwashing by Jones’ rhetoric and 
no sleep:

My wife and I were at an all-night meeting and came home 
around 9 A.M. We met our children coming out of the house. 
I don’t think they even knew at the time what was happen­
ing. But when my wife and I got in the house, there was 
someone coming out with the children’s clothes. We asked 
where they were going. And this person said, “Father 
thinks it’s best that the children move into someone else’s 
house.”

From then on, the Purifoys were allowed to see their 
children only one hour every two weeks.

Once Jones had physically separated the family mem­
bers from one another, he and his top staff systematically 
destroyed the family fibers with an assortment of perni­
cious techniques and callous policies. At first he encour­
aged the children to call their parents by their first 
names—then he demanded it. Only Jones and his wife, 
Marceline, could be called Father and Mother. Any 
parent who was not supportive of People’s Temple (Jim 
Cobb’s father, for instance) was threatened and forced to 
leave his own home. Children and parents both were 
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publicly rewarded for spying on each other and report­
ing to Jones any critical thoughts or comments expressed 
against him. Jones would, in turn, inform the parents or 
children what the other had told him, thus driving them 
farther apart.

Family members were forbidden to sit together at 
Temple services. Peer pressure was cultivated and used 
to break down the “chicks”—children with close family 
ties. One child who was in the cult for more than six 
years stated:

We couldn’t have a family together; we had to have other 
people’s families. I called other people Mom and Dad 
because I didn’t have my mom and dad with me. You know, 
it wasn’t a normal childhood!

A Ukiah woman refused to join the Temple when her 
husband did. “Jones wanted my mind, and I wouldn’t 
give it,” she recalled. “He wanted my kids for someone 
else to raise, and I wouldn’t give them up. He said we 
should be willing to die for him, and I’m not dying for 
anyone.” Jones forbade her husband to have sex with her 
and gave him another partner. The marriage disinte­
grated.

Without their children and with Jones providing com­
munal living for more and more members, the adults 
slowly became thoroughly convinced that their eco­
nomic base—their homes—was no longer needed. Daily 
they were told that Jim Jones was their sole supplier of 
spiritual and worldly goods. Once the foundation for that 
rationale had been laid, the homes gradually folded, 
families ceased to function, and everything of value— 
life savings, houses, cars, furniture, jewelry, furs—was 
turned over to the Cause. He even had people turn in 
their engagement and wedding rings.*  Within a few 

* According to Grace Stoen, Jones intended to use the gold from the latter to 
bribe foreign governments in case they moved abroad.
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years, J. R. Purifoy, a building contractor and property 
developer, turned over forty-four pieces of property with a 
net worth of over two million dollars. The records of the 
transfer of property deeds from May 6, 1968, to Septem­
ber 16, 1976, in Mendocino County alone show that 
approximately twenty-three members turned over thirty- 
three private homes and other personal properties to 
People’s Temple at the request of Reverend J. W. Jones.

Early in his ministerial career, Jones subjected his 
own family to indignities and threats that ultimately 
would be shared by all the people he attracted. In 
Indiana, his wife learned of her husband’s sexual indis­
cretions and threatened to leave him. He countered by 
saying he had sex with these people for “religious 
reasons,” but that it “disgusted” him. If she ever left, he 
threatened, he would kill their four children. His own 
children were his first hostages, and the same fear tactics 
that succeeded with his wife would be used many more 
times before threat became reality.

As Jones’ sexual appetite grew, whatever religious 
pretext existed before was now replaced with perverted 
acts of degradation toward a membership whose eco­
nomic base was all but destroyed and whose depen­
dency on its leader was guaranteed. He proclaimed 
himself absolute ruler over all matters of marriage, 
divorce, and childbearing. Recognizing the vital role of 
love and sex in stable family relationships, he banned 
sex, bragging that he was the only one who could really 
satisfy man or woman. At this point, he could even count 
on his wife’s blessing on his so-called generosity and 
sacrifices.

In Six Years with God Jeannie Mills, formerly Deanna 
Mertle, recorded Marceline Jones’ public statement of 
her approval of their arrangement:

It’s true that I have had to share my husband in the past, for 
the Cause. It was always painful for me because I love him 
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very much, and just like everyone else, it’s painful for me to 
see the person I love with someone else. Several years ago, 
Jim asked me for a divorce because I just couldn’t make the 
adjustment to being married to a man who was also married 
to a Cause. At that time I had to do some serious introspec­
tion and decide on my priorities.

I knew 1 didn’t want to lose Jim, so I agreed that I would 
share him with people who needed to relate to the Cause 
on a more personal level. This has been a very difficult 
thing for me to live with, and it’s caused me a lot of 
heartache. However, tonight, as I heard him pour out his 
heart to you, explaining the suffering he goes through when 
he has to use his body to serve the Cause, I realized that I 
have been very selfish.

I want to make a public statement tonight that I am willing 
to share my husband for the Cause, and that I w'on’t resent it 
any longer.

Mills described Jones’ reaction to his wife’s speech as 
“stunned.” He then added: “I hope Marcie’s unexpected 
offer doesn’t cause a lot of you to begin making demands 
upon me. I am already overworked in this area.” But the 
die was cast. From then on, an array of sexual happen­
ings became part of the daily routine at People’s Temple, 
both in California and in Jonestown. He appointed Patty 
Cartmell to make all appointments for sexual encounters 
with members who “need to leam to relate to the 
Cause.” Many of these were made, however, at Jones’ 
behest, not that of his followers.

In his lust for unlimited power over the lives of others, 
Jones forced men and women to lie with him and each 
other in adulterous and homosexual depravities, in pri­
vate and in public. On one occasion, a husband whose 
wife complained that he had never had oral sex with her 
was ordered by Jones to do so with a woman who was 
menstruating, while 125 people, including his wife, 
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were forced to watch. Although such instances must 
surely have destroyed the dignity and self-esteem of 
participants and observers alike, according to Tim 
Carter, a survivor of Jonestown, “Dad knows best” or 
“Just do as Dad tells you” was the attitude that pre­
vailed, enabling Jones to dominate everyone’s sexual 
life. “He told the husbands he only did it to help the 
women, but he also did it to emasculate the men of 
Jonestown.”

The children, in their formative years, watched and 
listened and learned as these loathsome experiences 
unfolded before their young eyes. They observed 
someone’s father being humiliated by another man; 
someone else’s mother engaging in sex with another 
woman; and stood with the entire population of Jones­
town and saw one of their playmates being forced to 
masturbate herself because her parents had been discov­
ered having a private conversation.

The children listened. When Jones wasn’t engaged in 
sex, he was talking about it, always in their presence. 
They had no choice but to listen as Jones boasted of his 
sexual prowess. The five-year-olds were forced to leam 
the following chant: “We cut off the penises of capitalists 
and people who believe in God.” The devastating effect 
of all this on the ego of a developing child or a sensitive 
teen-ager could only be immense, and on the family it 
was total. That was the master plan of Jim Jones.

In her affidavit of April 10, 1978, Yolanda Crawford 
said, “I recall several instances of Jim Jones stating he 
could silence critics or defectors by accusing them of 
being homosexuals, child abusers, terrorists, or sexual 
deviates.” While this is likely, it wasn’t even necessary 
for Jones to accuse anyone. Early on he had all his 
followers confess, on paper, that they engaged in per­
verted sexual and other unacceptable forms of behavior.
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These signed confessions were used to keep everyone in 
line or, in the case of defection, to discredit anything the 
individual might have revealed.

Such was the case in the custody battle between Jim 
Jones and Grace and Tim Stoen. During the court battle 
that ensued after John Victor Stoen had been whisked oft 
to Guyana instead of being returned to his parents, 
Jones, through his aides, released the following incrimi­
nating document:

I, Timothy Oliver Stoen, hereby acknowledge that in April, 
1971,1 entreated my beloved pastor, James W. Jones, to sire 
a child by my wife, Grace Lucy (Grech) Stoen, who had 
previously, at my insistence, reluctantly but graciously 
consented thereto. James W. Jones agreed to do so, reluc­
tantly, but I explained that I very much wished to raise a 
child, but was unable, after extensive attempts, to sire one 
myself. My reason for requesting James W. Jones to do this 
is that I wanted my child to be fathered, if not by me, by the 
most compassionate, honest and courageous human being 
the world contains.

The child, John Victor Stoen, was bom on January 25, 1972. 
I am privileged beyond words to have the responsibility for 
caring for him, and I undertake this task humbly with the 
steadfast hope that said child will become a devoted fol­
lower of Jesus Christ and be instrumental in bringing God’s 
kingdom here on earth, as has been his wonderful natural 
father.

With such documents, Jones was certain that he could 
destroy, or at least neutralize, the credibility of all his 
would-be defectors and critics. In most cases, he suc­
ceeded.

By early 1977, a few people within the media had 
accumulated enough strange, though unconfirmed, sto­
ries about People s Temple and the abuse of children, 



JIM JONES VERSUS THE FAMILY 47

families, and the legal system to warrant further investi­
gation. Word got out that the publication New West 
was working on an expose of the Temple and its 
well-known minister, Jim Jones.

While Jones tried desperately to kill the New West 
story, using his powerful political allies that ranged from 
the John Birch Society to the American Civil Liberties 
Union, he was not without additional recourse. For many 
months, unknown to anyone except those in the trusted 
inner circle, he had been making elaborate plans to flee 
the United States for the jungle settlement in Guyana.

Parents were told to sign forms (already notarized) that 
allowed:

• Power of Attorney: “I give each of the attomeys-in- 
fact the right to care, custody, supervision, and con­
trol of said minor anywhere throughout the world, 
and to travel anywhere with said minor throughout 
the world.”

• State of Custody: “Complete and exclusive obliga­
tion for the care and control” of children during 
travel and stay.

• Assets (including cash) to be imputed to the People’s 
Temple Agriculture Mission.

• Waiver of any obligation to pay for any transportation 
home.

• Release from responsibility on the part of People’s 
Temple for any property that children or parents 
“may leave behind.”

• Loyalty Pledge to Jim Jones: “. . . Pastor Jim Jones 
has the highest character I have ever known. I fully 
believe in his honesty and integrity and thank him 
for all he has done for me.”

The code word assigned to the operation was “HOUS­
TON.” Here again, the children were to play the key role 
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of hostages. Just as they had been used to keep their 
parents in the Temple’s active membership in Califor­
nia, they would now be used to force their parents to 
follow them to a foreign land.

By the early summer of 1977, Operation Houston was 
in high gear. The majority of the children were quickly 
and quietly uprooted. With all the necessary forms 
signed in advance by unknowing parents, the youngsters 
were packed on a bus, shipped across the United States 
to either New York or Miami, and then flown out of the 
country. Patricia Lee Grunnet, legal guardian of Nawab 
Lawrence, took him and twenty-five other children in 
the first load. (Grunnet was a completely loyal staff 
person and was therefore entrusted with the initial 
shipment of children without their parents.) Two hun­
dred and fifty other young people followed as Jones and 
his lawyers instructed the staff that passport applications 
were to be stamped “Reason for Leaving Country: Vaca­
tion.” As young Bernadette Jackson reflected, “The 
reason for leaving is vacation . . . vacation ... a long, 
long, long vacation.” On the immigration applications to 
Guyana itself, however, the reason given for entering the 
country (filled out by the People’s Temple staff) was 
“Permanent Residence.”

When the travelers landed at Georgetown, they were 
quickly processed, then packed into a shrimp boat 
owned by People’s Temple for a twenty-six-hour trip to 
the jungle settlement. The boat was approved to carry 
eight adults safely; Operation Houston would see as 
many as eighty people packed together on a modem-day 
slave boat, headed for real bondage in Jonestown. Once 
there, Jones ordered all forms of identification turned 
over to his lieutenants. Confiscated items included pass­
ports, drivers licenses, credit cards, Social Security 
cards, checkbooks, savings accounts, cash, and even 
wristwatches.



JIM JONES VERSUS THE FAMILY 49

Within a period of three months, Operation Houston 
was complete: All the children of People’s Temple had 
left the United States to rendezvous with hunger, humil­
iation, terror, and death in a country of which they knew 
nothing.

So sudden was the exodus of children that most 
relatives were taken completely by surprise. When Bev­
erly and Howard Oliver, who were not Temple mem­
bers, left for work that morning, their teen-age sons, 
Bruce and William, were asleep in their beds. By the 
time the parents came home, their sons were on their 
way to Guyana. Grace and Tim Stoen discovered weeks 
later that their little boy, John, had been ordered to 
Jonestown in the company of nineteen-year-old Maria 
Katsaris, whose own father, Steven, didn’t know she had 
left the United States until he received a letter from her. 
Jim Cobb and Mickey Touchette found out by chance, 
months later, that their respective brothers and sisters 
were out of the country. The same thing happened to 
Don Ponts and Lawrence Tupper and their children. 
And Robert and Nadyne Houston thought their grand­
children were going to New York City on vacation.

Jim Cobb was one of the first to act. Responding to 
Jones’ implied threat of “revolutionary suicide” on June 
22, 1978, he filed a suit for compensatory and punitive 
damages for “intentional infliction” of emotional distress 
against James Warren Jones and the People’s Temple in 
the Superior Court of California in San Francisco.

Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that 
defendant then and there referred to such a threat euphe­
mistically as a threat of “revolutionary suicide” when, in 
actuality, it was a megalomaniacal threat of “mass murder,” 
which would result in the death of minor children not old 
enough to make a voluntary and informed decision about 
serious matters of any nature, much less insane proposals of 
collective suicide.
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The New West article, “Inside People’s Temple”—in 
retrospect what seems to be a very mild questioning of 
some of the more lurid goings-on at People’s Temple— 
by Marshall Kilduff and Phil Tracy, had appeared on 
August 1, 1977, but Jonestown was already established 
and settled. The story had an important side effect, 
however: Former Temple members who were living 
isolated in fear began to talk with one another and share 
common experiences and deep concerns about their 
relatives who were still involved with Jim Jones.

Phone conversations turned into meetings, and be­
cause of those meetings, people who had once feared 
Jones and his armed bodyguards were now ready to 
fight. Out of a basic family love and longing for impris­
oned daughters, sons, parents, and grandchildren, the 
organization of Concerned Relatives came into being to 
challenge Jones, with the aim of rebuilding the families 
Jones had destroyed and returning its loved ones to 
society' as functioning, free-thinking human beings.

The Concerned Relatives hired lawyers and began to 
wage an unrelenting, grass-roots-style campaign against 
Jones. They gathered signatures for petitions and sent 
letters and affidavits to Congress and to state and federal 
agencies; they badgered the media; they picketed and 
demonstrated, presenting their case to local and national 
religious officials and anyone else who would listen.

Starting in September 1977, five of the Concerned 
Relatives made trips to Guyana in attempts to see their 
children, with little or no success. Steven Katsaris made 
two separate trips to see his daughter, Maria. The first 
time, he brought with him a letter from her asking him to 
come, but the U.S. Embassy in Guyana told him that she 
refused to see him, claiming “he had molested her.” 
Returning to Guyana a month and a half later, he was 
allowed to see her briefly, but only in the presence of 
three other Temple members.
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In January 1978, Tim and Grace Stoen arrived in 
Guyana armed with a California court order for custody 
of their son, John Victor, but this meant nothing to Jones, 
who refused to let either parent see the child and 
threatened their lives if they did not drop legal proceed­
ings against him.

Nevertheless, Jones was feeling the heat. On March 
14, 1978, he sent a letter, written on Temple stationery, 
to every member of Congress, complaining of “bureau­
cratic harassment.” The letter ended with the following:

[I]t is equally evident that people cannot forever be contin­
ually harassed and beleaguered by such tactics without 
seeking alternatives that have been presented. I can say 
without hesitation that we are devoted to a decision that it 
is better even to die than to be constantly harassed from one 
continent to the next.

Though such a threat might have been dismissed as 
hyperbole by most people, the Concerned Relatives 
knew better. On April 11, they issued a detailed open 
letter to Jones, which they delivered to every important 
official in California and Washington. In this “Accusation 
of Human Rights Violations by Rev. James Warren Jones 
Against Our Children and Relatives at the People’s 
Temple Jungle Encampment in Guyana, South Amer­
ica” which is printed in its entirety in the Appendix, the 
parents charged Jones with violations of the United 
Nations Charter, the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, the U.S. Constitution, and the Constitution of 
Guyana, for the following:

1. Making the following threat calculated to cause alarm 
for the lives of our relatives: “I can say without 
hesitation that we are devoted to a decision that it is 
better even to die than to be constantly harassed from 
one continent to the next.”

2. Employing physical intimidation and psychological 
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coercion as part of a mind-programming campaign 
aimed at destroying family ties, discrediting belief in 
God, and cansing contempt for the United States of 
America.

3. .Prohibiting our relatives from leaving Guyana by 
confiscating their passports and money and by station­
ing guards around Jonestown to prevent anyone es­
caping.

4. Depriving them of their right to privacy, free speech, 
and freedom of association by:
a. Prohibiting telephone calls;
b. Prohibiting individual contacts with “outsiders ;
c. Censoring all incoming and outgoing mail;
d. Extorting silence from relatives in the U.S. by 

threats to stop all communication;
e. Preventing our children from seeing us when we 

travel to Guyana.

After spelling out these charges in detail, the relatives 
concluded with the demands that Jones:

1. Publicly answer our questions regarding your threat of 
a collective “decision ... to die,” and publicly prom­
ise U.S. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance and Guyana 
Prime Minister Forbes Burnham that you will never 
encourage or solicit the death of any person at Jones­
town, whether individually or collectively, for any 
reason whatsoever;

2. Remove all guards physically preventing our relatives 
from leaving Jonestown;

3. Return all passports and money taken from our rela­
tives to them for their permanent possession;

4. Permit and encourage our relatives a one-week visit 
home, at our expense. (Because our relatives have 
been in Guyana for months—and some for years—and 
because it is our belief that they do not know the full 
People’s Temple story and have been prejudiced 
against their families, we demand you demonstrate in 
practice your contention that they are their own agents 
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by permitting and encouraging our relatives to visit 
their families in the United States for one week, with 
our guarantee that we will provide them with round 
trip air fare and not interfere with their return at the 
end of the family visit should they so choose.)

5. Permit our relatives to write letters to whomever they 
wish, uncensored and in private.

6. Permit our relatives to read letters sent to them in 
private and without censorship.

7. Abide by the orders of the courts in the United States 
which you have heretofore ignored.

8. Notify us within three days on your radio-phone 
network of your full acceptance and compliance with 
these demands by contacting: Steven A. Katsaris, 
Trinity School, 915 West Church Street, Ukiah, Cali­
fornia 95482, telephone (707) 462-8721.

Jones and company struck back in a press release 
dated May 10, 1978:

The statement of the “Concerned Relatives” was signed by 
a sordid crew of individuals who, among other things, have 
tried to blackmail; have embezzled from People’s Temple 
while infiltrating it; have even been involved in the manu­
facture of ammunition and have advocated ridiculous and 
mad schemes of violence in order to achieve revolutionary 
“ends” in the classic manner of agent-provocateurs. In­
cluded in the group are people who have used and 
trafficked in drugs; some have molested children, including 
their own . . . have operated credit card rackets, forged 
checks, stolen money from the treasury in the amount of 
thousands of dollars, and have actually abused and treated 
black youngsters as house slaves . . .

They have circulated lies about us everywhere and have 
even tried to send undercover agents hired to snatch away 
children illegally and violently from their rightful parents 
and homes . . . With the help of their lawyer, Tim Stoen, 
the group has put together a document that is filled with 
distortions, misportrayals, and lies . . .
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Attached to the press release was a note on one of the 
leaders of the Concerned Relatives that alleged he 
“forced young men and women to bow before him and 
kiss his genitals, calling them racist pigs if they refused 
to do so.”

To the very end, the Concerned Relatives wouldn’t 
give up. At their own expense, fourteen members accom­
panied Congressman Leo Ryan to Guyana and sought 
help at the U.S. Embassy in Georgetown. To their bitter 
disappointment, the Embassy staff showed them a slide 
presentation of Jonestown and the smiling children 
whom they knew and wanted to see freed. Grace Stoen 
told how the group collectively broke down in tears as 
the impact of the Ambassador’s words, “We can’t help 
you,” hit them. “Beaten and broken,” in the words of 
Stoen, they could only hope the Ryan party would be 
successfill in Jonestown.

One year before, Mickey Touchette, one of the first 
seven Temple members to defect in 1973, had been 
briefly united with her relatives in Guyana by an interna­
tional phone call. Because Jones was monitoring the call 
and the Touchette family knew it, much of their conver­
sation consisted of party-line slurs and charges against 
Mickey. But she knew the game, knew the line, and 
would have none of it. The dialogue between grand­
daughter and grandfather captured the feelings of people 
separated, of family roots, and of anguish.

MICKEY: Grandpa, I want you to know that I’ve got your first 
great-grandchild here. Would you like to see him when 
you get back to the United States?

GRANDFATHER: This is the most beautiful place in the 
world. Goodbye.

MICKEY: I hearthat, Grandpa. All of you are telling me what 
a beautiful place that jungle is. That’s fine. What I’m 
telling you is that when you decide to leave there, I’m 



JIM JONES VERSUS THE FAMILY 55

here in San Francisco. I’m here waiting on you. I want 
to have another Christmas, I want to have another 
Thanksgiving, I want to have a family. I want you all to 
get out of there as soon as you can. . . .

With the exception of Mickey’s father and brother, the 
Touchette family perished, as did the Oliver boys, the 
Houston girls, Dona Ponts, and the Tupper children.

Jim Cobb joined People’s Temple in 1967, along with 
his entire family except for his father. He defected in 
1973, while he was attending college. The first major 
defection, he took six others with him, including Mickey 
Touchette. Cobb was a thom in Jones’ organizational 
side from then on. When word came that Cobb was 
accompanying Congressman Ryan’s fact-finding group to 
Jonestown, Jones ordered him killed at the airstrip, as 
well as the Representative from California and his inves­
tigating party. As long as Cobb lived, he was a threat to 
Jones’ struggle for omnipotence. He represented the 
audacity to think critically and to fight for family roots. 
Worst of all, if he successfully convinced the rest of his 
family to leave Guyana, Jones knew this could start a 
mass defection and bring about the downfall of his 
financial empire.

Jim Cobb went to Guyana with a strong premonition 
that he would die, but he wanted to save his mother, 
three sisters, and two brothers, and he was prepared for 
the worst. When the firing began at the airstrip, Jim 
escaped into the jungle. His family was not so fortunate. 
All of them lost their lives but his brother Johnny, who 
was in Georgetown that day. The following day Johnny 
returned to Jonestown to find identification tags on their 
dead mother, Eloise Christine, aged fifty; three sisters, 
Sharon, Sandra, and Brenda; and thirteen-year-old 
brother, Joel.
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In a joint interview with NBC News and the Chicago 
Sun-Times, Jim Cobb reflected on his family:

It started to rain as I started to leave Jonestown, and just 
before it rained Don Harris was trying to find us for an 
interview, a family interview. And at the time, I didn’t feel 
up to it at all. I felt like just being with them, and I didn’t 
have much to say.

But after the interview, it rained, and my mother and myself 
talked for a short while underneath one of the awnings on 
the little house, the little cottage, and 1 told her that I loved 
her, and I told her that I loved the rest of the family more 
than I could express to her. And she said, “I love you, too.” 
And at that time I asked her, “Would you please come 
home? Some other time, not now? To visit me?” And she 
said, “Yes.”

And my younger brother had on some shoes that were dress 
shoes, sort of—they weren’t for walking in the mud—and I 
told him that I’d take my bag here so that he wouldn’t have 
to walk through the mud, and he said, “That’s OK.” And as 
we w'ere walking, my body just started doing things that I 
didn’t even recognize.

My heart w’as really thumping hard, and the voices said, 
“Come back!” And as I was walking to the truck, a thought 
flashed in my head, and I w'ished that I could take him by 
the hand and we could disappear. And I took the bag from 
him, and I said, “I love you, Joel, and I’ll see you later.” 
And he told me, “Bye.” And he w'hispered, “I love you.”

He turned away and walked back through the mud, and I 
looked back at him and my sister Sandy. They were looking 
at me and they showed a lot more than tension in their eyes, 
in their smiles. It was love, and I knew' I would never see 
them again.



“/ had a little hoy in my room and his name 
was Stanley Gigg, and he was roly-poly and 

he had awful trouble learning to read and to 
write, hut I liked him very much. The only 

thing in the whole world that Stanley 
wanted to do was be a carpenter. He was 

building a house down by the creek while in 
fourth grade, yet he was the one who drove 
the tractor in Guyana that brought the men 
out who gunned down Ryan. I just don't see 

how anybody could change that little hoy 
who wanted to he a carpenter into that kind 

of a murderer.”

Ruby Bogner, fourth-grade teacher, Redwood, 
California

14. Brainwashing Dreams

Those who came under the spell of this man were made 
to order for his cult gospel. “Racial equality” and “social 
justice” were music to their ears. His preaching touched 
hearts, awakened dreams for an end to oppression, and 
offered a simple life in which, since he alone knew best, 
he would make the decisions for them and create a new 
social order.

His followers showered him with their savings, cars, 
jewelry, and even homes. They abandoned or gave up 
their children to follow a man who many believed was 
actually God. Some outsiders called him a crook and a 
racketeer, while their adult children thought him to be 
their very own messiah. A fleet of buses and churches in 
various cities funneled into his mysterious ministry the 

57
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revenue that allowed it to grow from modest beginings 
to a multimillion-dollar operation. He fed his followers 
and others who were hungry. He reached out for prosti­
tutes and dnig addicts and seemed to cure his believers 
of cancer, heart ailments, and broken limbs and lives.

His people believed in him with such loyalty that they 
helped forge the movement into a powerful political 
army. Hard workers they were, one and all, and the 
mandatory communal living quarters never closed down 
for sleep. Political leaders flocked to his church, and he 
could claim to have elected a congressman, a big-city 
mayor, and a President.

Critics, who feared that their sons and daughters or 
wives, parents, or grandparents had become brain­
washed slaves to this charismatic leader, took their 
concerns to the press. A scathing expose opened the door 
to his secret world, a world filled with absolute devotion, 
wealth, and a harem that serviced his sexual appetites. 
The magazine article stated that those under his control 
were black and white, poor and rich, college-educated 
and illiterate, laborers, domestics, lawyers, and doctors. 
Immediately, a host of influential people came to his 
defense, including his own team of lawyers, claiming 
fraud and libel.

Was this Jim Jones? No, this was Father Divine, the 
man whom Jim Jones emulated in his compulsive plan to 
control the minds of his followers, the same kind of 
people Father Divine had controlled, with the same 
dreams and the same problems, two generations before.

Several influences on the mind of Jim Jones can be 
cited, among them Adolf Hitler, the subject of nearly 
half the books found in the small library in Jones’ 
bedroom on the third floor of the San Francisco Temple. 
Another was Charles Manson, of whom Jones spoke 
admiringly several times to his closest aides for the 
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national press coverage Manson had received from the 
Tate-LaBianca murders. But by far the most significant 
influence was that of George Baker, alias Father Divine.

One of the books in Jones’ library was Father Divine: 
Holy Husband by Sara Harris (Doubleday, 1953), 
checked out of the Indianapolis Public Library and 
never returned. It thoroughly documents the life of a 
man bom to poor sharecroppers on a rice plantation in 
Georgia, who became God along the way and refined the 
techniques of cultism and brainwashing as he built a 
multimillion-dollar religious empire on the East Coast, 
some twenty years before the birth of Jim Jones.

Bom May 13, 1931, James Warren Jones grew up in 
the small Indiana community of Lynn, population 1,500. 
His father, a disabled World War I veteran and a member 
of the Ku Klux Klan, abused and neglected his son. 
Although Jones was not ordained a minister in the 
Christian Church/Disciples of Christ until 1964, he 
played at preacher from early in childhood, his first flock 
being animals. As a boy, he frequently took in animals, 
cared for them, won their trust, then killed them and 
gave them elaborate funerals, with candles and all the 
accouterments.

Jones was already a practicing preacher with a human 
congregation when he heard about Father Divine in the 
mid-1950s. In 1957 or 1958, he visited Divine’s Phila­
delphia Peace Mission and studied for a weekend. Stories 
of Divine’s life-style—silk suits, chauffeured limousines, 
and a selection of women among Divine’s communal 
followers—may have played a part in attracting Jones, 
but there is no doubt he returned to his flock in Indian­
apolis with some new and very dangerous ideas.

Like Father Divine’s Peace Mission, what was to 
become Jim Jones’ People’s Temple was soon to have a 
godhead and an inner cabinet for the purpose of delegat­
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ing authority and administering a complex and growing 
institution. Bright professionals were to be recruited to 
improve and expand operations—lawyers, accountants, 
architects, public relations personnel, press secretaries, 
personal photographers, and even a staff ol doctors and 
nurses.

Both Divine and Jones fed the minds and bodies of the 
faithful, then induced them to relinquish all their 
worldly possessions and assets without question. They 
set up employment agencies and found work for those 
without jobs; entire paycheeks were then turned over to 
the churches. In both operations, families were de­
stroyed, people were placed in isolation, and sex was 
banned among married Couples and lovers, limited to 
“god” only. Public confessions kept potential trouble­
makers or problems at minuscule levels.

Divine and Jones both sought membership among the 
oppressed. The majority of their followers were poor, 
uneducated, economically deprived, and lacking re­
sources to break out of the poverty cycle. The following 
statement from a woman who belonged to the Peace 
Mission could just as easily have come from one who 
belonged to People’s Temple:

I was one of six kids. My father walked out and our mother 
had to work long hours. There was no supervision and the 
kids didn’t go to school.

The same is true for what another woman said about her 
early life:

Never had no toilet for just our family. I use to live on 137th 
Street off of Lenox Avenue, on the fifth floor. There was four 
other families living on that floor, too, and all five of us— 
twenty-six people sharing the same toilet. Most times you 
want to get in, somebody else got there first and you got to 
wait. Some hours, like early in the morning, you want to go 
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out looking for a job, there is a line out in front of the toilet. 
Only the pushers know how to push other folks around can 
get in there in the mornings. Me, I never used to get in. 
Used to be a public toilet on 125th Street, you got to walk 
down steps like to a subway. I used that all the time.

Membership also included the disenchanted idealists 
from well-educated, middle-class or wealthy families. 
This group formed a cadre of technocrats whose intellect 
and affluence insured the successful operation and ex­
pansion of the churches. The former group comprised 
the blind followers, the latter enjoyed more privileges 
and status, yet both were convinced by their leaders that 
their existences represented “true equality" and a “liv­
ing harmony in race relations.”

As early as 1915, Father Divine was preaching racial 
equality and social justice, performing faith healings, 
replacing “lost” teeth with “real” ones, and feeding his 
followers well. In 1927, one member described the food 
served every Sunday as “just like Christmas—chicken, 
ham, beef stew, corn, mashed potatoes, rice, hominy 
beans, tomatoes, cole slaw, spinach, mountainous bowls 
of ice cream, cakes as big as automobile tires but higher, 
piles of cheese, tea, coffee, Postum, milk, and chocolate 
milk.

A Hier, circulated in Jones’ early days in San Fran­
cisco, shows the striking similarities between the estab­
lished master of deceit, Divine, and the apprentice, 
Jones:

PASTOR JIM JONES
prophet—Saves the lives of total strangers with his 

predictions. Scores will be present to give 
medical documentation of the amazing healing;

PUBLIC SCHOOL TEACHER AND GOVERNMENTAL OFFI­
CIAL—Currently an active teacher in the California Sys­
tem;
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HEALER OF CANCEROUS DISEASES DOCTORS CALLED "IN­
CURABLE”;

PASTOR OF THE NATION’S LARGEST YOUTH INTERNATIONAL 
RELIGIOUS MOVEMENT, WITH A 185-VOICE CHOIR, WILL BE 
here!!

SPECIAL NOTICE: This message of God proclaims Apostolic 
Social Justice of Equality and PROVES his message 
by divine SIGNS and wonders.

FREE BANQUET

Their large followings provided both leaders with lever­
age in the world of power politics. Divine supplied New’ 
York City and Philadelphia politicians w'ith an open 
forum to come and meet his supporters. The elected 
officials and candidates knew’ that with an endorsement 
from Father, they need not worry about the precinct 
battle of getting out the voters for the right man. Fiorello 
La Guardia, three-time mayor of New' York, spoke at the 
Peace Mission during his first campaign: “And I say, 
Father Divine, no matter what you want, I will support 
you.”

Likewise, national, state, and local politicians and 
their wives visited Jim Jones to get the People’s Temple 
endorsement and votes. More important, they w'ooed 
him for the reliable, gratis services of his membership, 
including children of all ages, w'ho would, at Father’s 
command, work unceasingly for months as campaign 
volunteers. Such political figures as Governor Jerry 
Browm, Lieutenant Governor Mervyn Dymally, District 
Attorney Joseph Freitas, Mayor George Moscone, Jane 
Fonda, and Tom Hayden spoke at People’s Temple and 
received support from Jones. So important, too, was this 
new and powerful religious force in San Francisco to 
Jimmy Carter’s campaign for the Presidency that Mrs. 
Carter dined privately w’ith Jones in 1976.



BRAINWASHING DREAMS 63

It was the filing of child abuse complaints by outsiders 
and the subsequent court actions that made these cult 
leaders vulnerable to press scrutiny. During the 1930s a 
large number of Divine’s members were taken to court 
“for neglect or complete abandonment of minor chil­
dren.” Eleven-year-old Robert Smith testified in New 
York City Children’s Court: “Sure I need my ma. But I 
ain’t got her, though. Father Divine’s got her.” One of 
the fathers told the judge: “He is one of them crazy 
preachers what send the wiminfolks crazy.” But a sixty- 
three-year-old grandmother had this to say about giving 
up her three sons, two daughters, and seven grandchil­
dren:

It is an easy thing to do. I must put my mind to driving out 
any thought of them I formerly loved. Father [Divine] told 
me that is what I must do and so I did it. Once you 
recognize Father’s divinity, you can do anything he in­
structs you to.

While young mothers who brought their children into 
Divine’s Peace Mission were told to treat them imper­
sonally and never to call them anything but “sister” 
or “brother,” Jones ordered children to call their par­
ents by their first names.

Judge Richard Hartshorne of the Common Pleas Court 
in New Jersey declared Divine “responsible for the 
promotion of family disorganizations,” and New York 
City Children’s Court Judge Jacob Panken called him “a 
destroyer of children” and “evil.”

Divine and Jones lost followers in two ways—defec­
tion and death. Of the hundreds who defected, most 
remained silent out of fear of reprisals. Some fled impor­
tant positions within their cult’s hierarchy—personal and 
confidential secretaries, key financial planning assist­
ants. Some were jealous lovers cast aside for younger 
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women. However, when defectors were brave enough to 
talk publicly, both Divine and Jones discredited them by 
calling them liars and worse, while hundreds of the 
faithful came to the defense of their living gods.

When a member of the Peace Mission died, Father 
Divine callously had him or her thrown out like a sack of 
old clothes. The living buried the dead both literally and 
financially. In their god’s cold, calculating mind, “true 
followers don't die.’’ They, like him, would live forever.

Jones copied that expense-saving tactic, according to 
the following church bulletin, posted on the northern 
California public notice board:

We’ve had no need to utilize such services of a funeral 
home since 1959. No one who has followed the teachings of 
Christ’s works through Pastor Jones has died in all that 
time.

Robbed of their savings, their homes and families, their 
freedoms and dignity in life, they were further dese­
crated in death by the very “gods” who had lured them 
into modem bondage.

But death was the one area in which Jones finally 
overshadowed his teacher. His followers, whose very 
numbers accorded him a powerful political influence 
and favors, also won for him national and international 
recognition—at the least, a footnote to the history of the 
late twentieth century.

In order to understand the phenomenon of Jim Jones, 
which, as the comparison with Father Divine shows, was 
not unique in our history except for the way it ended, we 
must learn more about his followers. Who were they? 
Where did they come from? Why did they join the 
Temple? And how was it that they could, as a collective, 
programmed, and computerized entity, respond to, obey, 
and ultimately fall victim to their demented leader on 
that fateful day?
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Of the 950 Americans listed as People’s Temple mem­
bers living in Guyana (913 of whom died on November 
18, 1978), less than one-third were born in California, 
from where, Jones had them believe, they had emigrated 
as twentieth-century religious/political refugees. They 
came from thirty-nine states, the District of Columbia, 
and eight foreign countries. The largest representation 
came from California and Texas, with 295 and 111, 
respectively. Arkansas, Indiana, Mississippi, and Louisi­
ana each gave origin to thirty-five or more of the 
Temple’s members.

People’s Temple was an ethnic rainbow, though the 
membership was largely black. Two-thirds were very 
young or very old. Their backgrounds spanned the 
affluent and the poor, the educated and the illiterate. 
Here is a sample:

RICHARD tropp, 36: Well-educated. A former teacher 
of his at the University of Roches­
ter wrote: “Mr. Tropp is one of 
the three or four most brilliant 
students I’ve ever taught. Truly 
exceptional.’’

Virginia TAYLOR, 92: A life of hardship and racial dis­
crimination. “I was bom in 1886. 
I sang all kinds of songs and tried 
to cover up everything that would 
break a little child’s heart.”

FANN GURVICH, 25: From a well-to-do New Orleans 
family. Privately educated at the 
Ecole Classique Academy, New­
comb College, Vassar, the Univer­
sity of California, and Golden 
Gate College’s Law School in San 
Francisco. Loved poetry, Shake­
speare, and translated Sanskrit.
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RUTHIE----------, 33: Boni to a sharecropping family in
Mississippi, she ran away at the 
age of twelve to a dishwashing 
job. Seven years later, she was a 
Los Angeles prostitute and heroin 
addict, and was convicted of sev­
eral crimes. Beaten by a homo­
sexual pimp for over eleven 
years before joining People’s 
Temple.

PAT GRUNNET, 37: Peace Corps teacher in Tangan­
yika for three years. Volunteered 
to work with the Migrant Ministry 
of Cesar Chavez and labored for 
prison reform and an end to the 
Vietnam war. Worked with emo­
tionally disturbed children in 
Jonestown.

henry MERCER, 92: Bom in Jessup, Georgia, and wit­
nessed the results of lynchings as 
a child. “. . . it’s an ugly thing to 
see. They’d cut your penis off and 
put it in your mouth.” Became a 
labor organizer and a Communist 
during the Depression. “I believe 
that everyone should be equal.”

RHODA JOHNSON, 16: “I was like a single ant in the 
whole world. I was nothing, going 
nowhere. I was bored and un­
happy at home. Jones made me 
feel like I was someone. Just the 
sound of his voice made you feel 
like you had power. My parents 
were even caught up by him and 
they encouraged me to join him.”
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In fact, those who joined People’s Temple were ideal­
ists. Not only were they looking for a better way of life, 
they sought a communion of equality, love, and brother­
hood. They believed Jones could provide the utopia for 
which all people strive: happiness, tranquility, and 
meaningful deeds. Tim Stoen, a graduate of Stanford 
Law School and a highly respected lawyer in Ukiah, met 
Jones when Jones served as foreman of the Mendocino 
County Grand Jury. Stoen joined the church because he 
saw in the minister “someone who could bring the 
blacks and whites together in a harmony of love and 
brotherhood.’’ When asked by a new member why he 
had joined, Stoen waved his arm around the church and 
exclaimed, “Just look at all this happiness!”

Michael Prokes, a former TV journalist, revealed: “I 
joined up because this movement had such ideals.” The 
Bogue family saw Father as “a great humanitarian who 
would even take in stray dogs and give them medical 
treatment.” Mickey Touchette was attracted because “I 
felt that Jim Jones was interested in humanitarian quali­
ties ... no more racism, no more economic inequalities 
. . . a decent educational system, a decent welfare 
system.” Jeannie Mills became interested because “it 
appeared that Jim knew how to take care of children.”*

One and all built dreams from their own experiences 
in life, the injustices they had seen and the hard times of 
which the politicians seemed to know nothing. It was 
around those dreams that Jones created his “cause.” It 
was their idealism that Jones used to lure them ever 
deeper into an organized program of total brainwashing 
and blind captivity.

The American public knew little about brainwashing 
and mind control before the Korean war and the return

* In fact, Jones was using electrodes attached to the arms and legs of 
children to teach them to smile at the mention of his name.
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from North Korea of American POWs with changed 
personalities. Since then, extensive studies have been 
made of the phenomenon. Although there are variations 
in the art of brainwashing, experts agree on six com­
monly used techniques:

1. Total isolation from the outside world.
2. A rigid daily schedule with absolute obedience to 
captors.
3. Doctrinaire, daily study groups.
4. Physical abuse, ranging from a lack of food and 
sleep to beatings and torture.
5. The setting up of criteria by which freedom and 
approval from the group are contingent on “successful 
reform.”
6. Interrogation sessions in which uncooperative 
members are grilled and forced to confess, conform, 
and inform on other members.

Jim Jones employed all six techniques. He began to 
practice them in Indianapolis, after his return from 
Father Divine’s Peace Mission. Suddenly the persona­
ble minister, whom his followers called Jim, announced 
the Bible full of errors and lies. One Sunday he held the 
holy book high, then threw it to the floor, shouting, “Too 
many people are looking at this and not at me!” From 
then on, the bible was progressively discredited and 
desecrated, to the point that church members were told 
to use its pages for toilet paper. Meanwhile, “Jim” 
suggested, then commanded, that he be called “Father.”

At about the same time, Indiana Temple members 
were puzzled by a newly established “interrogation 
committee,” but when Father explained about “the 
hidden enemy among us,” they went along with the 
grilling of members who were even the slightest bit 
critical of him.
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Jim Jones knew what kind of people he wanted for his 
church and systematically recruited them. He also knew 
that California was the land of the economically and 
emotionally disenchanted, and he was not the first to 
recognize the potential in its unorganized numbers. 
After studying Father Divine’s operation on the East 
Coast, Jones realized instinctively that his land of oppor­
tunity was California. In 1965, he headed there with a 
handful of faithful followers who would serve as a base 
to expand upon.

In California, Jones gradually but methodically iso­
lated his people. Demanding total loyalty, he had them 
sever ties with the rest of their families, friends, and 
outside acquaintances. Except for when they went to 
work, members had to be accompanied at all times by 
another member, even to the bathroom. Conversations 
with strangers were prohibited unless these had been 
prearranged to suit a People’s Temple purpose. The 
church membership was gripped with a siege mentality 
that intensified at Jonestown.

In the Guyana jungle, stripped of all identification and 
unable to leave the armed and guarded compound un­
less under close surveillance and with the authorization 
of Jones himself, the people were completely isolated. 
Other than a harmless visit by the American Embassy 
once every three to six months, People’s Temple was 
free of government inspection and press inquiry.

There were no newspapers except People’s Forum, 
written by Jones and filled with outrageous lies about 
conditions in the United States (e.g., the city of Los 
Angeles was abandoned and the Ku Klux Klan was 
running loose and murdering innocent blacks through­
out the country). The only means of communication out 
of Jonestown was via shortwave radio to the Temple in San 
Francisco. Not even the most trusted aides were permit­
ted in the radio shack unless Jones was present.
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While the minister fortified himself with and became 
increasingly dependent on amphetamines,, he bragged 
that anybody could function on three hours of sleep a 
night. After all, he was the perfect example, working 
twenty-four to thirty-six hours straight. Rhoda Johnson, a 
sixteen-year-old defector, reported to her Indiana home­
town newspaper in 1977 on the exacting daily regime 
demanded by Jones and his loyal lieutenants in Califor­
nia:

The pace of living was so strenuous, no one could think 
straight. My daily schedule was to arise at 6 A.M., go to 
school until noon, work in a Temple-sponsored restaurant 
in town until evening, spend the evening working in the 
nursing home until 10 P.M., then go to church until 3 or 4 
A.M. This went on six days a week. The only night I had off 
was Monday. I never had more than three hours of sleep a 
night.

The Jonestown daily routine has been discussed al­
ready. Twelve-year-old Tracy Parks informed the FBI 
and the press, shortly after she and her family escaped in 
one of Congressman Ryan’s planes, that Jonestown was 
“ugly, just like a concentration camp” and that she was 
forced to stay up until 2 a.m. just to learn lessons like 
“Russian phrases” before she could eat or go to sleep.

These mandatory doctrinaire study groups became a 
propaganda barrage that, coupled with no outside con­
tacts, crowded communal conditions, little sleep, little 
food, hard labor, humiliations, and beatings, greatly 
affected the thinking processes of his followers. Jim 
Jones, the orator and con man, quickly progressed from 
pastor to faith healer to prophet to God. Once his divinity 
was accepted by the majority of the group, he molded 
their lives further, using brainwashing techniques.

The people’s dependency on Jones intensified as he 
protected them from the imagined evils of the FBI, KKK,
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CIA, and Temple defectors like Jim Cobb. At one 
California church service, according to Neva Sly, whose 
husband and son died in Guyana, Jones convinced the 
congregation that Cobb and his group were making 
bombs to kill them:

Jim just went crazy, absolutely crazy. He stood on the 
podium and started screaming that those kids had gone 
crazy and that they were in the hills around the church with 
rifles and that they had stolen money from the church . . . 
we were totally convinced that there were going to be 
bombings.

In Jonestown, Father ranted that “the CIA seeded the 
clouds to make it rain all the time” so they wouldn’t have 
any crops. Their own country and its evil people were 
inflicting hardships on their agricultural mission because 
of their revolutionary beliefs. Ironically, he told them 
that concentration camps were being constructed all 
along the West Coast. Jim Bogue summed up the feeling 
of almost everyone in Guyana with Jones: “I was brain­
washed by the power of fear.” Near the end, using a 
daily diatribe of lies, exaggerations, and omissions col­
ored with his own intense paranoia, Jones succeeded in 
making the community fear the outside world much 
more than their own hellish existence.

All-night meetings, at which members were interro­
gated and then given the opportunity to confess, became 
the norm. (Boxes of these written confessions were 
destroyed by attorney Charles Garry after the massacre.) 
As important as the confessions were to Jones in control­
ling would-be defectors and keeping members in line, 
he had a more immediate method of mind control. 
Stanley Clayton, a survivor, told how anyone who broke 
compound rules or who Jones thought wanted to leave 
was placed in “a large shipping crate 4 feet by 8 feet by 6 



72 THE CHILDREN OF JONESTOWN

feet, for several days to two weeks.” This was to “make 
them totally dependent on others so they could be 
twisted and turned into what Jones wanted.” Michael 
Prokes, a faithful follower of Jones to the end, confirmed 
the practice: “The box was in a hole in back of an herbal 
kitchen by a smokehouse where plantains [similar to 
bananas] were stored. It was 30 feet by 10 feet and had a 
smaller box inside.” Prokes knew a man who was put in 
there because he had criticized Jones.

From the beginning, some stronger members resisted 
Jones’ brainwashing by building secret alliances with 
one another. For example, Jeannie and Al Mills agreed 
that no matter what happened, they would continue to 
talk and have sex with each other, which they did, thus 
preserving their sanity. Realizing this, Jones constantly 
demanded that members volunteer information on such 
alliances or face grave punishment. Grace Stoen com­
mented on the critical need to relate to another human 
being in these circumstances:

With this alliance, I was able to say to this person: “Hey, 
there’s a beating going on here. Are these real beatings or 
am I crazy?” This person was able to confirm it—that’s how 
mixed up you were. I mean, you were brainwashed. You 
were kept up. You got very little sleep. You lacked nutri­
tious food. ... I was fortunate to have someone, that I 
could give myself self-assurance that I was not crazy and 
that I was really seeing what I was seeing.

One of the practices Jones enjoyed most, which was a 
significant gauge of the effectiveness of the brainwash­
ing, was the beatings. He knew that if he could have his 
followers beat each other and be beaten, they would be 
unable to understand or relate realistically to what was 
happening. Teen-ager Linda Myrtle expressed her feel­
ings and reasons for beating up others in lopsided 



BRAINWASHING DREAMS 73

punishment boxing matches (adults against teen-agers 
and teen-agers against smaller children:

I was to carry out the discipline for the boxing. It wasn’t a 
personal thing with me at all. I just was supposed to fight 
these people for Socialism. And these people, you know, if 
they did something wrong, I would get into it. The only 
way I could associate myself. . . or straighten things out in 
my mind when I was boxing these people . . . was to think 
about my parents when I was still brainwashed, how they 
had betrayed Father and the Cause of Socialism; and I 
would think on that and I would really get outraged and I 
would be able to fight. ... It would really give me an extra 
burst of power, and I would just go off and brutally beat 
these people, thinking of my parents.

Linda Myrtle severely beat one woman for favoring 
her own children over the other youngsters. A short time 
later, Linda was beaten by someone else so badly, she 
could not sit down for weeks.

At the time it was right, because I felt what I had done 
[embraced a friend outside People’s Temple gate in San 
Francisco] was wrong at the time. I was still brainwashed 
and so confused. I just couldn’t rationalize it in my mind 
that Jim Jones was wrong. I could not say in my mind that 
he was wrong. I just knew it hurt awfully bad and then, in 
the end, I had to say, “Thank you, Father,” and give him 
the power sign ... I felt like I was doing right. Being 
beaten.

It wasn’t until after members had defected that many 
of them realized they could not cry. Neva Sly recalled:

We weren’t allowed to cry. It was considered a sign of 
weakness. It was also like we were trying to get sympathy 
from people. So even if a child was crying and the tears 
would start in, somebody, but not Jim, but somebody else 
would always say, “What are you crying for? Are you trying 
to make us feel sorry for you?” And a lot of people would 
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jump on the person who was crying, whether it was a child 
or an adult. It didn’t matter at all. So it got to the point 
where none of us cried.

So effectively did Jones convince his followers that he 
was God, they inadvertently allowed a young man to die. 
J. R. Purifoy related how Curtis, who was helping him 
repair a fire-damaged People’s Temple building, over­
dosed on some kind of drug one night and was found 
unconscious and near death:

Instead of them getting him to the hospital to see a doctor, 
they put a picture of Jones on him to raise him up and heal 
him. Of course, the child died. Then they took his lifeless 
body to the hospital and just left it on the front steps. It was 
a horrible experience. . . . This is how brainwashed the 
people were, thinking that Jones was God.

Jones broke up families and corrupted and destroyed 
individuals, and yet, in the strange way of the brain­
washed, they clung to their tormentor as their last 
lifeline. Since he had removed all individual thought 
process, all drive to succeed or excel, all feeling, all 
hope, he was all they had left. To the point that Jones 
was God, he fed that theology with his own rhetoric and 
prose. The following is a poem he claimed to have 
written on October 11, 1969:

FOREVER JONES

And from the tomb he did reply: 
Tho few have fought so well as I, 
Mortal flesh anon must die;
From the depth of skin and bone
Unshaken still, did he intone:
My charges were unloved and lone 
And I, destined from the start 
To know the grief that storms the heart 
of the forsaken and to impart 
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to them the surging strength of me. 
Mightier than the charging sea, 
Attuned to all that be, specially unto thee 
Who suffered much to walk with me.

Dream ye not of streets of gold.
Nor an end to pain,

Often in our forever, we will walk 
this way again.

The tall pine opened an aging eye and 
trembled its brittle cones.

Then it fell full length, it did, 
Athwart the tomb of Jones.



"I've worked hard all my life. My wife gave 
almost everything we owned to Jim Jones. 

I’ve got nothing."

Freddie L. Lewis, a butcher for thirty-four years, 
who lost his wife, a sister, and seven children at 

Jonestown

5. Financial Building Blocks 
of Jones' Empire

'The size of Jones’ financial empire surprised even his 
most loyal followers who survived Jonestown. What 
amounted to a multimillion-dollar operation was built on 
public welfare and Social Security benefits payable to 
children and the aged. Under the cloak of religion, 
Jones, his lawyers, and other advisers devised manipula­
tive, deceitful, and fraudulent methods of collecting 
these funds and other forms of pension payments due the 
young and old under his control. By Jones’ demanding 
communal living for his followers, the system was set in 
place: It was only a matter of time before the members 
were turning over their incomes, savings, homes, and 
other means of wealth.

76
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Jim Jones began his ministry in Indianapolis, Indiana, 
about 1949. For the next sixteen years, amid great 
controversy, he served his financial apprenticeship. He 
made mistakes, but also thousands of dollars. The minis­
ter, who in his younger days sold imported monkeys 
door-to-door for $29 apiece, went to California in 1965 
with a cashier’s check for $ 100,()()(), the proceeds from 
two nursing homes he had operated, taking the patients’ 
Social Security checks and any additional financial assets 
they had. Members of his church, too, turned over their 
holdings. Mrs. Esther Mueller sold her home for $25,000 
and the furnishings for $2,000, and donated it all to 
Reverend Jones. The other members were encouraged 
to follow her example.

In Indiana, Jones formed two corporations for his 
financial needs. Wings of Deliverance, Inc., was desig­
nated a nonprofit, religious, tax-exempt organization for 
the purpose of receiving funds from the sale of his early 
real estate acquisitions. Listed as directors for Wings of 
Deliverance were Jim Jones, his mother, his wife Marce­
line, and Kathleen Davenport, the People’s Temple 
financial secretary. The second corporation, JIM-LU- 
MAR, was a profit-making, legal umbrella for the rev­
enue realized from the nursing homes and his wife’s 
income.

As early as 1962, Indiana state licensing authorities 
started to harass Jones about the poor quality of care in 
his nursing homes. Without good counseling and be­
cause his operations were not legally “clean,’’ he 
soon ran into trouble with the Internal Revenue Ser­
vice for failure to pay federal taxes on JIM-LU-MAR. 
Both corporations eventually had their charters re­
voked in June 1971.

It was during this period of trouble that Jones shared 
his vision of “atomic holocaust” with his flock, saying he 
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had read a magazine article on the safest places to live in 
case of nuclear war. One such was Ukiah, California; 
another was Belo Horizonte, Brazil. Jones went to Brazil 
and did missionary work for two years while someone 
scouted the Ukiah area for him. After the IRS heat cooled 
down, he returned to Indianapolis to consolidate his 
holdings and convince his followers that the world 
would end on July 15, 1967, and the “only place [they] 
could be safe was with him in California. He left 
Indiana with his wife, children, and faithful, for a new 
base of operations in Ukiah.

While getting settled and finding jobs for his Indiana 
followers, Jones taught another bizarre version of Ameri­
can history, with heavy doses of his sexual philosophy, 
for several years. He requested and obtained permission 
for his class size to be appreciably increased. The pur­
pose for such a move was to enable his church members 
to take his course and thus qualify for increased Social 
Security benefits. As wage and Social Security checks 
started to flow again, he formed three new corporations: 
The Apostolic Corporation and Valley Enterprises, Inc., 
were nonprofit and tax-exempt, while Truth Enterprises, 
Inc., served as his profit-making vehicle.

In 1974, on his lawyers’ advice, Jones filed a 
“Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation 
of People’s Temple of the Disciples of Christ” with the 
office of Secretary of State, soon to be Governor, Ed­
mund G. Brown, stating, . . the specific and primary 
purpose [of the Temple] is to further the kingdom of God 
by spreading the Word . . .”

One way specified to spread the divine word, accord­
ing to the document, was:

To receive property by devise, or bequest, subject to the 
laws regulating the transfer of property by will, and other­
wise to acquire and hold all property, real or personal,
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including, without limitation, shares of stock, bonds, and 
securities of other corporations ... To sell, convey, ex­
change, lease, mortgage, encumber, transfer on trust . . . 

The key language of the amendment, however, was 
point (vii): “To qualify to carry on its non-profit activities 
in any other state, territory, dependency, or foreign 
country and to conduct its non-profit activities within or 
without the State of California.” This document was the 
culmination of the legal paperwork Jones needed to 
operate within the structure of the law. It enabled him to 
begin milking his followers and the taxpayers—and to 
deposit the mounting “religious contributions” in unlim­
ited foreign bank accounts.

As discussed earlier, before Jones began to use legal 
guardianships to protect himself and divide families, as 
many as 150 children were channeled through the foster 
care program into the homes of People’s Temple mem­
bers. Walter Jones, for instance, operated The Jones 
Family Care Home, and the Touchette family also took in 
large numbers of children. Some California officials have 
estimated that Jones could have realized as much as 
$40,000 a month from that number of foster care chil­
dren.

These sources of funds, however, were secondary. The 
most important role of the children was to ensure that 
their parents remained loyal enough to Jones to turn over 
all individual assets, present and future, to his cause. In 
the words of Jim Cobb: “With a religious con man like 
Jones, you need kids in order to keep a group alive for 
numbers and for money. If you’ve got the kids, you’ve 
got the parents, and if you’ve got the parents, you’ve got 
the kids.”

The children also served an important function by 
begging for money in the streets of San Francisco, Los 
Angeles, Ukiah, and, later, Georgetown, Guyana. Denise
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Purifoy tells what soliciting was like for the youths of 
People’s Temple:

They’d send you out with pamphlets of the Temple and a 
can, and you’d ask everybody you saw for a donation, “Give 
to the hungry and starving.” It was hard . . . they’d give 
you a certain amount to get, to make, and if you didn’t make 
it, you were in trouble. ... I never made the quota. 
Sometimes it’d be $ 1 (X). . . the average day was $25 to $30.

According to Linda Myrtle:

A lot of children were used in the begging technique to 
raise funds for the Temple because they were adorable . . . 
you can’t say no to a little kid who comes up smiling from 
ear to ear and says, “Could you please give a donation?” 
. . . you know. And they were really good at that, little 
children, so Jim would have most of the adults take a child 
with them while they were begging.

People’s Temple children had seen the “miracles” Jim 
Jones performed and had heard both their parents and 
him say he was God. When they begged on the streets, 
they never took any of the money, for Jones had warned 
them that if they did, he would know it and punish them 
severely. One street-wise boy took the chance, however, 
and stole ten dollars. He waited for Jones’ lightning. 
When nothing happened, he realized they were all being 
duped, and left the church before the Guyana exodus. 
His cynicism saved his life.

Jones left no stone unturned. At Sunday Temple 
collections, plates were replaced with buckets that were 
passed around as many as seven times in one service. To 
increase the donations, his aides suggested that Jones 
himself take the money from worshippers and allow 
them to touch his robes. The ruse worked.

But trips from San Francisco to Los Angeles with his 
most loyal members “were worth $15,000 to $20,000 a
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weekend” in proceeds, according to Grace Stoen. This 
venture became so lucrative, Jones had a thick armored 
compartment installed in the back of his bus so that he 
and the money would be safe for the long ride north.

Young Temple members Theresa Cobb and Mickey 
Touchette, who spent long hours counting the daily and 
weekly offerings, told of “mountainous amounts of 
money” and “high stacks of Social Security and retire­
ment pension-fund checks,” which followers dropped in 
the bucket sooner or later during the fifth, sixth, or 
seventh passing. After a thorough and successful cam­
paign to pressure members to give up their homes, cars, 
and other personal possessions, the main source of 
perpetual revenue for Jim Jones was these checks. In 
1972, he explained to Jeannie Mills and other close staff 
his willingness to take so many older people into the 
membership:

They serve several functions that will be very helpful to us 
in the future. First, if we are ever trying to escape into 
another country, the border guards will see all our old 
people and assume that we are a humanitarian group. Also, 
no border guard would want to detain buses that are loaded 
with elderly people who might have heart attacks or 
strokes. But more importantly, if we are ever to relocate in 
another country, these people’s Social Security and pension 
checks would follow them. In a communal situation in 
another country, where the cost of living is lower, our entire 
group might be able to survive on these checks until we are 
able to find other means of making money.

Six years later, after the massacre, a search of Jones’ 
private quarters revealed a trunkful of passports and 656 
uncashed Social Security checks. These checks, pay­
ments for the period July-October 1978 to some 199 
Social Security “annuitants” living in the People’s 
Temple Agricultural Mission, totaled $160,000.
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On December 11, 1978, Representative Clement J. 
Zablocki of the House Foreign Affairs Committee wrote 
to the Health, Education, and Welfare Secretary, Joseph 
Califano, asking his cooperation in “sharing any informa­
tion your department has on the alleged theft or fraudu­
lent use of Social Security payments to members of the 
People’s Temple in the United States or Guyana.” Three 
months later, on March 7, 1979, the Secretary of HEW 
responded with his departmental interim review: “The 
report indicates that, to date, no basis has been found for 
concluding that the People’s Temple stole or fraudu­
lently used Social Security benefits received by its 
members.”

However, privileged information from People’s Tem­
ple files, radio communications between Jonestown and 
San Francisco, and sources within the Department of 
Social Security7 Administration give a very different 
picture from that painted by official Washington. Jones’ 
Social Security scam was so lucrative that by February 
1977, the small western branch of the Social Security 
office in San Francisco had to assign a full-time em­
ployee to work exclusively on the claims and financial 
maneuvers of People’s Temple.

Generally speaking, there are two types of Social 
Security benefits for children, as well as for adults. The 
first is commonly referred to as “gold” because the 
checks are gold-colored. These benefits come from Sup­
plemental Security Income (SSI), a form of federal 
welfare for children and adults who cannot work because 
of blindness, mental retardation, or other kinds of dis­
ability. Some legal guardians were permitted to draw 
SSI checks on the Social Security numbers of their 
public wards for as much as $280 a month, most of which 
was then remitted to People’s Temple.

The second type of benefit, the “green” checks, is
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derived from retirement funds after sixty-two, survival 
benefits, and so forth. The amount of money depends on 
how much the worker has paid into the system during his 
or her employment years. According to sources in Wash­
ington, some Temple children were getting benefits on 
their parents’ accounts, part of which was sent to Guy­
ana.

The Social Security Act (43 U.S.C. 407) provides that 
“the right of any person to any future payment under this 
title shall not be transferable or assignable, at law or in 
equity . . However, Jim Jones, a master at deluding 
the system, circumvented the law and the Social Secu­
rity officials with his “communal living for young and 
old” under the religious umbrella of the People’s Tem­
ple Church.

Gradually but systematically, Jones established his 
communal-living setup. Children were taken away from 
their natural parents either through the courts or through 
the minister’s power of persuasion. Almost the entire 
San Francisco membership ended up living in com­
munes and handing over all paychecks and Social Secu­
rity and welfare payments to the church. In turn, they 
received a two-dollar weekly allowance, which was 
usually donated back to the church under the watchful 
eye of Reverend Jones and his rhetorical appeals for the 
poor.

Bonnie Purifoy lived with thirteen other people in a 
three-bedroom trailer and slept on the floor most of the 
time. Linda Myrtle remembered the single room she 
shared in the Temple with fourteen other women and a 
small baby: “There were rats in the building, and at 
night, mice and rats and everything would run over the 
rug and over me when I was asleep. I would awake and 
couldn’t sleep.’ Yet the total income for these 15 
women, from outside work and begging, amounted to
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about $68,000 a year. Jackie Colbert, a foster child for ten 
years, recalled seeing the “cheeks for foster care go 
straight to Jones.”

Forty-nine people were registered as occupants of 
1029 Geary Street. So many gold and green checks were 
being sent there that the curiosity of officials at the 
regional Social Security office was aroused. Apparently 
nothing “unlawful” was ever found, however, even 
though the commune netted Jones an approximate 
monthly income of over $22,000.

In January 1977, by printing “authorization represent­
ative forms,” Jones attempted to have all SSI and SSA 
checks flow directly into one account at the Montreal 
Bank in San Francisco. Hundreds signed over their SSI 
and SSA benefits to People’s Temple, thus breaking the 
law. Officials then challenged People’s Temple by say­
ing that all the individual checks couldn’t be put into one 
account.

In October 1977, the Social Security office in San 
Francisco assigned Robert Stone to handle the People’s 
Temple account. Jim Jones appointed his trusted aide 
Jim Randolph to work with Stone. By law, the SSA 
representative had to check on recipients and “redeter­
mine" if they were still eligible for SSI support. A former 
official of People’s Temple told how Stone would be 
handled for his redetermination visits:

Jones would always outnumber him by six or seven people, 
who had been instructed to sit in chairs higher than the 
investigator’s. Any forms Stone requested to be signed 
were taken to the person [said to be in the next room] and 
returned, without the federal official ever really knowing 
if anyone was in the next room or not. Stone’s requests for 
face-to-face meetings were ignored to the point where he 
stopped asking.
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Stone never did see the signees, and to this day, the 
legality of Social Security payments to most Temple 
members is questionable.

Stone’s reports, however, made the west San Fran­
cisco office of Social Security very wary of Jones. When 
People’s Temple hastily moved to Guyana and Jones and 
his staff failed to have eligible members fill out Form 
SSA 21 (required of annuitants leaving the country), the 
San Francisco Social Security Administration stopped 
the payments. After three or four months, Jones became 
incensed over the loss of income and started a massive 
letter-writing campaign to the White House. The White 
House turned the complaint over to the Division of 
Sensitive Inquiries at the Division of International Op­
erations of Social Security in Baltimore, Maryland. “We 
felt the heat,” said Stu Brown of that office, and so the 
flow of checks resumed to finance communal living at 
Jonestown, Guyana.

Illuminating Jones’ orchestrated use of Social Security 
benefits were the recorded messages from the People’s 
Temple radio transmitter (WB6-MNH/8RI). The follow­
ing is an example of communications between Randolph 
and Jones, and between Randolph, Carolyn Layton, the 
Temple’s financial wizard, and attorney Eugene 
Chaikin:

Randolph to Jones:

We have caught several checks that came to old addresses 
. . . Eventually we will collect all benefits that people are 
eligible to, but it will take longer.

He then talked about discontinued SSI checks because 
the beneficiary had left the country:

. . . should we keep all those we are eligible to w’hether 
sent out or deposited directly in the bank?
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. . . how are we to go about cashing them?

... I am enclosing all the checks I have on hand to which 
we are eligible. Some need to be endorsed.

Randolph to Layton and Chaikin;

We plan to hang on to all SSI checks rather than return 
them so long as technical eligibility exists—even though 
we don’t know how we will be cashing them, and even 
though they are the notorious gold checks. I have already 
returned several, thinking there was no eligibility, a mis­
take I won’t repeat!

In April 1978, Stone told Randolph to have SSI annui­
tants who were out of the country return their checks. A 
worried Randolph radioed Jonestown:

I got instructions to return the SSI checks individually . . .
I will simply address an envelope for each person who has 
checks to return. No cover letter of explanation, no return 
address, no return receipt requested [and therefore no 
receipt of the contents]. I will just mail them to the 
respective district offices. I am a little worried because 
some of them are already endorsed.

What is important here is the fact that occupants had 
started arriving in Jonestown in the summer of 1977. Yet 
almost a year later, Robert Stone was ordering the return 
of SSI (gold) checks because it was a violation of the law 
for persons to be out of the country' and still receiving 
them.

On February' 2, 1979, California State Social Services 
Director Marion Woods asserted that his department had 
found “at least twenty-eight cases of welfare fraud in­
volving People’s Temple members who received wel­
fare payments after they were in Guyana.” He also 
cited 142 cases of Temple members who were obtain­
ing combined state/federal program fund's adminis­
tered by the federal Social Security Administration.
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Jones instructed his staff to do an “income survey on 
the people leaving the United States so that, later, 
People’s Temple could apply for additional benefits in 
Guyana. That survey prompted the following radio 
message on Valentine’s Day, 1978.

There are some miscellaneous notes from the income 
survey . . . you might discuss . . . going through some 
kind of accreditation procedure which would ultimately 
result in our being recognized by Social Security so kids 
eligible for SSA benefits when in school can receive those 
benefits while there:

Mark Boutte—eligible for SSA if in an accredited school.
Carol Ann Kerns—used to get $60 a month from father as 

support. Would he give her anything as a student?
Kay Rosas—SSA was discontinued following her marriage to 

some guy to keep him from goingto Vietnam. Grounds for 
annulment? Benefits might be forthcoming if she were 
single again.

Janice Wilsey—eligible to any BIA [Bureau of Indian Affairs] 
money?

Eddie Dennis—heavy-equipment operator. Norris Indus­
try. Union retirement?

Mary Griffith—might be eligible because worked ten years 
prior to leaving U.S.; also on deceased husband’s 
claim.

Lemuel Thomas—has he actually received money from 
State Teachers Retirement System?

Robert Kice—did he receive a pension from Masonite?
Dorothy Sanders—has retirement coming from the Post 

Office. Being worked on from here.
Martha Souder—anything due her because she was married 

to and divorced from ILWU worker?

Flawless records were kept for every conceivable ave­
nue of revenue. The “income survey” files comprehen­
sively listed both possible and definite sources of in­
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come. For instance, Millie Cunningham had four listed: 
“SSA, SSI, Bank, and V.A.”; Eugenia Gernandt had five 
listed: “SSA, SSI, Bank, V.A., and State Retirement 
Fund"; and Edna Reed (who displeased them by not 
reporting her job): “SSA . . . and.Job (didn’t report).” 
Handwritten notes next to all the names being processed 
for travel to Guyana summarized how much these people 
were currently receiving in benefits: “Little Najauan- 
drienne Dames—$111”; “L. B. Rheeves—$239 and 
$223 for children”; “Don Jackson—Disability, $430.”

After most of the members left for Guyana, Social 
Security officials noticed that all the SSA (green) checks 
were being sent to a common post office box number. 
U.S. Consul Richard McCoy visited Jonestown three 
times; his successor, Douglas Ellice, and Vice Consul 
Dennis Reece also cheeked into the matter. McCoy 
reported, paradoxically, that although he found “Social 
Security beneficiaries who were heavily influenced to 
turn over their monthly benefits to the Temple . . . 
these individuals voluntarily gave their money to the 
Temple and appeared to be adequately housed, fed, and 
in relatively good health.” The officials were convinced 
that “the post office box address was being used for the 
convenience of the beneficiaries . . . and . . . that each 
annuitant interviewed was receiving and controlling the 
use of his monthly payment and that none had assigned 
his checks to the Temple.” Therefore, the SSA office saw 
no reason to discontinue “the procedure of mailing the 
monthly checks to the Jonestown post office box ad­
dress.”

The above findings were part of the May 15, 1979, 
report of the Staff Investigative Group to the House 
Foreign Affairs Committee on “The Assassination of 
Representative Leo J. Ryan and the Jonestown, Guyana, 
Tragedy.” The same report, under “Role and Perfor­
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mance of the U.S. Department of State,” also stated: “It 
is proven beyond doubt that Jones staged a show for 
selective visitors to Jonestown which made it difficult to 
get a realistic and accurate picture of what was actually 
happening there . . . ’

It went on to say that the Embassy consul in George­
town advised Jones far in advance who was coming to 
the compound, whom they wanted to see, and why. 
Before their arrival, the proper Temple people were 
sufficiently “coached” on what to do and say. No visitors 
were ever permitted into the crowded living quarters of 
the residents.

Except for those who were very loyal to Jim Jones or 
who had positions of privilege, the vast majority of the 
people lived in fear and terror and had to work long, hard 
hours in the fields and various workshops in Jonestown. 
On one occasion, United Stated officials visited the 
compound to see if members who were receiving retire­
ment benefits were, in fact, working and therefore not 
eligible for Social Security. They were assured that these 
people were enjoying their hobbies and not working at 
all.

Vem Gosney, who escaped when Congressman Ryan 
was about to leave but whose five-year-old son was 
murdered, complained that whenever the visiting con­
sular officials from the American Embassy in George­
town came to Jonestown, they were kept away from 
everyone except the public relations staff, who showed 
them only what Jones wanted them to see. Gosney also 
said that on the day of his arrival at Jonestown, the 
minister’s armed guards told him he would never “leave 
this place alive.”

Jonestown was the final communal-living design, con­
ceived by Jones not as a human experiment in living and 
growing, but as a devious plan to lure and trap people, 
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and to direct their modest streams of dollars into a river 
of millions to be stored in foreign bank reservoirs. It is 
now estimated that even before the exodus to Guyana, 
People’s Temple was receiving an average of $250,000 a 
month from its many sources of income.

In an interview, Tim Stoen told how Jones had asked 
him to develop a “concept of concealment” for the 
increasing amounts of cash flowing into the coffers: 
“Tim, set up a scheme whereby we can get our assets 
protected, and do it in a legitimate way.” Stoen obliged 
by creating a “Temple branch” in Luxembourg. From 
there, accounts were opened in London, West Germany, 
Switzerland, Romania, Panama, and Venezuela. Jim 
Jones, a self-styled Marxist, had a personal account 
opened under a dummy corporation named “Bridget.” 
According to one of the few trusted aides who could sign 
for bank transactions, the initial deposit in this account 
was $1.5 million.

The estimated, reported wealth of People’s Temple— 
$26 million—still scattered among foreign banks and 
now the object of billions of dollars in legal claims, came 
from the small incomes and savings of thousands of 
trusting people. The children begged on the streets; 
Jones begged from his pulpit. His members, mesmerized 
by his oratorical skills, exchanged their modest financial 
holdings for his grandiose promise of a revolutionary 
cause that w-ould grant them all a better life. Giving up 
whatever financial security they had, and without a 
source of income, they sealed their fate.



‘'He . . ■ exploited the children unmercifully 
in his political machine. They were required 

to sit up hours and hours and hours and 
write letters. They would take telephone 
directories and write letters in people’s 

names out of the directories. They would 
take the letters that they had written and 

mail them all up and down the whole state 
of California, like they were coming from 

different parts of the state. The children 
were his labor and work force."

J. R. Purifoy, former member of People’s Temple

6. Politics +
Public Relations = Power

Saturday evening, November 18, 1978, Dr. Carlton 
Goodlett, a physician, the publisher of the Oakland Sun 
Reporter, and a powerful voice in the black community 
of northern California, was dining with friends at a 
private home with a beautiful view of San Francisco Bay. 
The phone rang twice that evening, and Dr. Goodlett’s 
world fell apart.

The caller was San Francisco Mayor George Moscone. 
Frantically, he informed his friend that People’s Temple 
in San Francisco had just told him it had received 
unconfirmed reports, via shortwave from Guyana, that 
Congressman Leo Ryan and his investigating party had 

91
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been ambushed and killed. Reverend Jim Jones and his 
followers also were killing themselves at that very mo­
ment.

Goodlett, personal physician, close friend, and strong 
supporter of Jim Jones, was visibly shaken and refused to 
believe what he had heard. He asked Mayor Moscone to 
do some further checking on what had to be a prepos­
terous rumor. In the second call, the mayor confirmed 
the unbelievable, and they both “broke down and cried 
like babies.”

It was symbolic that these two men—one a powerful 
city politician and the other a prominent newspaper 
publisher—heard the news and shared the grief to­
gether. Dr. Goodlett and Mayor Moscone were key 
members of the coalition Jones had built to enhance his 
own political power base—abase initiated in Mendocino 
County and perfected in San Francisco, from which he 
rose to impressive heights. Using slick public relations 
and cleverly duping the press, Jones gained the reputa­
tion of a humanitarian whose religious works were 
dedicated to helping the poor and uplifting society’s 
failures. In fact, he was a power broker, with an anny of 
political workers who, at his command, would march for 
his choice of potential politicians or elected office 
holders.

Without question, Jones hoodwinked the politicians. 
In keeping with the ritual of American politics, the 
power moguls, including Governor Jerry Brown and 
Mrs. Jimmy Carter, heaped praise on this man of whom 
they knew literally only one thing—that he could pro­
vide a host of dedicated, tireless campaign workers. As 
the children labored in the “grass roots,” far removed 
from the eyes of the public and the candidates, Jones 
built a reputable powerhouse. From its center he weath­
ered major assaults from defectors who, knowing the 
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truth, battered its ramparts in vain to save their loved 
ones.

Jones’ influence peddling began in the summer of 
1965, when a black Cadillac pulled into Ukiah, which 
was to be his first California base. In the ear was Jones, 
his wife, Marceline, and their interracial family of four 
children. Armed with information his Ukiah scout had 
gleaned for him while he himself was in Brazil, Jones 
arrived with a plan to completely dominate the area that 
he claimed would “provide safety from nuclear fallout.” 
The townspeople never knew what hit them.

With efficient speed, the minister found employment 
for the busload of 100 loyal followers from Indianapolis 
who had uprooted their lives and livelihoods to remain 
close to their god. Soon, every key office in the local and 
county governments had a People’s Temple member 
employed and reporting back to Jim Jones. With objec­
tives similar to those of a military operation, they pene­
trated and controlled or neutralized basic community 
departments and communications.

The Ukiah Daily Journal was an important but easy 
target. Jones provided its editor with a free house worker 
and nurse for his ailing wife. When the editor’s daughter- 
in-law had her first baby, Reverend Jones paid the 
hospital bill and later supplied the man with a young, 
attractive receptionist—Maria Katsaris. The publisher of 
the Journal was most appreciative for the many ads 
Jones brought to the paper: The two established a con­
genial relationship from which flowed a series of com­
plimentary stories on Jones, the dedicated altruist. 
Since the Journal was the only newspaper in the area, 
Jones had effectively counterchecked future critics.

People s Temple began building a massive promo­
tional campaign. Pictures of adorable children graced 
the brochures, handouts, and press releases. Smiling 
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innocents, with the right touch of “religious connota­
tion’ —“Whatever measure you use to give, large or 
small, will be used to measure what is given back to 
you”: Luke 6:30—lent heart-robbing appeal to financial 
solicitations that filled mailbags, which in turn filled 
mail trucks and eventually filled Jones’ bank accounts.

It was during this time, too, that hundreds of children 
and senior citizens were packed into buses, and the 
“Caravan of Hope” began its 10,000-mile, three-week 
trip across the country, attracting glowing editorial com­
ments on their behavior and performance. In addition to 
their own literature, church members handed out a 
booklet entitled Family Council on Crime Resistance, 
excellent for families coping with crime, but hypocritical 
in its objective: Jones was criminally destroying the 
family fibers of his own following.

With the public relations campaign in full swing, 
Jones simultaneously developed a political machine 
worthy of the envy of any politician. Again, the children 
and senior citizens formed the vital nucleus. Ukiah- 
Redwood Valley, in Mendocino County, provided their 
basic training. One of the people to benefit was Mrs. 
Wayne Boynton, then chairman of the Mendocino 
County Republican Party', of which Jones was a member. 
Mrs. Boy nton talked with the Los Angeles Times after 
the massacre:

They [Temple membership] were a dream come true. They 
would do precinct work. They would get information from 
the courthouse. They would do the grubbies—addressing 
envelopes, making phone calls. They’d do anything you d 
ask, and so quickly you couldn’t believe it.

According to children and parents interviewed by this 
writer, Mrs. Boynton’s work was completed in record 
time because Jones forced the children and adults to stay 
up all night to do it.
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Fifteen-year-old Linda Myrtle described the manda­
tory work done by young “volunteers” for one candidate 
Jones was supporting: “We would leave school and go to 
the Wirth headquarters and man the phones and ask 
people were they going to vote for Congressman Wirth. 
And if they said no, or whatever, we’d write it down.”

A father whose four children were drafted into the 
workings of the Temple’s political machine stated: “He 
[Jones] exploited the children unmercifully in his politi­
cal activities. Using the telephone directory, the kids 
would spend endless hours copying down names and 
writing letters for candidates.”

Other political chores included passing out leaflets the 
day before election and going door-to-door for Jones’ 
chosen candidates.

Year-round, for young and old, Wednesday was letter­
writing night, and everyone had to work a minimum of 
six hours. Jim Cobb described the technique as he 
remembered it during his teens in People’s Temple: 
“We would look at telephone books and get a first name 
here and a last name there and make up false names.” 
Richard D. Tropp, who won a Woodrow Wilson Fellow­
ship and had dreams of becoming a writer, headed up 
the letter-writing committee. Each person was given a 
copy of a letter Tropp had composed and an instruction 
sheet for variations of the draft letter. The following 
instruction sheet applied to a letter addressed to then 
Vice President Nelson Rockefeller.

SPECIAL LETTER TO GO OUT—EVERYONE MUST WRITE

Write a short letter thanking Vice-President Rockefeller for 
giving such a superb speech. Our Pastor, Jim Jones, thinks 
so very much of you (respects you, etc.) and appreciated all 
that you said at the Religion in American Life dinner the 
other night. Some—say that Pastor Jones told you about his 
great speech.
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You can also say things like:

—I think you are a great Vice-President.
—I wish you the best of success.
—All of our members at People's Temple Christian 

Church think the world of you.
—We need leaders like you in these times.
—Pastor Jones has always taught us to appreciate and 

respect governmental leaders, and has praised you 
often for your concern for people, etc.

—It is important to see leaders in government taking an 
interest in (and honoring) our nation’s religious 
leaders.

— We’ve looked to you often for wisdom and guidance 
and have found you to be a tremendous inspiration.

— I want you to know that whoever Pastor Jim Jones 
respects, I respect. And he thinks the world of you. You 
have done so much for the country, and for the office of 
the Vice-President

— You have shown courage and wisdom in so many 
issues, etc.

Do not seal your letter. Please have it done by tomorrow 
night’s meeting. It can be short. Put it in a stamped 
envelope, and address it to:

Vice-President Nelson Rockefeller 
Washington, D.C.

Put your return address on the letter. Use a previous 
address if you wish. Some can use a variation on this 
address—say Vice-President Rockefeller, or Nelson A. 
Rockefeller. Some can put on his address Office of the Vice- 
President, or Vice-President of the United States.

Other projects of People’s Temple were constant, 
consistent reminders to the political machine that Jones 
was essential to its success:
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1. The Temple bakery turned out cakes for the be­
reaved survivors listed in the daily obituary 
columns.

2. Telephone banks were set up before elections. 
Temple members called registered voters and so­
licited their votes for Jones’ hand-picked candi­
dates.

3. Children and adults canvassed door-to-door before 
the election, using the personal approach to get out 
the vote for the Temple’s selected candidate.

4. Little children, particularly, worked long, hard 
hours passing out campaign literature. Called ador­
able by the voters, they were most effective.

5. People’s Temple contributed sizable sums so that 
the candidates would not forget.

6. Jones supported both slates or candidates without 
either side’s knowledge. That way, he was always 
the winner.

7. Finally, People’s Temple Church served as a large 
and enthusiastic forum to feed the egos of candi­
dates.

With political wars come the spoils, and Jones knew 
exactly what he wanted. Important jobs in sensitive 
governmental departments (Mendocino County Welfare 
Department, the office of the district attorney, the 
sheriff’s office, the Police Dispatch Unit) became in­
creasingly available to People’s Temple members. Stra­
tegically placed, these people monitored their offices 
and departments and reported anything that hinted of 
potential trouble for Jones. It is small wonder that when 
teacher Ruby Bogner, who had filed a threat and harass­
ment charge against People’s Temple, inquired years 
later about the outcome of the charge, she was told that 
no record of such a complaint existed.
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The patronage system so effectively isolated Jones 
from governmental scrutiny that he was awarded high 
public profile appointments—foremanship of the Men­
docino County Grand Jury and a seat on the County 
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Board. 
These posts gave him a public platform from which he 
generated additional publicity. The publicity, in turn, 
provided him with more recruits for his church, and the 
increasing membership gained him more workers, more 
control, and more power.

With virtually total conquest of the communities of 
Ukiah and Redwood Valley, Jones began to recruit talent 
to serve his designs for expanded political action, mas­
sive public relations, and legal protection. San Francisco 
was his talent-draft choice. The minister knew that the 
volatile 1960s, with the Civil Rights upsurge, three 
assassinations, the Vietnam war, and the drug culture, 
had burned out many young people. He also realized 
that the San Francisco Bay Area was a magnet for 
disenchanted idealists. Combining charm and revolu­
tionary rhetoric, he captivated some young, very bright 
minds and enlisted them to help him lead People’s 
Temple into the 1970s.

The purchase of a fleet of buses gave his public 
relations “army” rapid mobility as he enlarged his week­
end sendees to both Los Angeles and San Francisco. 
During the early forays, he and his lieutenants visited 
local church services and rated the ministers’ perform­
ances. He also met with San Francisco politicians, evalu­
ated their strengths and weaknesses, and made index 
cards on them for future use. These early days of scout­
ing and reporting formed the basis for his overall strategy 
and actions in that city.

After six years of solid growth and political muscle­
testing in Mendocino County, Jones was ready for the 
move to San Francisco. In the spring of 1971, a long line 
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of buses and cars left Redwood Valley and transferred 
the People’s Temple central operation to a new location 
on Geary Street in the Fillmore district—the heart of the 
black community—of San Francisco.

Almost overnight, the Temple’s propaganda program 
was in full operation. In the tradition of Father Divine, 
Pastor Jim offered free meals, good health care, and 
convincing oratory on social justice. Realizing that his 
“good works” would attract members of black churches 
in the Fillmore district, Jones and his aides devised a 
plan to overcome the expected bitter opposition from 
black clergymen. The strategy was to win the confidence 
of one man: Carlton B. Goodlett, Ph.D., M.D., president 
of the National Newspaper Publishers Association and a 
leading figure in the black community, who had once run 
for governor against former Governor Edmund G. “Pat” 
Brown, and whose political views were “pro-Marxist 
socialism.”

Dr. Goodlett already had been profiled and catego­
rized by People’s Temple staff, and Jones knew Dr. 
Goodlett long before the black leader had ever heard 
of Jim Jones. Starting with his quarry’s name on a small 
3 by 5 index card, Jones charmed his way into the 
man’s heart and confidence. Goodlett would become his 
personal physician, his friend, and his defender in 
death.

As Jones predicted, the Fillmore clergymen were 
threatened by the inroads he was making into their 
memberships. During this crucial period, they formed a 
delegation to talk to Dr. Goodlett about the “white 
intruder.” After listening to their complaints, Goodlett 
offered this advice:

Listen, this man (Jones) looks to me like he’s pretty success­
ful in interpreting the functional gospel. I don’t know what 
brand of whiskey he drinks, but if he drinks a special brand 
of whiskey, you better drink it yourselves.
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So impressed was Goodlett with Jones that any time 
public criticism was leveled at People’s Temple or its 
pastor, the publisher would place his respected newspa­
per at Jones’ disposal to defend himself.

Goodlett was not the only member of the press se­
duced by Jones and his apparent good works. Son 
Francisco Chronicle columnist Herb Caen wrote glow­
ing accolades on People’s Temple, and Steve Gavin, city 
editor of the Son Francisco Examiner, attended Temple 
services and a testimonial dinner for the minister. Even 
after the Jonestown massacre, Gavin told Jeannie Kasin*  
dorf of Netc West Magazine:

[Jones] was a very exciting, very impressive person who 
said all the right things . . . possibly the most fascinating 
person I’ve ever met. He invited me to the service and it 
was a real high, this joyous kind of feeling of love and 
caring for each other.

Jones’ overtures to the press were effective for the first 
six years in San Francisco. His public image grew with 
each new article on his amazingly innovative drug abuse 
program, lunches for senior citizens, and crime preven­
tion programs for youths. The newspapers reported 
even thing the minister wanted in print, including his 
$500 donation to the family of California Highway 
Patrol Officer Al Turner, who was shot on the job, 
and a People’s Temple contribution of $4,400 “in de­
fense of the press.”

In January 1973, the San Francisco Chronicle ac­
cepted $500 from Jones’ “Free Press Fund” in good 
faith. In an article expressing his thanks, the publisher, 
Charles deYoung Thieriot, described People’s Temple 
for his readers:

Called less formally PT, the church is best known and 
highly regarded for its social works, which include housing 
and feeding senior citizens and medical convalescents, 
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maintaining a home for retarded boys, rehabilitating youth­
ful drug users and assisting non-members as well as mem­
bers of the faith through college and legal difficulties.

So within eighteen months of opening the new church 
on Geary Street, Jones could comfortably count on the 
support of and promotion from local media. He also 
knew the exact needs of the politicians. He and his 
workers, dubbed “the troops,” soon became an awesome 
commodity in political circles. Said one high Democratic 
State Committee staff person, “They were made to order. 
You should have seen it—old ladies on crutches, whole 
families, little kids . . .” Jones was noted for his abil­
ity to turn out a crowd of 2,000 with only a six-hour 
notice.

The minister’s public relations plan also called for the 
infiltration of other influential organizations with media 
and political connections. While going through the San 
Francisco Temple Church with NBC Netos, this writer 
found a NAACP membership card for Larry Layton 
(who has been tried in Guyana for his role in the 
shooting of Congressman Ryan and others). Layton 
was one of 300 members of People’s Temple for whom 
Jones paid the ten-dollar membership dues in the 
NAACP. They literally took over the local branch, and 
shortly thereafter, Jones was elected to the board of 
directors. A similar move was made to take over the 
Black Leadership Forum in San Francisco, but an astute 
change in the bylaws by its membership saved that 
organization.

At the same time, an internal master plan was devised 
for use in discrediting any critics of People’s Temple, 
whether defectors or investigators from the media or 
government. The plan was called “Diversions Depart­
ment and operated as described in Jim Cobb’s lawsuit 
against Jones:
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A. Defectors ir Critics Division: To divert individual per­
sons, particularly ex-members of People’s Temple and 
outspoken critics thereof, from publicizing and from 
organizing in opposition to the practices of defendants 
JONES and PEOPLE’S TEMPLE, by threatening such 
persons with death and injury to their persons and 
properties, including threats that their homes will be 
burned;

B. Government <? Media Division: To divert agencies of 
government and of the media from investigating the 
practices of defendants JONES and PEOPLE’S TEM­
PLE by:
(1) . “Bombarding” them with continual mass volumes of 
letters written in longhand by People’s Temple mem­
bers conscripted as part of “letter-writing committees” 
which allege various types of unjustified harassment; 
and
(2) . Making anonymous telephone calls to agencies of 
government and the media, which accuse totally inno­
cent persons selected at random of heinous crimes and 
immoral acts (particularly crimes and acts related to 
those for which defendant JONES feared he was about 
to be accused); and

C. General Public Division: To divert the public from 
focusing upon the questionable practices of defendants 
JONES and PEOPLE’S TEMPLE by publishing press 
releases and other communications which falsely ac­
cuse the critics of such practices as being sexual devi­
ates, terrorists, drug traffickers or child molesters.

The operation was used liberally in general, but most 
extensively' against Tim Stoen after he defected and 
joined forces with the Concerned Relatives. A People s 
Temple letter to the U.S. Agency for International De­
velopment charged: “The Stoens instigated his [Jones] 
relationship with Grace, over Tim’s pleas to protect his 
reputation from embarrassment of threatened exposure 
of his transvestite patterns.”
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* The coalition Jones built between political leaders 
and the media gave him an unassailable position in the 
power structure of San Francisco up to the mid-1970s. 
His army of political “volunteers” were used to support 
whomever he wished to put in office. To the powerful 
weapons at his command was added another—fear. As 
word spread that Jones wouldn’t hesitate to discredit or 
destroy anyone who got in his way or crossed him or his 
cause, more and more politicians felt uneasy about him.

The years 1975 and 1976 were his political zenith. In 
1975, George Moscone ran for mayor and Joe Freitas for 
district attorney. Jones threw his workers—children, 
teen-agers, and elderly—behind the two men, and they 
both won very tight races—Moscone by a mere 4,000 
votes and Freitas by about 9,000. The closeness of these 
elections gave Jones significant new leverage, prompt­
ing State Assemblyman Willie Brown’s assessment: “In 
a tight race like the ones that George and Joe had, forget 
it without Jones.” Jones was rewarded with the appoint­
ment to chairmanship of the city’s Housing Authority, 
and Tim Stoen, then his trusted lawyer, joined the staff of 
District Attorney Freitas.

With this high public profile, more awards began to 
come, some of them engineered by Jones and his staff. In 
April 1975, he was named “one of the 100 most outstand­
ing clergymen in the nation” by Religion in American 
Life, Inc., an interfaith organization. Dr. Goodlett’s 
newspaper, the Sun Reporter, presented him with a 
Citizen s Merit Award” for his dedication to social 

justice. And in January 1976, a most coveted award, 
“Humanitarian of the Year,” was bestowed on Pastor 
Jones by the Los Angeles Herald. This award gave 
People’s Temple a platform from which to boast of its 
generous financial support to worthy causes and organi­
zations: the Fresno Bee Newsmen, the Telegraph-Hill 
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Medical Clinic, American Cancer Society, Mendocino 
County Heart Association, Sickle-Cell Anemia Testing 
Program, Educational Broadcasting Stations, Big 
Brothers of America; and to antihunger groups: Bread for 
the World, North of Market Senior Escort Program, and 
even the Police Fishing Program.

While all this was merely token support to further 
build Jones' credibility in the Bay Area, it paid off when 
state Democratic officials solicited his help with a sched­
uled visit from Rosalyn Carter, who was campaigning for 
her husband’s successful bid for the Presidency. Jones 
had already figured prominently in campaign functions 
for Lieutenant Governor Mervyn Dymally, Governor 
Jerry Brown, Tom Hayden (husband of actress Jane 
Fonda), and others.

In retrospect, Mrs. Carter’s visit to San Francisco on 
September 14, 1976, was not one of the Secret Service’s 
finest hours. The rally for the future First Lady was held 
at a Market Street storefront serving as the Democratic 
campaign headquarters for Jimmy Carter. People’s Tem­
ple buses parked behind the store after depositing the 
children and elderly, who strategically filled the front 
rows of chairs. Jones arrived with a score of armed 
bodyguards, some of whom were convicted felons with 
records of aggravated assault.

The United States Secret Service worked hand in hand 
with Jones’ security force, searching the area for bombs 
and “suspicious characters who may be armed.’’ At one 
point, a bodyguard of Jones’ pointed to a man he sus­
pected of carrying a weapon. The Secret Service agent 
duly approached and searched the man. At the same 
time, a Democratic official spotted a gun on one of Jones’ 
bodyguards and voiced his concern to the Secret Service, 
but was told it was “OK.”

Since the audience was packed with People s 1 emple 
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members, Jones received more applause than anyone, 
including Mrs. Carter. She and her advance team were 
most impressed and pleased with Jones and the enthusi­
astic turnout. She readily agreed to his request for a 
private audience later in the day.

That evening, Jones pulled into the prestigious Stan­
ford Court Hotel’s courtyard in a chauffeured limousine, 
followed by two other cars. To the amazement of the 
Carter people and the Secret Service, Jones entered the 
hotel with at least a dozen armed bodyguards in dress 
suits. It took some intense reassuring and quiet but firm 
maneuvering by the Carter advance team to separate the 
guards from Jones.

No one knows precisely what was discussed, but close 
aides to the minister reported that the Guyana project 
and Carter’s campaign in California were priority sub­
jects. Apparently, a mutually satisfactory agreement was 
reached, for shortly afterward, 200 to 250 “volunteers” 
from People’s Temple turned up to work for the Central 
Committee’s “Get-Out-The-Vote” drive for Carter. Ac­
cording to party officials, the Temple youths and senior 
citizens made up more than 10 percent of the entire 
state’s campaign volunteer effort.

On September 25, 1976, eleven days after Mrs. 
Carter’s entourage left San Francisco, the Establishment 
turned out en masse to honor Reverend Jim Jones at his 
church. The guest list was a political spectrum, from the 
chainnan of the Republican Party in Mendocino County 
to leading Democrats in San Francisco. There was 
Angela Davis on the far left, and a leading member of the 
John Birch Society on the far right. In between were all 
the important politicians, media, and civic personalities 
of the city: Lieutenant Governor Mervyn Dymally, State 
Senator Milton Marks, Mayor George Moscone, District 
Attorney Joseph Freitas, Supervisor Robert Mendelsohn, 
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1 dice Chief Charles Gain, Dr. Goodlett of the Sun 
Reporter, Steve Gavin of the San Francisco Chron­
icle, and members of the Gay Movement.

As the children of People’s Temple unobtrusively 
provided entertainment and served food, State Assem­
blyman Willie Brown, the master of ceremonies, added 
another jewel of praise to the cult leader’s promotional 
crown:

Jim Jones is a rare, rare, rare specimen. Jim Jones is a 
symbol of what we all ought to be about. . .Jim Jones is, in 
my opinion, a true human being. Let me present to you 
what you should see every day when you look into the 
mirror in the early morning hours. Let me present to you a 
combination of Martin Luther King, Angela Davis, Albert 
Einstein, Chairman Mao . . .

The crowd roared its approval with a standing ovation.
With an eye on expanding horizons, Jim Jones also 

sought public approval by national leaders. The 
Temple’s files show endorsements from, among others, 
the late Hubert H. Humphrey, Jane Fonda, and Roy 
Wilkins. (This respectability later proved very costly to 
the parents who, fighting to free their children from the 
cult, were rebuffed and neutralized in their efforts.)

The work of Reverend Jones and his congregation is testi­
mony to the positive and truly Christian approach to deal­
ing with the myriad problems confronting our society 
today.

Hubert H. Humphrey

During this period when there are such serious problems 
with which our minorities are faced, it is encouraging to 
learn that there is such an effective effort which is being 
made by the People’s Temple.

Roy Wilkins
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Much of what America needs to resolve its overwhelming 
social problems has become embodied into the life of Jim 
Jones and the works of People’s Temple.

Jane Fonda

Reverend Jim Jones has been a friend to hundreds of youth 
in the city, and his church has rehabilitated many from drug 
use, helped young people out of legal difficulty and antiso­
cial patterns . . . His church has taken . . . children 
abandoned by parents and unwanted by agencies.

Joseph E. Hall
NAACP, San Francisco branch

Ninety-nine percent of all the work done by People’s 
Temple is in service to the elderly, poor families, and 
troubled youth ... It is most unfortunate that some people 
. . . feel threatened by this simple organization and philos­
ophy of service.

Art Agnos, majority whip 
California State Assembly

I am grateful . . . for . . . the work of the People’s Temple 
Christian Church in defending the First Amendment guar­
antees of freedom of the press . . . and in running the ranch 
for handicapped children.

Walter F. Mondale

I say without qualification that this church has been second 
to none in preventing crime . . . They have donated 
thousands of dollars to city-sponsored fund drives for the 
purpose of creating summer jobs for youth and programs for 
cultural enrichment. They have sent some of their wayward 
youth to their large agricultural mission in South America 
entirely at their own cost.

Joe Johnson, former deputy mayor
City of San Francisco

At different times when Vice President Mondale and 
Attorney General Griffin Bell visited San Francisco, Jim 
Jones was invited to meet with Mondale on Air Force 
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One and with Bell at a private dinner at the home of the 
influential lawyer Robert Wallach. Now the reverend’s 
political clout spanned the nation—from a black ghetto 
on the West Coast to the White House and the halls of 
the Justice Department in Washington.

Amidst the adulation for Jim Jones from the unin­
formed and the compromised, a handful of inquisitive 
reporters had their doubts. As far back as 1972, Lester 
Kinsolving, religious editor for the San Francisco Exam­
iner, prepared a series of articles on the minister. Two 
installments—“The Prophet Who Raises the Dead” and 
“Healing Prophet Hailed as God”—were published be­

fore management buckled under a barrage of letters and 
phone calls and nonstop picketing by People’s Temple 
children and adults. The picketing got extensive TV and 
newspaper coverage. However, not one reporter ques­
tioned why the children, who marched all day without a 
rest or lunch, were not in school. No mention was made, 
either, of the children’s dinner of dry peanut butter 
sandwiches (partially frozen) and a small drink of Kool- 
Aid while they continued to march.

In 1977, Gordon Lindsay, of the National Enquirer, 
also wrote an expose on Jones, but threats of libel action 
made the national weekly decide not to run it. Marshall 
Kilduff, of the San Francisco Examiner, was more tena­
cious when he asked his editor, Steve Gavin, if he could 
look into People’s Temple. Gavin, by his own admission, 
was impressed with Jones and did not give his reporter 
permission to investigate either the church or its leader, 
who by now was constantly surrounded by armed guards 
and refused to be interviewed.

Kilduff' took his story concept to New West Magazine, 
where senior editor Kevin Starr liked the idea for an 
investigative piece and gave the young reporter the 
green light. It was not an easy assignment. Jim Jones 
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knew almost immediately that someone was investigat­
ing him; he also knew that neither he nor his power 
base—the People’s Temple—could withstand a critical 
examination. On Valentine’s Day in 1977, Starr was 
visited by a group of People’s Temple lawyers and other 
personnel. The next day, Starr wrote to Marshall Kilduff:

A large delegation from the I’T called upon me yesterday 
and convinced me that further publicity at this time would 
have a bad effect upon the church’s ministry. New West 
Magazine has no wish to interfere with the most important 
work of the PT at this time. New West Magazine is very 
interested in maintaining good community relations. I am 
therefore asking you not to do the PT story.

A copy of the letter was sent to Jim Jones.
Kilduff then took the story to the San Francisco Maga­

zine, but it too turned down the idea after a visit from the 
same People’s Temple delegation. The investigation 
appeared to be dead until a new ownership took over 
New West. Kevin Starr was out, and Rosalie Muller 
Wright, the new editor, liked the story and assigned Phil 
Tracy to work with Marshall Kilduff on the piece.

Jones now attempted to kill the story in two ways. 
First, he applied pressure on New West. Rupert Mur­
doch, the new owner, was inundated in New York with 
letters and phone calls, as were the advertisers, who 
were urged to pull their ads out of the publication. This 
time most of the letters were not fictitious. They were 
from the powerful whom Jones had helped. Even the 
San Francisco branch of the American Civil Liberties 
Union intervened to try to kill the expose.

Second, the Temple’s propaganda mill went into over­
time operation. Reams of heartwarming stories flooded 
the public and the mailboxes of Temple supporters. 
Photos of children were used extensively in a series of 
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new brochures about the People’s Temple in Guyana. 
One photograph showed more than fifteen little children 
holding toys, sucking their thumbs, but all waving “a 
fond goodbye to Pastor Jones as he leaves to come back 
to California.” In a special Thanksgiving message, Jones 
wrote:

Each day the children grow more self-assured, blossoming 
in all their beauty and creativity, free to express themselves 
and so healthy and happy . . . The seniors seem to have 
grown younger . . . the little children look forward eagerly 
to their visit to the seniors’ homes. The medical clinic has 
been compared to Dr. Schweitzer’s hospital in Africa . . .

For the first time, Jones played down the appeal for 
money as he closed his informative letter with: “I urge 
you to take advantage of this opportunity to express your 
gratitude and strengthen your point of contact with the 
spirit of Love.”

When it became apparent that publication of the New 
West article was imminent, Jones panicked, and in what 
appeared to be a spontaneous decision, hustled the 
children out of the country to Guyana. The People’s 
Temple Agricultural Project Progress Report for the 
summer of 1977 was hastily prepared and widely distrib­
uted. The brochure depicted a jungle paradise with 
beautiful children in school situations, playing in the 
playground, always smiling and waving to the photogra­
pher—thus documenting the image that Jones needed to 
counter the bad publicity expected from the New West 
article.

The Temple’s own newspaper, People’s Forum, 
cranked out articles about how effectively Jones was 
helping children, as well as other child-related articles: 
“Our Children Are Our Wealth,” “Black Child Develop­
ment,” “\outh Crime,” “Hunger in the U.S.: Children 
Without Food,” and, ironically, “Children Brutalized.” 
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Newspaper rehashes of favorable articles bordered on 
the ridiculous—for example, the column by Guy Wright 
in the San Francisco Examiner, June 9, 1977. Entitled 
“Fresh Start in a Jungle for the City Misfits,” the piece 
relied entirely on Jones for information in telling how 
youngsters were going straight in the jungle under the 
wise and kind tutelage of Father Jones. Wright ended 
the article with this alleged statement by a troubled 
teen-ager of his first day in Jonestown, as Jones de­
scribed it:

He [Jones] told about a new arrival who woke up to the 
tropical dawn, the song of exotic birds, the soft kiss of the 
trade winds. The young man threw his arms out and 
shouted, “Man, the Fillmore has seen the last of me!”

To the credit of New West Magazine, Jones, with all 
his power and diverse contacts, failed to control the 
media in San Francisco totally. Two weeks before publi­
cation of its expose, Jim Jones fled the country, never to 
return again alive. With him went the remainder of the 
children and senior citizens. His political workers were 
transplanted in a foreign country where, without their 
knowledge, Jones offered their services to the Prime 
Minister for future elections.

From the jungle, Jones and his faithful planned a 
counteroffensive. The strategy was threefold: 1) Use the 
politicians and media to neutralize the New West 
charges of abuse in People’s Temple, 2) discredit the 
informers and obtain glowing comments from “impartial 
observers,” and 3) totally cloud the issue by bringing on 
Mark Lane, the notorious exposer of government “con­
spiracies,” to act as legal counselor.

Sympathetic politicians and press fell quickly into 
line. The mayor’s office issued the following statement 
concerning the magazine expose:
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I have read the recent well-publicized article concerning 
the Reverend Jim Jones and the PT and find it to be a series 
of allegations with absolutely no hard evidence that the 
Rev. Jim Jones has violated any laws, either local, state or 
federal. The Mayor’s Office does not and will not conduct 
any investigations on the Rev. Jones or the PT.

District Attorney Joe Freitas announced, however, 
that his office, under the jurisdiction of his special 
prosecutor, Robert Graham, would conduct an investiga­
tion into the affairs of People’s Temple, but nothing ever 
came of it.

Columnist Herb Caen wrote that Jones was most 
anxious to return to the States to defend himself but 
couldn’t act against the advice of his attorney. He then 
quoted Jones’ public relations man, Mike Prokes: “This 
campaign against Jim is orchestrated at the highest level, 
perhaps FBI or CIA.’’ Dr. Goodlett leveled his criticism 
at the people who had given the two reporters their 
information for the New West story, calling them “mal­
contents, psychoneurotics, and, in some instances, pro­
vocateurs—probably Establishment agents.”

A notable religious leader, Reverend John V. Moore, 
former superintendent of the United Methodist Church 
of northern California, and his wife visited “impressive 
and amazing” Jonestown during the summer of 1978 to 
see their two daughters and grandson. On his return, 
Moore had this to say:

I had a feeling of freedom. Neither in Georgetown, with 
twenty-five or thirty people coming and going all the time 
with total freedom, nor at the project itself did I have any 
feeling that anybody was being restrained or coerced or 
intimidated in any way.

The most powerful weapon employed by People’s 
Temple in its counterattack, however, was attorney 
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Mark Lane, who, after a quick trip to Jonestown, 
thundered to the press that he would soon file a mul­
timillion-dollar suit against various government agen­
cies for their conspiracy to destroy Jonestown. “The 
long silence has ended, and the offensive is about to 
begin,” he vowed.

Lane then told the press a story, overlooked in the 
aftermath of the tragedy, to prove his conspiratorial 
claim. According to him, twenty employees of Inter­
pol (the International Criminal Police Commission) 
were sent on a “trans-jungle trek . . . armed with 
rocket launchers and small arms” to free the children 
of Jonestown from its reported evil influence. The 
group, Lane continued,

was [instructed] to fire on the colony’s generator build­
ing, darkening the compound, cut their way through 
barbed wire, and trek over mine fields to rescue the 
children. . . . Not finding these conditions, they con­
tented themselves with sniping at the compound for six 
days, and after being invited in and treated well, they 
felt used by the people who sent them.

Lane also claimed at that time to have a “full statement 
by the leader” of the alleged battalion, but he never 
released it.

Goodlett’s paper, the Sun Reporter, published Lane’s 
findings. Under a picture of happy, smiling Temple 
children holding a large poster that said, “FREE,” the 
caption read:

The People’s Temple settlement in Jonestown, Guyana, 
has been described as an armed camp, where people are 
held against their will and harshly disciplined. Attorney 
Mark Lane says he has investigated the charges and found 
them to be false and part of a government-inspired plot to 
destroy this unique experiment in socialist living. The 
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youngsters at Jonestown, pictured above, appear to agree 
with Lane’s assessment . . .

In a confidential, attomey/client communication, titled 
“Projected Offensive Program for the People’s Temple,” 
Mark Lane gave Jim Jones the perfect scapegoat(s) he 
needed to divert attention away from how terrifying life 
had become in the Temple, especially at Jonestown:

Even a cursory examination reveals that there has been a 
coordinated campaign to destroy the People’s Temple and 
to impugn the reputation of its leader, Bishop Jim Jones. 
This campaign has involved various agencies of the U.S. 
Government, agencies of various states and the action of 
numerous individuals who at the present time cannot be 
proven to have a working relationship with the state or 
federal authorities. Among the suspect organizations are 
the Central Intelligence Agency, the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation, the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. Post 
Office, the Federal Communication Commission and their 
agents and employees.

In the same memo, under the heading “Public Rela­
tions Counter-Offensive,” Lane suggested that Marce­
line Jones, Terri Buford, and he “embark upon a cam­
paign following the San Francisco press conference in 
which we appear on numerous radio and TV talk pro­
grams.” The aim was to “create an appropriate and 
trustful image of the People’s Temple among organi­
zations on the Left in the U.S. and among Black orga­
nizations in the U.S.”

At the very end, still another public relations extrava­
ganza was planned—a benefit dinner honoring Jones to 
show continuing community support for him. Fliers 
were printed announcing the $25-per-person, tax-de­
ductible dinner program, entitled “A Struggle Against 
Oppression,” at the Hyatt Regency Hotel on December 
2, 1978.
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Listed as master of ceremonies was the powerful 
California state assemblyman, Willie L. Brown, Jr. 
Among the speakers were to be attorneys Mark Lane and 
Charles Garry, with Dick Gregory the special guest 
speaker. On the back of the flier, under the endorse­
ments of seventy-six prominent leaders in the Bay Area, 
was a picture of three beautiful children. Next to the 
photograph was a quote from Jim Jones:

When I see the seniors happy and productive—when I see 
the children of every race gathered together to perform a 
play—I know we are living to the fullest. Life without 
principles is devoid of meaning. We have tasted life based 
on total equality, and now we have no desire to live 
otherwise.

After the massacre, those invited to speak at the 
benefit had their excuses. Willie Brown complained that 
Jones “hustled us politicians,” and Dick Gregory 
blamed the CIA. Mark Lane wrote a book in which he 
said the “strongest poison” was not that “placed in the 
mouths of the children in Jonestown,” but rather the 
poison of conspiracy directed at him, Lane, by the 
government and the press.



“I walked down a very lonely street. 
There was no one there-just 
Stillness in the lonely street. 

The Wind whistled there. 
I was lost-I know."

David Chaikin, aged fifteen, murdered in 
Jonestown, Guyana

7. The Paralysis and Failure 
of Government

The camage at Jonestown resulted from a chain of 
events—a succession of small tragedies at the heart of 
which was the lack of basic honesty in government. The 
children of People’s Temple especially were betrayed, 
as both the federal government and the state of Califor­
nia ignored their rights as human beings and citizens of 
this country. Most appalling were the actions of the 
California courts, which willingly served as the tools of 
People’s Temple lawyers. Completely defenseless 
youngsters and teen-agers were at the mercy of judges 
who assigned them to lives of living hell. Even after the

116
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massacre, those courts and California officials, including 
Governor Brown, closed ranks in a conspiracy of silence 
to cover up their own insensitivity in a system that 
culminated in Jonestown.

Federal investigations and state inquiries have been 
directed primarily at what money did or did not go into 
the treasury of People’s Temple. No investigation has 
yet even suggested that the money had an integral 
relationship to the innocent children. Nor have any 
studies admitted to the possibility of political corruption, 
governmental neglect, or the fact that Jones, in large 
part, short-circuited administrative agencies that could 
have saved the lives of those children caught up in the 
madness of his political empire. Instead, congressional 
inquiries and hearings on Jonestown have found no one 
to blame.

In preparation for hearings on child abuse in institu­
tions, California Senator Alan Cranston’s subcommittee 
on Child and Human Development raised the issue of 
foster care children in People’s Temple. Senator Cran­
ston asked the General Accounting Office to try to 
determine whether federal funds had been used to 
support the Temple’s children while they were out of 
the country. Cranston also wanted to know if any foster 
care children had died in Jonestown.

In May 1979, in testimony before the committee, 
Franklin Curtis, associate director of GAO’s Human 
Resources Division, presented little more than demo­
graphics on sixteen foster care minors in Jonestown. This 
typical stance of government to depersonalize human 
beings served to lessen the impact of their death and 
make those responsible seem less so. In describing a 
twelve-year-old black girl who garnered $6,290 in fos­
ter-care funds for Jones, the federal government pre­
sented the following skeletal profile:
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CASE S: This child was in foster care during two time 
periods with two different, non-related guardians who 
were People s Temple members. She went to Guyana 
in August, 1977. Information is not available at this 
time on who accompanied this child to Guyana. She is 
on the Department of State’s list of verified deceased.

Symbolic of the government’s total failure to act on 
behalf of children for reasons of political expediency, 
Case S was, in fact, Julie Ann Runnels, a pretty little girl 
described as “spirited” and “full of life” until the day 
when she was splattered with chicken blood from one of 
Jim Jones’ “cancer cures.” From then on, Julie Ann 
fought for her independence, her spirit, and finally her 
life, against insurmountable odds held by every level of 
government in concert with the powerful cult leader.

Julie Ann’s mother, Eddie Jewel Runnels, disabled by 
blindness, was duped into signing her daughter over to a 
People’s Temple guardianship—one of many that would 
escape government scrutiny and fatten Jim Jones’ trea­
sury. Julie’s guardianship file grew thick as People’s 
Temple and authorities responded to pressure from Mrs. 
Grace Kennedy, the child’s great-aunt, who loved the 
little girl and wanted her to be free and happy. Mrs. 
Kennedy knew' instinctively that things were not right in 
People’s Temple, and she tried to persuade her niece, 
Eddie Jewel, not to become deeply involved in the 
church. How'ever, the young mother, who could sign her 
name only with an “X,” w'as easy prey for Temple 
lawyers, and soon Julie joined the ranks of other hapless 
children who were nothing more than bureaucratic pa­
per work for the courts.

Mrs. Kennedy decided to fight. A second job gave her 
enough money to hire a lawyer. While her resources 
were no match for the powerful Jones, she did win one 
small concession—visitation privileges—which created 
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fear and apprehension in People’s Temple. Eugene 
Chaikin and Tim Stoen, who had initially created the 
guardianship scam, brought in a third attorney, James W. 
Luther of Ukiah, to handle this particular case. Counter­
ing the great-aunt’s modest demand for visitation, Luther 
filed a long brief entitled “Memorandum of Points and 
Authorities (No. 15408) in the Superior Court of the State 
of California for the County of Mendocino.” This situa­
tion was unlike other cases, in which no one looked over 
their shoulders, and the lawyer wanted the judge to rule 
out any possibility that Mrs. Kennedy would question 
them on the grounds that Julie’s guardian, Paulette 
Jackson, was a full-time worker and not a licensed foster 
care parent:

Although this is basically a very straightforward case, which 
clearly justifies the appointment of a guardian by the 
standards of Section 1440 of the Probate Code, i.e., . . . 
there has been inserted into this action an irrelevant issue 
pertaining to custody rights. Mrs. Grace Kennedy, of San 
Francisco, who has the remote relationship to the minor of 
“great-aunt,” has indicated an intention to contest the 
appointment of the guardian unless she gets visiting privi­
leges in accordance with a specific schedule that requires 
overnight visits . . .

What is so unreasonable and surprising about this demand 
is the fact that a great-aunt has absolutely no custody rights 
under the law and certainly could not force her wishes 
upon the mother if the mother did not, because she is in fact 
blind, require some assistance with the care of her child. 
The great-aunt seeks to take advantage of the admirable 
concern of the mother for the highest possible care for her 
minor by demanding the following:

That, whenever the minor is in San Francisco, she can visit 
the aunt and that, whenever the minor is in Los Angeles, 
she can visit another relative. The minor travels with the 
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mother and the petitioner every' weekend to San Francisco 
and Los Angeles, which means that the minor would be 
taken away from the normal arrangements of care and 
training accorded her in order to satisfy'' this unreasonable 
demand of her remote relative . . . The mother indicates 
that in the past she and the child have visited the aunt but 
have had to terminate the visit because of the great-aunt’s 
disagreements with her on how the child should be raised. 
The mother is prepared to testify on the stand that the great- 
aunt has sought to discredit the mother’s religious prefer­
ences.

Finally, the lawyer begged the court that the wishes of 
the mother and Jones’ appointed guardian “be respected 
for the growth and well-being of the child and that no 
remote relative should be permitted to introduce irrele­
vant issues in a simple guardianship matter.’’

On November 4, 1974, California Superior Court 
Judge Arthur B. Broaddus ruled that visitation rights by 
the great-aunt would not be proper in a guardianship, 
but he strongly' suggested that “the guardian make every 
effort to see that the great-aunt, Grace Kennedy, has 
ample and reasonable opportunity to visit the child.” He 
also chided the woman: “The court sees no reason why 
anyone should discuss religious doctrine before, during, 
or after any of the visitations.” According to Mrs. Ken­
nedy, she was told never to mention the name of Jim 
Jones around Julie again.

That was a difficult point of the court order for the 
great-aunt to obey. When Julie came for her occa­
sional visits, she was always depressed when it was 
time to return to the Temple. She told her aunt, “I 
want to come and stay with you and go to the school 
across the street. On one occasion, she appeared in 
dirty rags and wearing soleless shoes. Mrs. Kennedy 
took her to Sears and outfitted her with shoes, socks, 
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underwear, and a coat. She bought her an Easter bas­
ket once, but, as with other things, Julie Ann was 
afraid to take it back. The aunt said that when the 
child would return from a visit to her, “the People s 
Temple people would pick her soul and beat her if 
she told me anything. When Julie was still only 
seven years old, Grace Kennedy recalled dropping 
her off at the Temple: “I’ll never forget the look on 
Julie Ann’s face. She was transformed into a different 
person as fear spread across her little face.’’

Mrs. Kennedy did whatever she could to protect her 
great-niece from Jim Jones. After the child began to take 
the long weekend bus trips to Los Angeles to insure a 
packed church for Jones, her aunt attempted to make 
arrangements for Julie’s father to visit her. But when the 
great-aunt or the father entered the Los Angeles Temple 
church, they were insulted and searched but never got to 
see Julie Ann. Finally, the little girl stopped coming to 
see her relative. She dropped out of sight, and the 
caring great-aunt never saw her again alive.

Little Julie Ann Runnels and the other children were 
swept up by events they were unable to understand. 
Like sticks in a stream, they were carried away to the 
distant land of Guyana. They could have been saved 
more than once if only the authorities—local, state, 
federal—had not been compromised and subsequently 
become unable or unwilling to act on behalf of the 
children.

On March 31, 1977, the American Embassy in George­
town was informed by the Guyanese Minister of Foreign 
Affairs that 380 “immigrants” from People’s Temple 
would be arriving in Guyana. Jones told Guyanese 
officials that these immigrants “representfed] some of 
the most skilled and progressive elements of [his] orga­
nization and, as such, [were] most vulnerable to state 
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repression on the part of American authorities.” In 
August 1977, the first group arrived, accompanied by a 
$500,(XX) check to “assist in the settlement of these 
skilled people”—who were, as it turned out, young 
children (including Julie Ann) and senior citizens.

Both American and Guyanese officials, who were ex­
pecting hearty adult pioneers, were alarmed to see so 
many young children flooding into Georgetown and 
quickly disappearing into the agricultural settlement in 
the northern jungle. Their concern heightened when it 
was pointed out to them by Joe Mazor, a private investi­
gator from San Francisco, that the children were being 
held there against their will. Mazor claimed he had been 
retained by the parents of seven People’s Temple chil­
dren to arrange for their return to the United States. 
Consul Richard McCoy’s official posture was reflected in 
his correspondence with the State department:

Since a custody dispute is not at issue, consul suggests that 
if parents can afford trip, they should consider coming to 
Guyana and, with the help of Mazor’s local attorney, pick 
up the children and return with them to the U.S.

Jones sensed the growing concern and started a public 
relations campaign that labeled many of the children 
“troubled youths" whom the courts had entrusted to his 
care because of People’s Temple’s proven success with 
such delinquents. Still, lower-echelon Guyanese immi­
gration officials expressed worry about the number of 
children entering the country without parents, but were 
told by their superiors that their anxieties were ill- 
founded.

American authorities also noted that there were many 
more children at Jonestown than was normal for the few 
families and parents there at that time. On August 30, 
1977, Richard McCoy confronted Jones and asked him 



THE PARALYSIS AND FAILURE OF GOVERNMENT 123

point-blank if the children were in Guyana illegally. 
Jones was visibly surprised by the question, but evenly 
answered that the children were court-appointed to 
People’s Temple custody. However, McCoy returned to 
Georgetown and immediately cabled the State Depart­
ment in Washington the following message concerning 
the legality of approximately 130 to 150 American young 
people then residing in Jonestown under questionable 
status:

. . . FRANKLY, ENTIRE SITUATION SEEMS VERY STRANGE 
SINCE CHILDREN FOR MOST PART HAVE ONLY BEEN IN 
GUYANA NO MORE THAN FOUR MONTHS. SOMEONE HAD TO 
APPLY FOR PASSPORTS FOR THEM AND ALLOW THEM TO 
TRAVEL. A SEPARATE QUESTION PERTAINS TO THE CHIL­
DREN WHO HAVE BEEN AWARDED TO JONES AND OTHER 
MEMBERS OF THE PEOPLE’S TEMPLE BY THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA. PRESUMABLY COURTS THERE AGREED TO 
THEIR REMOVAL FROM STATE JURISDICTION WHEN THEY 
WERE BROUGHT HERE. IF NOT, ARE THEN JONES AND 
PEOPLE’S TEMPLE IN VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA LAW? 
ACTION REQUESTED: SINCE ABOUT 130-150 CHILDREN ARE 
HERE WHO REPORTEDLY WERE FORMERLY CONSIDERED TO 
BE WARDS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, REQUEST DE­
PARTMENT CONTACT APPROPRIATE STATE OFFICIAL CON­
CERNING THIS QUESTION AND INFORM EMBASSY WHETHER 
THIS WILL BE AN ADDITIONAL PROBLEM . . .

Upon receipt of this cable, the State Department 
telephoned California officials. On September 13, 1977, 
the following message was drafted and sent to McCoy in 
Guyana:

DEPT. OFFICER CONTACTED CALIFORNIA STATE DEPT. OF 
BENEFITS PAYMENTS, COUNSEL FOR CHILD SUPPORT AND 
SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT DIVISION FOR RESPONSE TO 
EMBASSY’S QUESTION . . . STATE OFFICIAL STATED THAT 
COUNTY OFFICIALS HAVE PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY IN
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CUSTODY MATTERS. STATE OFFICIAL UNABLE TO ASSIST 
WITHOUT NAMES OF CHILDREN AND CALIFORNIA PLACE OF 
RESIDENCE. AT PRESENT HE HAD NO KNOWLEDGE OF GEN­
ERALIZED OR SPECIFIC COMPLAINTS ABOUT CHILDREN AL­
LEGEDLY REMOVED FROM CALIFORNIA. STATE OFFICIAL 
CONFIRMS THAT COURT PERMISSION IS REQUIRED TO RE­
MOVE WARDS OF THE COURT.

Even though California officials responded to the State 
Department, confirming it was illegal for children to he 
removed from the United States without court orders, 
and requested the names of the children in question, the 
American Embassy in Guyana never pursued the matter 
aggressively. After several futile attempts to obtain the 
150 names from Jones, the matter was dropped. It 
remained a low priority even after the massacre. In a 
782-page report of the main investigation by the House 
Foreign Affairs Committee (T/ie Assassination of Repre­
sentative Leo J. Ryan and the Jonestown, Guyana, Trag­
edy), only two paragraphs were devoted to the children. 
One of those paragraphs, however, stated:

The Staff Investigative Group [of the committee] was 
informed by State Department witnesses that the U.S. 
Embassy in Guyana was never asked by California welfare 
officials to check on the welfare and whereabouts of Califor­
nia foster children reportedly living in Jonestown. The U.S. 
Embassy, however, was aware that some foster children 
may have been living there and asked the State Department 
to determine whether it was legal for such wards of the state 
to leave the United States. One department witness said 
that he queried appropriate California authorities and was 
told that court permission was required to take them out of 
the state. This same official also discerned some reluctance 
on the part of these authorities to talk about the subject.

It is safe to say that the “reluctance” which the State 
Department encountered on the subject of children 
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being spirited out of the country during the summer of 
1977 is now standard policy throughout every branch 
and level of state government in California. No one with 
any authority will discuss the subject of how or why the 
bureaucracy failed to save the lives of 276 minors.

First, as the President of the United States sets the 
tone for key decision making in the federal government, 
so, too, does a governor set the tone in state government. 
While Governor Brown respectfully attended the funeral 
of Representative Ryan, he, like all the other politicians, 
has said nothing about his or the state’s role in the 
removal of children to Jonestown. Appearing on a morn­
ing TV talk show, Donahue, before announcing his 
candidacy for President of the United States, Brown was 
confronted by Mrs. Marilyn Wood, a first-year law stu­
dent living in Chicago. The dialogue, as taken from 
Donahue transcript No. 10089, October 8, 1979, went as 
follows:

AUDIENCE: [Marilyn Wood] The governor mentioned that 
he was concerned about the poor and millions of 
starving children. I wondered why he wasn’t more 
concerned about the guardianships of the hundreds of 
children he signed over to Reverend Jim Jones.

GOV. BROWN: That’s not true.
AUDIENCE: There was an article* —

* A seven-part series by this writer for the Chicano Sun-Times (June 1979), 
in which the author charged California officials with a cover-up, since they 
refused to talk to a federal Investigation Unit about the children of Jonestown. 
Attempts to reach even Gov. Brown's press secretaries for rebuttal at that time 
were futile.

GOV. BROWN: I know there was an article, but that article 
was false. The state of California provides money, as 
well as the federal government, for local welfare pro­
grams, aid to dependent children, as well as foster care, 
and those programs are supervised at the local county 
level. And our Department of Social Welfare has inves­
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tigated those problems and has required the counties 
and local governments to tighten up. But that was 
never done within the approval of the state govern­
ment. In fact, it was done by misrepresentation 
at the local level and was never brought to our at­
tention.

AUDIENCE: But they have quotes and pictures of you with 
Jones, commenting on how great he was, and what a 
responsible person he was—

GOV. brown: That is not true. The whole—and this is why I 
think it’s a good idea that you raised that. I went to a 
church once on the Martin Luther King Memorial, and 
it was supported by the whole black community of San 
Francisco. That particular church happened to be Jim 
Jones’ church. That’s the one they picked. I went to the 
pulpit. I spoke for three or four minutes and I walked 
out of there. That’s the only time I had any contact with 
that particular organization. And I said nothing in 
praise of Mr. Jones because I had never met him 
before. I spoke about Martin Luther King and the 
importance of his example for the country.

AUDIENCE: Are you denying, then, this article, this series of 
articles?

GOV. BROWN: Yes, it’s totally false.
AUDIENCE: You had no involvement. You’re not involved in 

any kind of a cover-up—and the California state gov­
ernment is not involved in any kind of a cover-up 
involving these children.

GOV. brown: That’s right, and if you have any information 
to the contrary, I’d like to hear about it. I’d be very 
interested.

AUDIENCE: I think you should read this series of articles. It 
was very important.

GOV. brown: Well, I’ve read more things about me that I 
don’t either believe or agree with, that that wouldn’t 
surprise me. But if you have them, I wish you would 
send them to me and I’ll try to straighten the person 
out.
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Mrs. Wood sent the articles to the Governor, but never 
once did he or his staff contact the Sun-Times or the 
writer. This silence was consistent with the Governor’s 
silence to Gordon Lindsay, a freelance investigative 
reporter, who repeatedly warned Jerry Brown of the 
cruelty and misuse of public funds in People’s Temple. 
It was the same silence experienced by former Temple 
members who were brave enough to walk away from the 
reign of terror and who informed the Governor’s office in 
Sacramento of Jim Jones’ crimes. Governor Brown, like 
other politicians up and down the line, had wittingly or 
unwittingly been compromised by Jones. He had ac­
cepted People’s Temple contributions and the help of 
the church’s children in his electoral campaign. He had 
known, too, the potential votes Jones’ “troops” com­
manded for future campaigns for higher office.

Unfortunately, even in light of the Jonestown mass 
murders, Jerry Brown continued to disregard the 
basic rights of children in his state. Six days before his 
appearance on the Donahue show, he failed to sign Bill 
SB444, which called for “tightened standards for resi­
dential group homes for more than 6,000 children.” This 
bill, which would have “barred the hiring of convicted 
sex offenders” and “required license renewal annually 
rather than every other year,” was not acted upon even 
after staff personnel in both the state’s private and public 
institutions were arrested for raping and sexually molest­
ing children.

Immediately following the tragic events in Jonestown, 
James Polk of NBC News did a piece on Vincent Lopez, a 
foster child who was in Guyana without his parents. Polk 
raised the possibility that there might have been more 
foster children who had perished with the Lopez boy. 
When bureaucrats in the California Legislature and 
county welfare offices speculated that as many as 150 to 
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200 People’s Temple children were wards of the state, 
Senator Alan Cranston, as mentioned previously, asked 
the General Accounting Office to investigate the matter.

Beginning in December 1978, GAO searched moun­
tains of readouts from California welfare computers, then 
reported that thirty-one foster children were known to 
have been placed under People’s Temple guardianships 
while in the United States. Later, they estimated that 
sixteen foster children were sent to Guyana.*  The GAO 
acknowledged that “their estimates of children in guard­
ianships were based on figures California officials [were] 
feeding [them]." Most important, their study involved 
only 13 of more than 100 counties in California, a 
significant point, since Mendocino County Welfare 
Officer Dennis Denny, who fought Jones on his poor 
foster care program, stated: “Jones filed the guardian­
ships in counties all over California to avoid suspicion.” 
California judges who ruled on the guardianships also 
joined in the conspiracy of silence by never responding 
to questions on guardianships raised by GAO’s congres­
sional inquiry.

* With extremely limited resources and no subpoena power, the Chicago 
Sun-Times investigation found evidence that fifty-six People’s Temple chil­
dren were processed through the guardianship courts, thirty-five of whom are 
known to have perished in Guyana on November 18, 1978.

The investigation Governor Brown referred to on the 
Donahue show' was conducted by his own political 
appointments: the Department of Health and Welfare 
head, Mario Obledgo, and Marion J. Woods, director of 
the Department of Social Services. In a total whitewash 
of the guardianship scandal, both men removed their 
agencies from any blame in the deaths of the children. At 
a joint press conference, Mario Obledgo acknowledged 
that he “agonized over the whole situation,” but added, 
“I doubt anything could have been done to prevent 
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transportation of children to Guyana by their natural 
parents and legal guardians.” He and Marion Woods 
lamely called for “bold legislative action to consolidate 
welfare agencies which allow some children to fall 
through the cracks.” An example of this is one young girl 
from People’s Temple who was under foster care and 
guardianship and was taken to Guyana. The GAO inves­
tigation listed her as deceased; California said she was 
alive and attending school in California. No one cared 
enough to resolve the discrepancy. The report of Ob­
ledgo and Woods concluded: “. . . our investigation 
disclosed no children were in Guyana who were under 
the supervision and care of the state’s Department of 
Social Services at the time of the Guyana incident.” With 
that statement, California political appointees exoner­
ated themselves, their departments, and their state gov­
ernment. Governor Brown, ever with an eye on the 
Presidency, could inform the American public that no 
one was at fault for the untimely deaths of close to 300 
children because they had been with their “parents and 
legal guardians.”

Nevertheless, the GAO investigation uncovered evi­
dence that San Francisco County officials closed the case 
files of children under their jurisdiction because they 
“didn’t know their wards had left the country” and/or 
had “lost contact with the foster care family.” GAO also 
told Senator Cranston about the “Assignment-of-Cus- 
tody” documents, by which natural parents and legal 
guardians in People’s Temple were convinced or co­
erced to sign over, to three members of Jones’ hierarchy, 
unlimited authority and control over their children. 
These three custodians were stationed—one in San 
Francisco, one in Georgetown, Guyana, and another in 
Jonestown—at checkpoints along the route the children 
took to their final destination. All this activity was totally 
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ignored by California officials, with the exception of one 
man who tried to make his voice heard in the bureau­
cratic wilderness.

J. C. Ortiz was a State Health and Welfare Department 
investigator under the jurisdiction of Mario Obledgo 
before his job in that state agency was “reorganized” out 
of existence. Ortiz became aware of People’s Temple 
thirteen months before the massacre, when Dennis 
Denny, director of the Mendocino County’ Department 
of Social Services, filed a complaint, alleging that chil­
dren under court-ordered guardianships were being 
shipped out of the country to Guyana and were being 
subjected to mental and physical abuse in Jonestown. 
Denny complained that he “didn’t know who to trust in 
[his] department because of previous mass infiltration” 
by such People’s Temple members as Linda Amos, 
Marceline Jones, Jim Randolph, Joyce Shaw, Grace 
Stoen, and Larry Layton.

Ortiz immediately obtained from Mendocino County 
the names of all children under guardianships and legal 
adoptions, as well as those of children and adolescents 
from other county probation departments. He decided to 
begin his investigation by interviewing People’s Tem­
ple members who were legal guardians or who had been 
given responsibility for children by public agencies. His 
first interview was with George Donald Beck, who 
refused to tell Ortiz anything and referred him to Tem­
ple lawyer Charles Garry. That prompted the investiga­
tor to draft the following memo to his department’s legal 
division.

A recent investigation into the activities of a religious 
organization revealed that person(s) may have been se­
duced by false promises and/or misrepresentation for the 
purpose of taking such person(s) out of the continental 
United States, a violation of California Penal Code 207.
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Furthermore, ex-members of this religious group have 
alleged that the person(s) abducted are not allowed to 
return to the continental United States and that such 
person(s) are being held for involuntary servitude, a viola­
tion of California Penal Code 181.

Please advise if there are any federal or state statutes which 
would require a parent or guardian to reveal the where­
abouts of their children under guardianship, children under 
adoption or children under the care of their natural parents.

Please call me if you require further information.

On December 23, 1977, a legal division lawyer, Rhoda 
Haberman, advised Ortiz that there was no provision of 
law that “would require a parent or guardian to produce 
their children or minor wards without some provable 
allegations of neglect, abandonment, or abuse.” How­
ever, Haberman did allow that any court that ordered a 
guardianship was responsible and that no child under 
such jurisdiction could leave the state “without the 
express permission of that court [Probate Code Section 
1500].”

Mendocino authorities told Ortiz that “there was sup­
posed to be a yearly follow-up on all placements where 
welfare funds were involved.” However, People’s Tem­
ple shrewdly had children from one county' placed in 
another, switched the minors among themselves, and 
moved frequently, making it almost impossible to check 
on the children’s whereabouts. Prior to 1977, there were 
no statutes in California requiring any form of investiga­
tion into the backgrounds of people applying for guard­
ianships. When the statute was changed, it still didn’t 
affect most of the children in People’s Temple, because 
they had already been placed and removed from the 
country.

Frustrated over the lack of legal and governmental 
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protection for children who were being shipped out of 
the United States, Ortiz went to Janet Kespohl, a deputy 
sheriff in Mendocino County, to see if he could coordi­
nate his own investigation with anything the sheriff ’s 
office was. conducting against People’s Temple. Deputy 
Kespohl informed him that there wasn’t an open inquiry 
on the guardianship issue but that the case had been 
raised with the attorney general. She suggested he 
contact Deputy Attorney General W. Eric Collins. Said 
Ortiz:

I made numerous calls to the San Francisco A.G.’s office in 
order to establish a liaison between that office and ours so 
that we could have a coordinated investigative effort. For 
the longest period, my calls were not returned. The mes­
sage I left was that I was an investigator with the Depart­
ment of Health and wanted to talk to someone regarding the 
People’s Temple. If my memory serves me right, I believe I 
received one call when I was out of town. Later, I did 
manage to contact someone affiliated with that office who 
informed me that their office had not initiated any investi­
gations regarding the People’s Temple. As of this date, I do 
not know or have knowledge of any investigation initiated 
by the attorney general’s office in or out of the San Fran­
cisco office.

Postal inspectors were very helpful to Ortiz. They 
revealed that Social Security checks, both gold and 
green, were being sent to Guyana via one of three post 
office boxes that Jones had in a San Francisco post office. 
Although this practice was stopped by an HEW direc­
tive, postal officials felt that the checks were still being 
sent to Guyana in unidentifiable manila envelopes, 
which, by law, they were not permitted to open.

Ortiz hit a stone wall with the U.S. Immigration 
Service. Tn essence,” he said, ‘‘what Immigration was 
conveying to me was that they did not have any informa­
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tion which could help me identify those children who 
were now in Guyana.” He then visited the Alameda 
County Probation Department because Mendocino 
County had given him a list of children and adolescents 
who had been placed in People’s Temple by that depart­
ment. There, too, Ortiz was stonewalled. The depart­
ment (which was also infiltrated by People’s Temple) 
informed him that the records were sealed and unavail­
able to other agencies because juvenile records were 
confidential.

The most impenetrable department, not only for Ortiz 
but also for the U.S. State Department, was the Califor­
nia State Department of Benefit Payments. Even after 
the investigator supplied that agency with the names of 
the children under guardianships or probations, it never 
notified the courts that had ultimate jurisdiction over the 
minors. Lieutenant Governor Mervyn Dymally, who was 
totally devoted to Jim Jones, had appointed Mari Gold­
man to the department; she has denied directing cru­
cial persons to answer no inquiries, questions, or in­
vestigations involving People’s Temple. These were 
the same people whom the House Foreign Affairs 
Committee termed “reluctant to talk about the chil­
dren of Jonestown” after the massacre.

Ortiz felt by now that almost all of the children had 
been taken to Guyana, so he decided to look into the 
group homes owned and operated by People’s Temple. 
On November 30, 1977, he visited Happy Acres, which 
kicked back most of its state and federal payments to Jim 
Jones. There, he found irregularities in the MediCal 
benefits and submitted a complaint to the MediCal 
Fraud Unit in San Francisco. Nothing came of it.

Ortiz then contacted the Touchettes’ Family Care 
Home and discovered that all the residents “had ob­
tained Social Security numbers in numerical order.” 



134 THE CHILDREN OF JONESTOWN

Although the Social Security office thought this was very 
strange, it never bothered to investigate. Ortiz called his 
inquiry’ “without a doubt the most frustrating case that I 
have ever encountered. It appeared that the very agen­
cies that could have helped me either were restricted 
from giving me information or just did not want to get 
involved.” He ended with the following conclusions:

Jim Jones had a very sophisticated organization. He had 
infiltrated the system long before the investigation by our 
department ensued. Jones had members in Facility Licens­
ing, the Mendocino Welfare Department, and the Juvenile 
Probation Department. He evidently had influence with 
various county district attorney offices, and with various 
other elected officials.

There are indications that the People’s Temple penetrated 
the government at the city, county, and state levels.

The investigation also revealed that children/adolescents 
were being placed by both the courts and the probation 
department with no follow-up. Mendocino County, along 
with other counties in question, could not account for the 
whereabouts of those clients under their jurisdiction.

My first setback was the legal opinion of our legal office, 
which informed me that there was “no provision of law that 
would require a parent or guardian to produce their chil­
dren or minor wards without some provable allegations 
of neglect.” I could not believe that a person did not 
have to make accountable the whereabouts of his chil­
dren when asked by an investigating officer.

I do not feel that any one agency is responsible for the 
circumstances which brought on Jonestown. I do feel that 
the tragedy might have been prevented if a combined effort 
by all agencies (federal, state, and local) had been initiated.

On June 6, 1978, J. C. Ortiz submitted his report on 
People’s Temple to higher officials within the Health 
Department. The report, which at first gathered dust,
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became, after the massacre, a hot item in California 
political circles as bureaucrats tried to prevent its publi­
cation, at the same time minimizing its importance. The 
Ortiz report was known to Senator Cranston during his 
subcommittee hearing in Los Angeles, and, subse­
quently, the head of the California Department of Social 
Services was invited to testify. On May 31, 1979, Depart­
ment Deputy Phil Manriquez, representing Director 
Marion Woods, went before the Senate inquiry panel. 
Following is some dialogue between Senator Cranston 
and Mr. Manriquez:

SEN. CRANSTON: Going on to another matter, the GAO has 
provided me with documents from state files indicating 
that the state of California had received complaints 
about the involvement of the People’s Temple in foster 
care placements and the possible conflict of interest in 
the employment of Marceline Jones—Reverend Jim 
Jones’ wife—in the Department of Health’s licensing 
and certification unit as early as July of 1977. These 
documents indicate that the state investigation termi­
nated—despite allegations of all sorts of abuses in the 
summer of 1978. Why was that investigation termi­
nated?

mr. Manriquez: Senator, I’m unable to answer that ques­
tion. At that time, the responsibility for all of these 
programs before was in a department that was called 
the Department of Health. We inherited their records. 
As a result of a reorganization, this department then 
became responsible for the social service programs, 
July of last year. . . .

SEN. CRANSTON: Well, have you made an effort to find out 
why it was terminated?

MR. MANRIQUEZ: Yes, we have. ... I have talked to the 
investigator (Ortiz) and he assures me that he had 
information that there were several federal agencies 
that were carrying on investigations about the People’s 
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Temple allegations, and that he recommended that the 
state adopt a role of supporting those investigations, 
rather than carrying on with the investigation that he 
had going on at that time.

SEN. CRANSTON: What federal investigations?
MR. MANRIQUEZ: He mentioned investigations being car­

ried out by the U.S. postal authorities.
SEN. CRANSTON: What would they be investigating?
mr. MANRIQUEZ: It’s my understanding that there had been 

allegations made about public assistance warrants be­
ing “laundered” through various collection points in 
the state, and that there was a strong possibility that 
there was a misuse of U.S. mails involved.

SEN. CRANSTON: Did the state contact the federal authori­
ties and offer to help them?

MR. MANRIQUEZ: I don’t know, Senator.
SEN. CRANSTON: I’ve looked at the report, and in view of the 

shocking nature of the allegations, it’s rather incredible 
that the state’s investigation would be dropped without 
any certainty as to what would be carried on in regard to 
the report.

MR. Manriquez: Yes, we felt the same way; and when we 
saw it, we saw all of the open ends in that investigation; 
and that’s what prompted our department, then, to take 
on some investigative activities. However, we did not 
have responsibility for the program until after July. By 
the time we got started in our investigation, we had the 
Guyana incident occur in November; and then, of 
course, the emphasis of our investigation then shifted 
over to that of the People’s Temple.

SEN. CRANSTON: Do you think anything more could be done 
to find out why that investigation was dropped? (No 
response) I’d like to urge you to think that over and 
. . . see if you can’t find out more on that. Because it’s 
very strange, in view of the allegations. And I wouldn’t 
think that just assuming the Post Office Department 
was going to look into abuse of the mails would be a 
very effective way of getting at the bottom of the sort of 
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circumstances that were going on there. And had an 
investigation continued, things that occurred thereafter 
might not have occurred.

MR. MANRIQUEZ: I can’t answer that, Senator.
SEN. CRANSTON: Well, you can look into . . . that and try to 

find out more about what happened to that investiga­
tion.

MR. MANRIQUEZ: Yes.
SEN. CRANSTON: The GAO report indicates that six of the 

foster children went to Guyana after October of 1977— 
when the investigation began—and three of the six 
went after June of 1978—when the investigation termi­
nated. The report that was released earlier this month 
by the House Committee investigating the death of 
Representative Ryan states:

State Department witnesses said that the U.S. Embassy in 
Guyana was never asked by California welfare officials to 
check on the welfare and whereabouts of California foster 
children reportedly living in Jonestown. The U.S. Embassy, 
however, was aware that some foster children may have 
been living there and asked the Department of State to 
determine whether it was legal for such wards of the state to 
leave the United States. One department witness stated that 
he queried appropriate California authorities and was told 
that court permission was required to take them out of the 
state.

Do you have any comment on that?
MR. MANRIQUEZ: Yes, Senator. First of all, I believe that 

we have to realize that in terms of our department 
and the involvement of the Aid to Families with 
Dependent Children foster-care component, we are 
talking about only a segment of the overall foster 
care area. Foster care that might involve legal guard­
ianship and does not involve an AFDC-BHI [Aid to 
Families with Dependent Children-Boarding Homes 
Income] payment would not come under the pur­
view of our responsibility or our ability to investi­
gate.
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The GAO has reported that there was only one child 
in Guyana that was an active AFDC-BHI case, thereby 
becoming our responsibility. If there were six children 
in foster care in Guyana, they would have been six of 
that thirty-seven, that group of thirty-seven children 
that were under a legal guardianship type of arrange­
ment, and, thus, would not be within our area of 
investigation.

As was indicated in this report, there were nineteen 
children that at one point in time had received pay­
ments under the AFDC-BHI program. Eighteen of 
those had been discontinued prior to their arrival in 
Guyana. They had been returned to their parents, in 
most cases, were adopted, or had been placed under 
some type of a legal guardianship arrangement, which 
then took them out of the sphere of our responsibility.

The Ortiz report is devastating to the state of 
California’s credibility for investigating itself. It is ob­
vious that a number of state officials knew about the dark 
side of Jim Jones but remained silent. However, many 
were reportedly relieved when Jones left the country in 
1977. The very7 government that the cult leader viewed 
with growing suspicion and fear as he became more 
dependent on drugs and increasingly paranoiac was his 
confederate in sealing the fate of his entrapped fol­
lowers.

Ortiz was especially critical of the state attorney 
general’s office. Many instances showed that the law 
enforcement agency was safely in Jim Jones’ pocket. 
Jones told his followers more than once, “I met with 
Younger [Evelle J. Younger, former state attorney 
general] and he is on our side.” And to others, he said, 
“Don’t think you can go to the attorney general . . . We 
have friends everywhere.” Those who wrote letters, 
made phone calls, and personally visited Younger’s 
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office to make complaints against Jones quickly learned 
his claims were not exaggerated.

A Ukiah Baptist minister, Richard G. Taylor, became 
alarmed over the techniques of Jim Jones. His concern 
started with the flood of cakes and cards sent to the ill 
and the troubled, the “overkill” selling of Jones’ won­
drous faith healings. Taylor’s misgivings increased as 
tales of beatings and abuse in People’s Temple reached 
his attention, culminating in an incident involving a 
woman he knew, Mrs. Maxine Harp. After Mrs. Harp’s 
mysterious death (designated officially “suicide by hang­
ing”—yet the body was found lying on a chest in her 
garage), her home was ransacked, then locked up by 
People’s Temple. When only a very superficial local 
investigation took place, Taylor wrote a long letter to 
the state attorney general’s office, urging an investiga­
tion of both Mrs. Harp’s death and Jim Jones.

In response to his letter, Taylor received a call from a 
deputy in the attorney general’s office, asking the minis­
ter to visit him. When Taylor showed up for the appoint­
ment armed with other evidence, the deputy informed 
him that there could be no investigation because there 
was “insufficient evidence.” Immediately thereafter, 
Taylor’s wife started getting threatening calls from 
sources who the Taylors felt certain “originated from the 
People’s Temple.”

Another example involved contractor J. R. Purifoy, 
who had documentation that proved People’s Temple 
was illegally transferring real estate. “If people wouldn’t 
sign over their deeds, he [Jones] would have them 
notarized in advance.” Purifoy called the attorney 
general’s office in Sacramento with this information. The 
same day, Jones called Purifoy to say that “the A.G. 
notified [him] of the call.” Purifoy made a tape recording 
of this phone conversation, in which Jones confirmed he 
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had major contacts in that office: “If it hadn’t been for my 
connections in the A.G.’s office,’’ Jones told the planning 
commission, “they would have come swarming down all 
over us.”

As mentioned before, San Francisco Mayor George 
Moscone publicly declined to investigate People’s Tem­
ple after the Netc West article appeared in August 1977, 
claiming it had broken no laws. His district attorney, Joe 
Freitas, conducted a mild investigation and also found 
that no laws had been broken. He did concede that some 
of the People’s Temple activities were “at least unsavory 
and raised substantial moral and noncriminal legal ques­
tions." Later, Freitas, who was fond of his former as­
sistant, Tim Stoen, tried to help in Stoen’s custody 
battle for his son. The district attorney wrote Repre­
sentative Phil Burton and asked him to urge the Ameri­
can Ambassador, John Burke, to attend the custody 
court procedures in Georgetown, Guyana, to guaran­
tee that “due process was being observed.” Shortly 
thereafter, however, Marceline Jones visited the Con­
gressman and asked him not to become involved. Ap­
parently, Mrs. Jones was more convincing than Joe 
Freitas, for the Ambassador was never notified of the 
legal hearings and therefore did not attend.

Steven Katsaris had exhausted his political friends and 
personal resources in his desperate attempts to get help 
for himself and other Concerned Relatives from the 
bureaucracy. The one person he had been unable to 
contact was Mayor Moscone. On a flight to Washington 
one day to lobby for the Concerned Relatives, Katsaris 
found George Moscone and his press secretary, Milt 
Wax, sitting across the aisle from him. During the long 
flight, Katsaris poured out his anguish over his daughter, 
Maria, whom Jones had brainwashed and was sexually 
abusing. Moscone ended the conversation by saying, 
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“Gee, Steve, I’m sorry to hear all of this. I’ll say a lot of 
prayers for Maria.’’

Many of the survivors of People’s Temple were bitter 
toward the President and Mrs. Carter as well. After Jim 
Jones’ highly publicized meeting with Mrs. Carter and 
his public endorsement of her husband, a number of ex­
members wrote the First Lady. Mickey Touchette re­
membered:

We told her what he was doing and what was involved and 
what kind of a man he was, and she turned a deaf ear to us. 
. . . AH the politicians knew, the whole bureaucratic struc­
ture of the country knew about Jim Jones, and they, too, 
turned a deaf ear to us.

Guyanese officials contend that even those among 
them who had great doubts about Jones let him “slide 
through” because higher-ups in that country felt Jones 
“had great clout in the White House.”

For an administration that has so loudly espoused the 
cause of human rights around the world, the record of the 
Carter government in the Jonestown affair raises serious 
questions about the nature of this commitment. In the 
spring of 1977, Carter made a “major” speech to the UN 
on human rights; he then appointed Patricia Derian, an 
early supporter of his election campaign, to head the 
State Department’s Office of Human Rights and Human­
itarian Affairs, with the mission of checking into repres­
sion and torture around the world.

Unfortunately for the children of Jonestown, the role 
of the State Department and our Embassy in Guyana was 
one of bumbling, neglect, incompetence, and deceit. 
The repeated pleas of parents concerning their children 
held at Jonestown, and the requests of other government 
agencies for information, were met with indifference. The 
Department never acknowledged the receipt of the April 
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11, 1978, statement by the Concerned Relatives accusing 
Jones of human rights violations (see Appendix), and it is 
unlikely that people on the level of Derian or Secretary 
of State Vance ever saw the document before the massa­
cre.

Nevertheless, it is clear that at the level of the Em­
bassy in Guyana and at higher levels of the State Depart­
ment in Washington, there was considerable awareness 
of the problem. In replying to a request to Vance from 
Sherwin Harris of Lafayette, California, that the Depart­
ment bring pressure on the government of Guyana to 
make Jones halt his abuses against Harris’ daughter 
Liane and others at Jonestow’n, Hodding Carter HI, State 
Department spokesman, wrote on June 16, 1978:

As part of the traditional and internationally sanctioned 
protection services, officers of the American Embassy in 
Georgetown, Guyana, periodically visit the People’s Agri­
cultural Temple located at Jonestown, Guyana. These 
officers have been free to move about the grounds and 
speak privately to any individuals, including persons who 
were believed by their family and friends to be held there 
against their will. It is the opinion of these officers, rein­
forced by conversations with local officials who deal with 
the People’s Temple, that it is improbable anyone is being 
held in bondage. In general, the people appear healthy, 
adequately fed and housed, and satisfied with their lives on 
what is a large farm. Many do hard, physical labor, but there 
is no evidence of persons being forced to work beyond their 
capacity or against their will.

The letter further suggested that if Harris wanted infor­
mation about a specific individual, he should send the 
person s name, and date and place of birth, to the 
Department’s Office of Special Services, and during the 
next visit to Jonestown an Embassy officer would seek to 
speak privately to the individual and report back. This 
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was in reply to Harris’ letter in which he mentioned his 
daughter Liane several times.

In fact, in the six months previous to November 18, 
1978, there was no visit to Jonestown by an Embassy 
officer. On June 27, 1978, a couple from Ohio had 
written the Embassy about their concern for the safety of 
their daughter and three grandchildren in the Guyana 
jungle. On the morning of November 18, 1978, a few 
hours before their daughter and grandchildren would 
die of cyanide poisoning, Wayne and Betty Study re­
ceived a response to their letter from Douglas V. Ellice, 
Jr.:

My predecessor, Mr. Richard McCoy, was unable to visit 
the People’s Temple Agricultural Community on August 1, 
1978 because the nearest airstrip had been closed by heavy 
rainfall. He has since assumed a new position elsewhere 
and I have been assigned to Georgetown as his successor.

I visited the Community yesterday and spoke to Bonnie. 
She asked me to relay to you her assurance that she is well 
and happy. . . .

On two occasions, the Social Security Administration, 
prompted by negative media reports on People’s Tem­
ple, wrote the American Embassy in Guyana, requesting 
verification that Temple members were “being coerced” 
into giving their Social Security checks to the church 
against their will. To the first inquiry, the Embassy 
responded that the recipients were receiving their 
checks and “were making no assignments of their right 
to future SSA monthly payments.” The second inquiry, 
inspired by Deborah Blakey’s allegations that “the Tem­
ple received over $65,000 in SS checks per month . . . 
and only a fraction of the income of senior citizens in the 
care of the Temple was being used for their benefit,” was 
dated October 13, 1978, and asked the Embassy again to 
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investigate. This request was never answered, but after 
the tragedy, the press reported that hundreds of checks 
had been found in Jim Jones’ house.

In direct violation of the Federal Communications 
Commission regulations, Jones communicated in code 
between Jonestown and the San Francisco church. With 
these coded messages, he controlled the transfer of 
children and, later, adults of People’s Temple into his 
jungle concentration camp. His medical staff also used 
this system to order illegal drugs, guns, and ammunition 
for the Guyana settlement. After many complaints from 
ham radio operators (including Al and Jeannie Mills of 
Concerned Relatives, who tried monitoring them but 
were unable to), the FCC started to tape the broadcasts. 
Many violations were recorded in the critical time-frame 
between May and September, 1977, the period during 
which large numbers of children were taken on “vaca­
tions.”

In November 1977, the San Francisco office of the 
FCC sent an active file of People’s Temple violations for 
transmitting false and deceptive call-signs to Washing­
ton headquarters with the recommendation that “the 
operator’s license be revoked.” However, not only did 
someone in Washington decide there weren’t “sufficient 
grounds” to revoke the license, he warned the People’s 
Temple. Jones responded with a flood of letters to the 
White House and Congress claiming “harassment.” Vio­
lation notices were still being sent by the FCC to 
People’s Temple as late as October 30, 1978, but Jones’ 
operation continued to “transmit in code and use a 
frequency out of an amateur band.”

In June 1978, Senator Hayakawa’s office in San Fran­
cisco received a letter from Mrs. Clara Bouquet that 
included serious charges that children and old people 
were being forced to endure inhuman conditions in 
Jonestown, and a plea for the Senator’s help. Mr. Hay­
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akawa sent her letter to the FBI for their attention. They 
subsequently interviewed Mrs. Bouquet, whose son 
would soon be murdered, but “found no basis for further 
action.” The FBI did suggest to Senator Hayakawa, 
however, that he bring the matter to the attention of the 
State Department.

One by one, every governmental checkpoint designed 
to stem corruption, infractions, and nonrepresentation 
failed or was compromised at a time when it was of 
paramount importance that action be taken in order to 
save lives and prevent human abuses. That failure in­
sured the subsequent anarchy and the terrible fate await­
ing hundreds of vulnerable children who had been 
betrayed.

In the last moments, Julie Ann Runnels fought desper­
ately for life. It took two strong adults to extinguish the 
spirit that her great-aunt and others had so admired. 
Betrayed by the American political system, Julie died 
along with her many companions. When she heard the 
news about the mass deaths in Jonestown, Grace Ken­
nedy was heartbroken. In anger and grief, she pounded 
on the door of People’s Temple Church, shouting for 
Julie’s blind mother to come outside. Eventually, Eddie 
Jewel confronted the great-aunt. Still brainwashed, she 
insisted Julie wasn’t really dead. “Jim Jones will see to 
it,” she said, returning to her mysterious world inside 
the Temple.

Soon afterward, the Runnels child was listed with the 
verified dead; and because of her death, Grace Kennedy 
obtained what the courts of California and Jim Jones had 
denied her when the child was alive. Julie Ann was 
cremated after her mother signed her body over to 
Grace Kennedy. The child’s remains are with the one 
person who truly cared, in a home filled with a little 
girl’s new clothes, an Easter basket, and mixed mem­
ories of what could have been.



"You have to put fear aside and do what 
you think is right.”

Leo Ryan, on the eve of his trip to Jonestown

8. The Quest of Leo Ryan
Representative Leo Ryan was the first United States 
Congressman ever to have been killed in the line of 
duty. A loner in Congress who deeply believed that 
government should be responsive to the people it 
serves, Ryan sought his own answers to things that 
bothered him and his constituents. He was known on 
The Hill for his investigative ventures, such as living 
with a black family in Watts, California, after the 
1965 riots, spending a week in Folsom Prison as an 
inmate to leam about prison life, and traveling to 
Newfoundland to document the killing of baby seals. 
Called a “headline grabber” by cynics, Ryan was re­
garded by those close to him as an impassioned and 
determined advocate for human rights and social jus­
tice. In the words of his legislative assistant, Jackie 
146
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Speier, “He was tough as nails and at every point in 
time, his own man. He could never be counted on for 
his vote by any group—and thus paid a heavy price 
for his independence in the House.”

Ryan was bom in Lincoln, Nebraska, on May 5, 1925, 
to Irish parents who were both crusading journalists. 
After serving in the Navy during World War II, he 
completed undergraduate and postgraduate work in 
Elizabethan drama at The Creighton University. He 
taught high school English first in Nebraska, then in 
California, where he entered local politics as a re­
former and became a member of the State Legislature 
in 1962. Elected to Congress in 1972, he went to 
Washington convinced he could make a real differ­
ence there. Twice married and divorced and the fa­
ther of five, Ryan delighted in taking the time to 
guide schoolchildren from his district around the Cap­
itol and in turning his office into a classroom. Late on 
Friday afternoons, he would sit in his old-fashioned 
barber’s chair and discuss “people problems” with his 
staff. After reviewing such concerns, he would relax 
with a drink and, still in the barber’s chair, quiz his 
staff on endless lines of prose and poetry he could 
quote with flair and style.

Congressman Ryan first became aware of People’s 
Temple and Jim Jones through articles that appeared in 
California papers following the New West expose and 
from press accounts of the Stoens’ custody battle over 
their son. After he read other news stories—one about an 
old friend of his, another about a leading defector, 
Deborah Blakey—his growing concern led to a decision 
to initiate a full-fledged congressional investigation. He 
thereby became the only hope for people who had all but 
given up on receiving help from the government.

One year before the massacre, Robert (Sammy) Hous­
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ton, who had been an AP photographer for forty years, 
called Tim Reitennan at the San Francisco Examiner 
and told him that he “was tired of being scared.” This 
resulted in Reiterman’s writing an article—a sad narra­
tive of a father’s grief over the strange death of his son, 
Robert, Jr. (Bob), after his involvement and mistreatment 
in People’s Temple. Phyllis Houston, Bob’s first wife 
and mother of their two children, whom Jones directed 
Bob to divorce, was still devotedly working for and 
living in the San Francisco church.

After reading the Reitennan article, Leo Ryan con­
tacted Sammy Houston. Bob had been a student of 
Ryan’s in high school, and Ryan had chaperoned Bob 
and other members of the school band to Washington in 
1961, where they had marched in the inaugural parade of 
President John F. Kennedy. Ryan had especially liked 
Bob Houston for his keen mind, and he was troubled 
that such a person could have become a robot for a 
faith healer like Jones. Moreover, Ryan’s nephew had 
disappeared some years earlier and turned up later in 
the Scientology cult. Ryan knew firsthand the anguish 
and fear in the hearts of his own family over a lost 
child.

The two men, Leo Ryan and Sammy Houston, had 
happy memories in common—the moment Sammy pho­
tographed Bob shaking hands with the new President, 
and Leo Ryan’s proudly leading the high school band 
past Kennedy’s reviewing stand during the inaugural 
parade. Now they shared dark times. Bob had been 
beaten, belittled, and berated by Jones; his first marriage 
had been broken up by the minister; he had worked at 
two full-time jobs and given everything to People s 
Temple. His children could visit their grandparents only 
if they were closely chaperoned by a People’s Temple 
official, Jean Brown, and their mother, Phyllis. They 
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were not even allowed to sit with their grandparents at 
their father’s funeral.

Sammy Houston told Ryan he was dying of cancer and 
would soon lose his voice. He didn’t want to lose his two 
granddaughters, Judy Lynn, fourteen, and Patricia, thir­
teen, who had been sent off to Guyana without their 
relatives. He didn’t believe the girls were on vacation, as 
People’s Temple claimed. “They are there without their 
mother,” he said. “I hope my granddaughters will get 
out of there. I believe they want to get out.”

Ryan was a member of Congressman Donald Fraser’s 
subcommittee of the House Foreign Affairs Committee 
that was investigating the Korean CIA and related activi­
ties of another cult leader, Reverend Sun Myung Moon 
of the Unification Church, and his national and interna­
tional business enterprises. Although the subcommittee 
was looking into all facets of United States and Korean 
relations, Ryan, the idealistic reformer, was interested in 
only two: why this country was supporting the undemo­
cratic and repressive government of President Park, and 
Reverend Moon’s Unification Church.

Bob Boettcher, staff director of the Fraser subcommit­
tee, periodically briefed the individual members. On 
one occasion with Boettcher, after a long discussion 
about the Moonies, Ryan took from his desk a solicitation 
for mail-order clergymen. He threw it down, saying, 
“These things are rampant in my district!” and vowed to 
do something about it.

On June 15, 1978, Marshall Kilduff wrote in the San 
Francisco Chronicle that Deborah (Debbie Blakey) Lay- 
ton, a recent defector from the Jonestown settlement, 
charged that the mission was an armed camp in which 
most people were being held captive. The former finan­
cial secretary of People’s Temple, she claimed that Jones 
had at least ten million dollars in foreign bank ac-
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counts. She also said that people were forced to drink “a 
bitter brown liquid potion” that they were told would 
put them to sleep, after which security guards would 
shoot them.

Jackie Speier, who accompanied Ryan to Guyana, said 
that Kilduff’s article, more than any other, crystallized 
the Congressman’s determination to do something about 
the people involved with the Temple. They met with 
Debbie Blakey, and she expanded on what she had told 
the Chronicle. During the White Night drills, the chil­
dren were forced to drink a liquid and then were told it 
was poison and they would soon die. On one occasion, 
Blakey said, she saw her former sister-in-law give John 
Victor Stoen and her own son, Kimo Prokes, sleeping 
pills. It seems Jones had told Carolyn Layton that 
everyone was going to die that night and she would have 
to kill the two little children, so she felt the sleeping 
pills would make it easier. Although Speier admitted she 
had suspicions that Debbie might have been some kind 
of double agent, Ryan believed her totally. He told 
Speier, “I smell rats! . . . I’m going to find out for 
myself.”

In the summer of 1978, the Congressman held a 
meeting with the Concerned Relatives, and after hearing 
more bizarre stories of human mistreatment, he vowed, 
“I will go down to Jonestown and see if people are held 
there against their will.” Steven Katsaris, who at first 
believed that Ryan was just another politician in search 
of headlines, became more hopeful about him, and 
Grace Stoen echoed the feelings of the group: “We saw 
him as someone who was cutting through all the b.s. and 
was really trying to help us ... He was the only 
government person who was sincere.” In fact, elections 
were close at hand. Ryan wanted no one to think he was 
using the trip for political gain, and did not publicize his
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decision to go to Jonestown before his reelection in 
November. .

On September 15, 1978, Leo Ryan and Jackie Speier 
met with the Guyana desk officer and three other State 
Department officials to make preparations for the visit to 
Guyana after elections. Ryan informed them of his belief 
that people in Jonestown were being held against their 
will and that he would probably be taking members of 
the press and the Concerned Relatives with him to see 
for themselves. The State Department “counseled” 
Ryan against this, but he told them his decision was firm. 
At the meeting’s end, Ryan asked the officials if they 
were unconcerned about the rumors of mass suicide at 
Jonestown (as alleged by Blakey); their response was to 
dismiss such talk as “nonsense.”

On October 3, 1978, Richard McCoy, the State 
Department’s consular officer in Guyana, and Richard 
Belt of the State Department in Washington met with 
Jackie Speier to discuss details of the trip. McCoy and 
Belt told her that the American Ambassador to Guyana, 
John Burke, wanted the Congressman and his staff to 
understand fully “the difficulties of traveling to Jones­
town” and “the need to obtain permission from People’s 
Temple for them to visit the settlement.” Speier was 
upset by the last point, because Ryan did not want 
People’s Temple notified in advance for fear its mem­
bers would be psychologically intimidated before the 
actual visit. This fear proved correct.

On October 4, Ryan wrote to the House Foreign Af­
fairs Committee chairman, Representative Clement J. 
Zablocki, for authorization to investigate. The essence of 
his appeal was in the following paragraph:

It has come to my attention that a community of some 1,400 
Americans is presently living in Guyana under somewhat 
bizarre conditions. There is conflicting information regard­
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ing whether or not the U.S. citizens are being held there 
against their will. If you will agree, I would like to travel to 
Guyana during the week of Nov. 12-18 to review the 
situation firsthand.

On October 24, Zablocki gave Ryan approval and ad­
vised the staff of the committee to assist him.

A few weeks later, Speier and two members of the 
House Foreign Affairs Committee, Jim Schollaert and 
Tom Smeeton, informed McCoy that Representative 
Edward J. Derwinski of Illinois would join Ryan in the 
congressional inquiry planned for mid-November in 
Guyana. When Speier told McCoy that the delegation 
wanted People’s Temple to “make available about 
twenty-nine of its members,” including the Stoen child, 
in Georgetown, the consul vetoed the idea. A few days 
later, he learned from Speier that eighteen Concerned 
Relatives would be traveling with Ryan and that they 
wanted the American Embassy to “arrange transporta­
tion and guaranteed access to Jonestown.” McCoy said 
this was impossible but that the State Department would 
offer suggestions and advice on possible transportation 
to the area.

On November 1, 1978, Ryan formally confirmed his 
trip to Guyana with Ambassador Burke and requested 
the opportunity' to inspect the People’s Temple Agricul­
tural Community with him and his stall. The same day, 
Ryan sent Jim Jones the following letter of intent:

In recent months my office has been visited by constituents 
who are relatives of members of your church and who 
expressed anxiety about mothers and fathers, sons and 
daughters, brothers and sisters who have elected to assist 
you in the development of your church in Guyana.

I have listened to others who have told me that such 
concerns are exaggerated. They have been supportive of 
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your church and your work. Your effort, involving so many 
Americans from a single U.S. geographic location, is 
unique. In an effort to be responsive to these constituents 
with differing perspectives and to learn more about your 
church and its work, I intend to visit Guyana and talk with 
appropriate government officials. I do so as a part of my 
assigned responsibilities as a Member of the House Com­
mittee on International Relations. Congressman Ed Der- 
winski (R-Ill), also a member of the committee, and stall 
members of the committee will be accompanying me.

While we are in Guyana, I have asked our Ambassador, 
John Burke, to make arrangements for transportation to visit 
your church and agricultural station at Jonestown. It goes 
without saying that I am most interested in a visit to 
Jonestown, and would appreciate whatever courtesies you 
can extend to our Congressional delegation.

Please consider this letter to be an open and honest request 
to you for information about your work which has been the 
center of your life and purpose for so many years. In the 
interest of simplifying communications, it will only be 
necessary for you to respond to Ambassador John R. Burke 
at the American Embassy in Georgetown. Since the details 
of our trip are still being arranged, I am sure the Ambassa­
dor and his stafl will be able to keep you informed.

On November 4, People’s Temple representatives told 
the American Embassy in Georgetown that the “congres­
sional delegation would not be received in Jonestown,” 
but an hour later, they called again and said there had 
been a misunderstanding and the Ryan party could come 
if it agreed to three demands:

1. The delegation must have equal representation of 
people who were sympathetic to the aims of the 
Temple.

2. There was to be no media coverage with the visit.
3. Attorney Mark Lane must be part of the delegation 
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in order to represent the interests of People’s Tem­
ple.

Ryan was told to communicate directly with Lane. In an 
exchange of letters, Lane informed Ryan that he could 
not adjust his schedule to accompany the delegation— 
and asked that they postpone their visit.

In a crisp reply, Ryan told the attorney that a congres­
sional inquiry could not be planned around the schedule 
of Mark Lane and that they were going regardless. Lane 
replied with the threat that something very embarrassing 
could happen to the United States in Guyana, but he 
quickly “rearranged” his schedule and was in Guyana 
when the investigating party arrived.

On November 9, the State Department’s Legal 
Adviser’s office, in a very strict interpretation of the 
Privacy Act, informed Ryan that he had “no legal right to 
demand access to Jonestown.’’

On the day before Ryan’s departure to Guyana, Grace 
Stoen, Steve Katsaris, and Debbie Blakey visited him in 
Washington. Their desperate stories of conditions in 
Jonestown prompted him to call the State Department:

Look, I’ve got Debbie Blakey here and you people better 
talk to her. This is real serious. She is telling me that Jones 
is making people sell their bodies to get information and is 
bribing people. I want you to meet with her today.

A half hour later, thirteen State Department officials were 
willing to meet with the Congressman and his dele­
gation. When Ryan tried to record the encounter, he was 
told that if there was to be any meeting, he would have to 
turn off the tape recorder. Debbie Blakey poured out her 
soul, and the others told everything they knew about the 
impending crisis. Months later, an in-house evaluation of 
the State Department’s performance said this concerning 
Blakey’s dialogue with the thirteen: “The Department 



THE QUEST OF LEO RYAN 155

officials were generally impressed with Blakey’s story. 
Some of them were disturbed by the content of her 
statements.” Grace Stoen, however, recalls State Depart­
ment preoccupation with Ryan’s protocol behavior in 
Georgetown, and the Congressman’s reassurance that he 
would make all the necessary courtesy visits with Guya­
nese officials and attend cocktail parties and dinners.

It is significant that it was the Embassy in Guyana that 
notified the State Department as to how many United 
States journalists were making plans to accompany Ryan, 
and not vice versa. The source of their information was 
People’s Temple. Jones’ network of informers in San 
Francisco and in the media was still functioning four 
days before the massacre. Information was transmitted 
via the Geary Street church to Jonestown. At all times, 
Jones knew more than the State Department or the 
American Embassy.

A major source of his intelligence was Tim Carter, the 
one member of the Concerned Relatives who did not 
show up for the flight to Georgetown with Ryan and his 
staff. Carter claimed to be a defector and attended all the 
meetings of the group, but he relayed everything to 
Guyana. At one meeting, he learned that Mrs. Robert 
(Nadyne) Houston and her married daughter, Carol 
Boyd, were going to try to rescue Mrs. Houston’s grand­
children and Mrs. Boyd’s nieces, Judy Lynn and Patricia. 
Carter informed Jones, who ordered their mother, Phyl­
lis Houston, to come immediately and prevent the girls 
from leaving the settlement. On November 11, Carter 
and Houston boarded a plane in San Francisco for 
Guyana, where she would join her daughters in death; 
authorities would later pick up Carter in the jungle with 
$500,000 of the People’s Temple funds.

On November 14, Leo Ryan, Jackie Speier, and Jim 
Schollaert of the House Foreign Affairs Committee took 
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an Eastern shuttle flight from Washington to JFK airport 
in New York. Congressman Edward Derwinski had 
cancelled his participation in the trip because of a 
promised weekend with his daughter at college.

The congressional delegation, called CODEL, met 
thirteen of the Concerned Relatives who were making 
the trip and eight members of the press at the Pan 
American World Airways terminal. They boarded Pan 
Am flight 227, the same flight that had taken many of the 
children in groups of ten, twenty, and thirty to Guyana 
the year before—most of them lied to, drugged, or 
forcefully carried on with their hands tied. The latter 
happened to Dee Dee Smith, while People’s Temple 
counselors told the airlines personnel she had a “sad 
history of violent emotional problems.”

During the long flight to Guyana, via Trinidad, Leo 
Ryan talked with each of the Concerned Relatives about 
their loved ones and prompted questions they wanted 
him to ask or little things they wanted him to look for in 
their relatives’ personalities to determine if they had 
been brainwashed.

Their plane touched down at Timehri International 
Airport, outside Georgetown, Guyana, shortly after mid­
night, November 15. In the crowd of people, mostly 
Guyanese, meeting the plane were two Americans— 
Paula Adams and Linda Sharon Amos, two of Jones’ most 
trusted and loyal lieutenants. (Three days later, on or­
ders from Jones, Amos would slit the throats of her three 
children, then her own, in Georgetown.)

The Ryan delegation was met by Ambassador Burke’s 
deputy, Richard Dwyer, who was upset because the 
press had come along. Press members were immediately 
hassled, and told that their five-day visas had been 
shortened to one day. All suspected Jim Jones’ long arm 
of political influence.
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Ryan had his hands full the first day, trying to 
straighten out the visa problem for the press and getting 
the Concerned Relatives in to see the Ambassador. 1 he 
first evening was reserved for protocol as the Congress­
man paid a courtesy call on Guyana’s Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, then had cocktails and dinner with the Ambassa­
dor. The state-controlled paper, The Guyana Chronicle, 
acknowledged the presence (but not the real purpose) of 
Ryan’s visit to Guyana, reporting that Ryan and the 
Minister had discussed “the New International Order, 
the International Commodities, the Sugar Agreement 
and other topics of world significance.”

The Jones propaganda apparatus wasted no time: The 
People’s Temple public relations director at George­
town, Sharon Amos, handed the Congressman a long 
scroll with 600 signatures under a petition that read, in 
part: “Many of us have been visited by friends and 
relatives. However, we have not invited, nor do we care 
to see, Congressman Ryan.”

On the second day, the Ambassador finally agreed to 
see the Concerned Relatives for “an hour.” The meeting 
started with a biased slide presentation of Jonestown, 
which impressed no one who was familiar with how 
Jones had perfected his public relations scam over the 
years. But a slide showing Deputy Ambassador Richard 
Dwyer standing with Jim Jones and his wife startled 
Ryan and Speier, for it showed him not to be an indepen­
dent official to whom Jonestown residents could turn if 
they wanted to leave. After the Concerned Relatives 
poured out their hearts to Ambassador Burke, he handed 
them copies of the following statement:

The People’s Temple Community at Jonestown is a group 
of private American citizens who have chosen to come to 
Guyana as permanent or semi-permanent residents. As with 
private American citizens residing anywhere abroad, they 
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are subject to the laws and the regulations of the host 
country, in this case Guyana. The American Embassy in 
Georgetown has no official contact with the People’s Tem­
ple other than the provision of normal consular services to 
the individual members of this community on a regular 
basis. These services include renewal of passports, registra­
tion of births, etc. The Embassy has no official authority 
over the community or its individual members. Except as 
provided in the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations 
and in the Bilateral Consular Convention that is in force 
between our two countries, the Embassy has no authority to 
require contacts between members of the People’s Temple 
and persons whom they do not wish to receive. The 
members of the People’s Temple are protected by the 
Privacy Act of 1974, as are all American citizens.

When the meeting was over, many of the relatives broke 
down and cried. Beverly Oliver called the session “pure 
bullshit!”

On November 17, Ryan had a heated exchange with 
Jones’ two lawyers, Charles Garry and Mark Lane, in 
which Garry' called the Congressman “a dumb son of a 
bitch” and stated that he and the delegation weren’t 
going to Jonestown. Ryan let the Ambassador, Lane, and 
Garry know, in no uncertain terms, that he was going to 
Jonestown whatever the Embassy or People’s Temple 
thought. He had come to see if people were being held 
against their will, and come hell or high water, he was 
going to find out. He gave Lane and Garry two hours to 
decide if they wanted to accompany him. The lawyers 
buckled under, and preparations were made to leave for 
the settlement. Because of seating limitations on the 
small plane to Port Kaituma, only four Concerned Rela­
tives could make the trip. The group chose Jim Cobb, 
Beverly Oliver, Carol Boyd (aunt to the Houston girls), 
and Anthony Katsaris, Maria’s brother.
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Jones knew from his informer, Tim Carter, that Ryan 
believed strongly that people were being held in the 
compound against their will. Carter also told Jones the 
names of the people Ryan and his delegation wanted to 
see and why he wanted to meet with them, which meant 
Jones had plenty of time to coerce, intimidate, and coach 
those members Ryan and the press would be interview­
ing. While the investigating body was being delayed in 
Georgetown by the Ambassador and Garry and Lane, 
Jones was playing up the fear in his misguided followers. 
At a mass meeting, Jones threateningly asked, “Who 
wants to leave with Ryan?” According to Edith Parks, 
who, after twenty years as a member of the faithful, left 
with the Congressman: “Jones was telling everyone that 
‘the Ryan plane will fall from the sky.’ ”

Jones and his aides believed they could con this 
visiting group just as they had all the others in the past. 
Children’s toys and the seniors’ needlework and crochet­
ing were put on display in the main community hall. 
There was music and entertainment, and even meat 
dishes were prepared for the visiting VIPs. For days 
before Ryan arrived, the young children and older teen­
agers were coached unmercifully as to what they should 
say, and were warned of the consequences if they 
“messed up.” The Houston children, who had never 
read the article about their grandfather’s being “scared 
for too long,” were to challenge their aunt, Carol Boyd, 
on “how unfair the article was to Jim Jones and PT.” 
Everyone was given pat answers to questions that the 
hierarchy knew the Congressman and his staff would be 
asking.

On the evening of November 16, while Ryan was 
dining with the press in Georgetown, a meeting was 
held in Jones’ private quarters, at which the cult leader 
and his small band of fanatics decided to murder the 
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Congressman and the press after their visit to Jonestown. 
Several wanted to do it on their arrival, but the final 
decision was to see first if they couldn’t con the delega­
tion.

Leo Ryan was picked up at the Port Kaituma airstrip 
and driven to Jonestown before the accompanying press. 
According to an observer from The Guyana Chronicle, 
Ryan greeted Jones with the list of people he wanted to 
see and said, “You have been accused of having a totally 
closed shop where no one can leave.’’ Jones countered 
that it was all a pack of lies and invited the Congressman 
to “see what you want to see and talk to whom you want 
to talk with." adding, “I am sick and tired of all the lies. 
We have come here to build a peaceful community 
because it is more comfortable than in San Francisco.”

To the outsiders, Jonestown must have been impres­
sive at first glance. A whole community had been hacked 
out of the jungle and buildings constructed. It was 
obvious that an enormous amount of time and hard work 
had gone into the compound. Smiling children played in 
the playground; infants were lovingly tended in the 
nursery; cheerful adults went about their baking, laun­
dry, and ground-maintenance chores—all gave the ap­
pearance of a very happy existence. Marceline Jones 
greeted the investigators with a hearty “Welcome to 
Jonestown” and invited them to a dinner of smoked pork 
and eddoes—a local root vegetable—potato salad, and 
coffee, with tarts for dessert.

When the press and Cohcerned Relatives finally ar­
rived at the compound, thanks to the persistence of 
Ryan, they were treated with guarded tenseness. Some 
had not seen their loved ones for more than two years. 
Outspoken Beverly Oliver was helped from the truck by 
her two strong sons, William and Bruce. One of the boys 
leaned close to his mother’s ear and whispered, “Mama, 
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please be cool. Things are very, very bad here. Don’t say 
anything, please—we 11 talk later.

When the Houston girls saw their aunt, Carol Boyd, 
they immediately started admonishing her for the Exam­
iner article that quoted their grandfather and, according 
to them, was untrue and unfair to Jim Jones and People’s 
Temple. Maria Katsaris greeted her brother, Anthony, 
coldly. The Cobb family was detached, if pleasant, to its 
older brother and son, Jim, whom everyone knew Jones 
hated fiercely. Cobb was already a marked man: The 
decision had been made to kill him along with Ryan and 
certain members of the press.

Congressman Ryan and Jackie Speier set to work 
immediately, interviewing about one hundred persons, 
of whom more than half were children and teen-agers. 
The talks continued during a two-hour show of live 
musical entertainment. Marceline Jones and Harriet 
Tropp brought the individuals to Ryan as he requested 
them. For the most part, he and his staff got pat answers 
from people with frightened faces. At one point, Speier 
turned to Ryan and whispered, “There is no question in 
my mind that there is mind control being exercised 
here.” Ryan agreed, saying the people he was talking 
with were “unnaturally animated.” Both thought the 
children were “very scared, timid, passive”—only a few 
were “independent thinkers”—and were giving re­
hearsed responses. Two young people, Vernon Gosney 
and Monica Bagby, told the Congressman they wanted 
out.

Ryan pointed out to Bob Krause of The Washington 
Post how unnatural it seemed for all the old people to be 
keeping time to hard rock music. He also pointed out a 
man with a crew cut who appeared to be in his mid­
forties: “Look at that man’s face, just look at his face!” 
Both Ryan and Krause saw that the eyes of Tom Kice, Sr., 
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were “glazed.” Little did they know that in less than 
twenty-four hours this man would be standing on the 
back of a tractor-pulled flatbed trailer, firing a rifle at 
them.

As the entertainment moved into its second hour, Ryan 
thought it best to make a few comments to the entire 
population. He started by saying, “I want to pull no 
punches. This is a congressional inquiry.” He com­
mented further: “I can tell you right now that by the few 
conversations I’ve had with some of the folks here 
already this evening, that there are some people who 
believe this is the best thing that ever happened in their 
whole lives.” The audience erupted into a twenty­
minute standing ovation. To the press, this was the first 
real sign that something wasn’t right. It was clear that 
People’s Temple members were not very sociable. They 
kept quietly to themselves, shying away from any at­
tempt by the reporters to interview them. They knew 
only too well that the open walls of the main pavilion 
allowed the security guards to keep a watchful eye on 
everything that was said and done.

The press zeroed in on Jones when he showed them 
the subject of the court custody controversy, John Victor 
Stoen. Jones told the reporters to see for themselves the 
striking resemblance between him and the attractive 
child. “Do you like it here in Jonestown?” Don Harris, 
NBC correspondent, asked John. The little boy gave a 
barely audible “yes.” When Jones was asked to comment 
on the allegations of violence, he answered with rancor:

I do not believe in violence. Violence corrupts. And they 
say I want power. What kind of power do I have walking 
down the path talking to my little old seniors? I hate power. 
I hate money. The only thing I wish now is that I was never 
bom. All I want is peace. I’m not worried about my image. 
If we could just stop it, stop this fighting. But if we don’t, I 
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don’t know what’s going to happen to twelve hundred lives 
here.

At that point, the pavilion lights were turned on and the 
entertainment stopped, signaling an end to the evening. 
The arrangement was for Ryan and Speier to spend the 
night at Jonestown, and the press wanted to as well, but 
Jones told his wife, “I don’t want them here. Get them 
out of here!” The media left the compound for a late- 
night bar in Port Kaituma. Ryan and Speier accompanied 
Richard Dwyer to the Jonestown radio shack, where the 
Embassy official was keeping in touch with Georgetown. 
Ryan sent a coded message to Jim Schollaert, who had 
stayed behind in Georgetown, to order another plane for 
the next day. Schollaert got the message, which meant 
some dissidents would be coming out with Ryan.

At the Weekend Discotheque in Port Kaituma, the 
media people and Concerned Relatives listened to sto­
ries of abuse and terror at Jonestown. Hearing that at 
least two residents per month attempted to escape and 
there were arms at the camp, the press decided to get 
tougher with Jones the next morning. Meanwhile, Ryan 
and Speier decided to split up and interview separately 
in order to finish up the next day—Saturday, November 
18. They also discussed what they would do once they 
got back to Washington, and agreed that Ryan should not 
make any statement upon leaving the settlement.

The next morning, after a hearty breakfast of pancakes 
and bacon, the interviewing began again. Marceline 
Jones took the press and Concerned Relatives on a 
special tour of the nursery, the saw mill, the medical 
facility, the library of 10,000 volumes, and “typical” 
living quarters. Carol Boyd felt the place “wasn’t natural. 
It was like a summer camp showcase.” Some children 
were baby-sitting their younger peers in the nursery, 



164 THE CHILDREN OF JONESTOWN

some were watching videotapes of Willy Wonkas Choc­
olate Factory in the pavilion, and others were engaged 
in a dance class. While Jones’ wife was bragging about 
how “every Jonestown child was cared for individually,” 
the reporters, annoyed with the control aspect of the 
tour, started out on their own and discovered one tightly 
closed building filled with very old people. “The inside 
resembled a slave ship’’ was one comment, which even 
Mark Lane conceded was correct.

Tension built as more and more people asked to get 
out before it was too late. Dale Parks told Ryan, “We 
gotta get outa here—this is hell!’’ His mother, Edith, told 
Speier she wanted her whole family out, but not to tell 
Jones until she had gathered them all together. She said 
that if Jones knew in advance, he would have several 
family members hidden, making it impossible for all of 
them to leave. The Parks family ingeniously communi­
cated in a place where no one could talk privately by 
making believe they were fighting with one another; 
under their breaths, they passed the word that they were 
getting out that morning with Ryan.

A very nervous, nail-biting, fifteen-year-old Brenda 
Parks responded to Jackie Speier’s questions for a verbal 
affidavit:

“What is your wish?”
“I want to go back home.”
“Where is home?”
“U.S.A.”
After the other members of the Parks family made 

affidavits, they assembled around Congressman Ryan.
At the same time, Don Harris of NBC was grilling 

Jones. He asked about the alleged guns in Jonestown. “A 
boldfaced lie!” retorted Jones. Harris showed the cult 
leader a slip of paper from Vernon Gosney, asking to 
leave Jonestown with the Ryan party. Jones grew tense 
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and responded with icy anger: “People play games, 
friend. They lie. What can I do with liars? Are you 
people going to leave us? I just beg you, please leave us. 
Anybody that wants to can get out of here. . . . They 
come and go all the time.” As the interview ended, the 
newsman shook Jones’ hand and said in a friendly voice 
that he hoped they could meet again. Jones, who had 
ordered the investigative reporter to be murdered, 
looked him in the eye and coolly replied: “I shall live in 
anticipation of that day.”

Ryan then approached the minister: “There’s a family 
of six that wants to leave.” When Jones saw Edith Parks, 
his jaw fell. Saying “I feel betrayed,” he asked the 
woman why after all these years she was leaving. Mrs. 
Parks looked at him steadily and answered with poi­
gnancy and courage: “You’re not the man I knew.” Jones 
pleaded for sympathy, claiming he had been under a lot 
of pressure. Still looking him in the eye, Edith replied: 
“We’ve been under a lot of pressure, too, and who do you 
think put us there?” Jones, now almost begging, said 
quietly, “Don’t do this to me, Edith. Wait until the 
Congressman goes, and I’ll give you the money and the 
passports.” With firm resolve, Edith answered, “No. 
This is our chance. We’re going.”

But Jones didn’t give up easily. During the exchange 
with Edith, a security guard unobtrusively took twelve- 
year-old Tracy Parks from the pavilion to a nearby 
building where Marceline Jones pressed the little girl to 
stay. Shortly thereafter, Patty Parks (who would be killed 
at the airstrip) noticed that her daughter was missing and 
frantically screamed for the child. This emotional scene 
in front of the Congressman was effective, and Jones 
motioned a guard to return Tracy.

Ryan had his picture taken with the Houston girls and 
their aunt, Carol Boyd; then Don Harris interviewed 
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them and their mother. To the reporter’s inquiry about 
their happiness at Jonestown, Judy Lynn replied, “I like 
it here. I wouldn’t want to go back for anything in the 
world.” Her younger sister, Patricia, said she had her 
passport and could come and go any time she pleased. As 
was the case with every one interviewed that day, nei­
ther of the girls made eye contact with the camera or the 
interviewer. Phyllis Houston said she would be leaving 
Jonestown in a few weeks but felt good that her daugh­
ters would be staying in such a safe place. Carol Boyd 
asked Phyllis when the girls might come home for a 
visit. ‘‘It costs a lot of money to bring them back,” she 
responded.

Harris set up an interview with Bill and Bruce Oliver 
after their mother, on the advice of her sons, refused one. 
Bruce Oliver said, “I’m glad Mama and us have some 
understanding and she understands.” What the boys 
could not tell Harris was that the “understanding” was a 
planned escape from Jonestown after the departure of 
the delegation. Mrs. Oliver was leaving money in 
Georgetown for their flight home.

The Olivers were not the only ones making their own 
plans to leave Jonestown. Richard Clark and Diane 
Louie successfully7 led seven other people out of the 
compound during the confusion of that morning. It is 
believed that four other children escaped at this point 
under the leadership of Joan Saiz. The emotional ripples 
of the Parkses’ defection spread throughout the settle­
ment. The climate was visibly volatile. Jones whispered 
to his trusted bodyguard, Jim McElvane, that he wanted 
no more defections and ordered him to engineer an 
incident, if necessary, to prevent anyone else from 
leaving.

Alvin Harold Simon, a thirty-three-year-old, full- 
blooded American Pima Indian, had never been an 
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enthusiastic supporter of Jones or the People’s Temple. 
But, like other husbands, he followed his wife, Bonnie 
Jean, to Guyana because she was fanatically attracted to 
Jones. She was one of an inner harem, doing whatever 
Jones commanded. With the Simons were their three 
children—Alvin Harold, Jr., six; Crystal Michelle, four; 
and Summer Renee, two—and Alvin’s father, Jose, a 
chief of the Pima tribe. In January 1978, Al Simon had 
attempted to lead fifty people out of Jonestown, but was 
unsuccess fid and was placed in isolation for his rebel­
lion. Since then, he had been carefully watched.

When Al Simon was spotted approaching Leo Ryan 
with his three children and his father, a hasty plan wras 
devised. A summons came over the loudspeakers: “Bon­
nie Simon, please report to the radio shop. Bonnie 
Simon, please report to the radio shop.” There, she was 
instructed by Carolyn Layton and Jim McElvane to stage 
the scene designed to cut short the Ryan investigation. 
NBC captured on film this struggle that was the essence 
of life in Jonestown. Bonnie Simon screamed, “You 
bring those children back!” Father and mother tugged at 
little Alvin Simon, each trying to take him. At the same 
moment, by prearrangement, Donald Sly pulled out a 
knife and held it to the throat of Congressman Ryan, 
saying “You are a motherfucker!”

Lawyers Garry and Lane grabbed Sly and made him 
drop the kinfe. In the process, Sly cut himself and blood 
splattered on Ryan. At this point, Dwyer of the State 
Department ordered the Ryan party to leave, saying he, 
Lane, and Garry would settle the Simon custody dispute.

Some of the last film footage taken by NBC at Jones­
town before the killing began showed Al Simon holding 
his baby, Summer Renee, in one arm and young Alvin by 
his other hand, and Jose with Crystal Michelle—all five 
moving slowly away from the cameras and the pavilion. 
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Months later, State Department officials told the Pima 
tribe and the Simon family that Al and Jose did not 
commit suicide! Poison had been injected into their 
bodies.

In an eerie scene, the entire Jonestown population 
silently witnessed the departure of the outsiders and 
those who were going with them. There was little 
waving of goodbyes. One last-minute defector, Larry 
Layton, made the others nervous; they knew how close 
he was to Jones and suspected Jones had planted him 
among them. Jim Cobb and the Parkses strongly advised 
Ryan to watch Layton. As the truck bearing the departers 
approached the gates of the compound, a young security 
guard stopped them and searched the vehicle hoping to 
find his wife and small child, who had escaped that 
morning. They weren’t there, and the truck continued on 
the muddy road to Port Kaituma.

At the airstrip, Jim Cobb, as he had been doing during 
the entire trip, again stressed the danger they were in. 
Ryan said he understood. As the two planes arrived, 
Ryan announced that six members of the press would 
have to remain behind until the next day. When told he 
couldn’t leave that day, Bob Krause of The Washington 
Post pleaded with Jim Cobb to give him his seat. Cobb, 
in an act of courage, gave it to the reporter—in the hope 
that the world would sooner learn a little more about the 
place that held his three sisters, brother, and mother in 
captivity.

The Congressman decided that he would search any­
one boarding the larger of the two planes, a de Havilland 
Otter. Jackie Speier was doing the same at the smaller 
Cessna. Layton, told he would be flying in the Cessna, 
insisted he be put in the larger plane. Speier asked Ryan, 
who told Layton he could get on the larger plane, but 
only after he had been thoroughly searched. Layton, who 
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had lied to Speier saying he had already been frisked, 
returned quietly to the smaller craft.

When the tractor pulling the large red flatbed trailer 
was first seen approaching the airstrip, Don Harris took 
the cigarette from his mouth and appraised the situation. 
“Looks like trouble,” said the veteran Vietnam War news 
reporter. Jim Cobb, standing near photographer Greg 
Robinson, hit the ground when the first shots were fired. 
After a short lull in the shooting, Cobb reached over to 
Robinson and said, “Let’s get out of here!” But Robinson 
was already dead. Cobb recognized the Temple mem­
bers on the flatbed and knew if he stayed there, he was as 
good as dead. He ran forty yards into the tall jungle grass 
at the edge of the airstrip.

Patty Parks was just about to enter the larger aircraft 
when a high-powered shell blew her head open and 
scattered her brains on the side of the plane. Her 
daughter Tracy, witnessing the violent death of her 
mother, froze and screamed hysterically until her older 
sister grabbed her hand and ran, pulling her into the 
jungle for safety. Two older children, Tom and Tina 
Bogue, were already on the plane when Mrs. Parks was 
hit. They courageously left their seats to close the door, 
thus keeping the gunmen out of the plane. Both were 
wounded. Their mother later said: “If those children 
hadn’t shut that door, those gunmen might have gotten 
on the plane and we’d all be dead now.”

One by one, the lethal fire cut down the delegation. 
Tim Reiterman was hit in the left arm and wrist, Ron 
Javers in the shoulder, and Bob Krause in the hip. NBC 
cameraman Bob Brown was struck in the leg while 
filming the men who were firing. When he fell, one of 
the assassins walked over and shot him in the face at 
close range. The NBC soundman was also fired on, but 
faked death and survived. Don Harris and Leo Ryan hit 
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the dirt behind one of the plane’s wheels. Harris fell 
dead.

Jackie Speier—a “Ryan Girl” campaigner at sixteen 
and later an intern in Ryan’s offices in California and 
Washington, who went to law school on his advice 
before becoming his legislative assistant—saw her boss 
and friend get shot. “Take over, Jackie,” he said as he 
tried to stem the flow of blood from his neck. He was hit 
again and lost consciousness. Speier, too, was cut down 
in a blast of gunshots that left four bullets in her body. 
The gunman walked over to Harris and gave him a coup 
de grace, then unloaded their weapons into Ryan’s lx>dy.

Miraculously, the Cessna took off after Layton was 
thrown off by Dale Parks. An hour later, it landed in 
Georgetown, and the Guyanese Armed Forces were 
notified of the shootings at Port Kaituma.

In Jonestown, the events were under way that would 
shock the world. Ambassador Burke received a phone 
call from Prime Minister Bumham, informing him of the 
shooting at the airstrip. The Prime Minister’s reaction to 
the news was: “Jesus Christ!” John Burke’s was a long 
silence.

Many months later, the House Foreign Affairs Com­
mittee would honor the memory of Leo Ryan in Wash­
ington with a modest plaque bearing a small stone 
brought from the airstrip at Port Kaituma and inscribed 
with Ryan’s favorite lines from Hamlet:

Whether tis nobler in the mind to suffer 
The slings and arrows of outrageous fortune, 
Or to take arms against a sea of troubles, 
And by opposing end them?
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TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

I. Timothy Oliver Stoen. hereby acknowledge that In April, 
1971, I entreated my beloved pastor, James W. Jonea, to 
sire a child by my wife, Grace Lucy (Grech) Stoen, who had 
previously, at my insistence, reluctantly but graciously con­
sented thereto. James W. Jones agreed to do so, reluctantly, 
after I explained that I very much wished to raise a child, 
but was unable, after extensive attempts, to sire one myself. 
My reason for requesting James W. Jones to do this is that I 
wanted my child to be fathered, if not by me, by the most 
compassionate, honest, and courageous human being the world 
contains.

The child, John Victor Stoen, was born on January 25, 1972. 
I am privileged beyond words to have the responsibility for 
caring for him, and I undertake this task humbly with the 
steadfast hope that said child will become a devoted follower 
of Jesus Christ and be Instrumental in bringing God’s kingdom 
here on earth, as has been his wonderful natural father.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is 
true and correct.

TimotOliver Stoen 
Post.Office Box 126 
Ukiah, California 95482

Dated: February 6, 1972

Witnessed:___2^ c, C,,A ,T>| , __________________

______________________________________________

Tim Stoen’s affidavit attributing the paternity of his son, John Victor 
Stoen, to Jim Jones.

Jones (left) and John Victor Stoen (right) in Jonestown, the night 
before the massacre. (Courtesy NBC News)



An early photograph of Jones and his wife Marceline (center left) 
with their natural and adopted children.
(Courtesy Chicago Sun Times)

Jones and followers on one of People’s Temple’s cross-country 
tours. (Chicago Sun Times)



Jones’ own “Humanitarian Award,” given to key politicians and 
other supporters of People’s Temple. The seal incorporates an out­
line map of Guyana.



The playground at Jonestown.

Nursery enclosure at Jonestown, as shown to reporters accom­
panying Congressman Ryan, only hours before the massacre. (NBC 
News)



A dancing class for Jonestown teenagers, the morning of the 
massacre. (NBC News)

Children at the Jonestown reception for Congressman Ryan the 
night before the massacre. (NBC News)



Some of the children of Jonestown—photographs taken from appli 
cation forms for entry to Guyana. (Courtesy Ministry of Immigra­
tion, Republic of Guyana)



Alvin Simon (left) and Bonnie Simon (center) struggle for their 
child, Alvin, Jr., moments before Congressman Ryan’s departure 
from Jonestown. (NBC News)

Congressman Leo Ryan addressing the people of Jonestown the 
night before his murder. (NBC News)



“Silently one hy one, in the infinite 
meadows of heaven, 

Blossomed the lovely stars, the 
forget-me-nots of the angels.”

Longfellow, Evangeline

9. rhe Last White Night
The final White Night was the culmination of forty-two 
previous rehearsals conducted to brainwash approxi­
mately a thousand members of People’s Temple into 
preparation for their death. These suicide routines, mas­
terminded by Jim Jones, were precursory to his premedi­
tated act of genocide and would, he hoped, gain him 
immortality. With the assistance of a few close aides, he 
executed his plan with atrocious effectiveness. “Jones 
took those people down there to kill them,” said Walter 
Jones, a former trusted official. “He wanted the world to 
remember him forever.”

Jones may have conceived this mass death as early as 
the late 1950s, when he read Sara Harris’ Father Divine: 
Holy Husband. In the final paragraph of the book, the 
author wrote:
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If Father Divine were to die, mass suicide among the 
Negroes in his movement could certainly result. They [sic] 
would he rooted deep, not alone in Father’s relationship 
with his followers but also in America’s relationship with 
its Negro culture. This would be the shame of America.

When Jones took his followers to visit Father Divine’s 
church in 1972, however, he found that no one had 
committed suicide after Divine’s death. On the contrary, 
the leader’s widow and followers were using his wealth 
to enjoy the good life on the Main Line of Philadelphia.

It was after Jones returned from this trip and reflected 
on his fallen mentor that he began to prepare for his own 
posthumous fame. His plan was to implant the idea of 
mass death in his faithful and nurture it in his daily 
haranguings. Shortly after he returned from Philadelphia 
and the Peace Mission, Jones introduced “Translation” 
to his “planning commission” (P.C.) counselors—they 
would take poison with Jones, and after death, the whole 
group would be “translated to a distant planet to live 
with him for all eternity.”

By 1973, he had begun to sow the seeds of revolution­
ary' suicide in individual members. Grace Stoen recalled 
a conversation with Jones: “Every'one will die,” he said, 
“except me, of course. I’ve got to stay back and explain 
why we did it, for our belief in integration.” To teen-ager 
Linda Myrtle, he preached: “If they ever put me in jail or 
if I’m killed, we’re all to commit suicide, killing the 
children first, then ourselves.”

At times of internal crisis, real or unreal, Jones ham­
mered away at the theme of death for the cause. When 
Jim Cobb and six other young People’^ Temple mem­
bers defected, Jones had his first opportunity to test the 
other members. Jeannie Mills, in Six Years With God, 
described how Jones handled the situation:
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I want to take a vote today to find out how dedicated you all 
are. Life is a bore. Surely no one here is enamored with his 
existence. You’ve seen too much reality in all the hours of 
counseling at the P.C. meetings. How many of you here 
today would be willing to take your own lives now to keep 
the church from being discredited? Perhaps this way we 
will go down in history as revolutionaries. We could leave a 
note saying that we were doing this as a sign that we want 
peace on earth, or that we couldn’t exist as an apostolic 
socialist group, or something like that.

Some of the members indicated they weren’t ready to 
die. Jones wrote down their names and told the group: 
“The names I have just read are people who can’t be 
trusted yet. A person is not trustworthy until he is fully 
ready to lay down his life for this Cause.” His son-in-law, 
Mike Cartmell, pointed out that he was willing to do it, 
but maybe the world would look upon the act as foolish 
or insane. At this point, Jones dropped the matter.

But the plan was hardly shelved. Jones developed a 
key theme and drove it home in every kind of communi­
cation he held with his people: Individual suicide was 
wrong, and its punishment extremely harsh—the person 
would be reborn into the world that existed five thou­
sand years ago. He or she would have to live “five 
hundred lives” just to get into this century. Revolu­
tionary suicide, however, was on a much higher plane 
because of the good it would do for humanity. Discus­
sions were held on how to kill everyone on the planning 
commission. To Debbie Blakey he proposed two ideas— 
load everyone on a plane and shoot the pilot in mid­
flight, or fill up Temple buses and drive them off the 
Golden Gate Bridge.

In late 1975, suicide drills—the terrifying “White 
Nights”—began. First drinks were passed out, then the 
members were told: “You just drank poison, and in thirty
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minutes we will all be dead." Guards were stationed at 
the doors to ensure that no one left. The drills became so 
frequent that some members of the Alvin Simon family 
stopped going to the Temple. “Indians do not commit 
suicide," they said.

Jim Jones knew that San Francisco was not the right 
setting for his final White Night. Though church mem­
bers were isolated by indoctrination, communal living, 
constant surveillance, and armed guards, the purlieus of 
People’s Temple were too fragile, the area too available, 
for those who wanted to defect. A section of jungle in 
Guyana was already being cleared and prepared for the 
ultimate act. He only needed time and a major crisis to 
provide the rationale for transporting his entire follow­
ing to the agricultural settlement. Publication of the New 
West article gave him the pretext.

Using his form of biological blackmail, he orchestrated 
the mass emigration to the small South American country 
of Guyana. Typical was the example of one-year-old 
Jakari Wilson, who was shipped out with the first group 
of children and senior citizens. Her mother, Leslie 
Wagner Wilson, followed shortly thereafter. Another 
wave of arrivals brought Leslie’s brother and sister, Mark 
and Michelle. Then Mrs. Inez Jeannette Wagner, their 
mother, was ordered to Jonestown. When the father 
discovered what had happened to his children, he ob­
tained a court order for the return of Mark, but as with 
other Concerned Relatives, his attempt at law and order 
was short-circuited by Jones.

Guyana was an ideal location, for interference by the 
law, the news media, or troublesome relatives was 
practically impossible. Surrounded by thick jungle, 
Jonestown had only one road leading to it, no tele­
phones, and only a closely guarded shortwave radio. All 
incoming and outgoing mail was censored, and an in­
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tensely loyal, armed security force ringed the commu­
nity day and night. Upon their arrival, children and 
adults were trapped. All money, jewelry, valuables, and 
passports were confiscated. An Embassy cable to the 
State Department in Washington documented the isola­
tion:

While we are aware of serious allegations against Jim Jones 
and People’s Temple concerning wrongful appropriation of 
property, forgery and bodily assaults . . . Department 
should be aware that it takes a minimum of two to three 
days to complete such a trip . . . and frequent visits to the 
area will strain the meager resources of GOG [Government 
of Guyana].

On November 28, 1977, Temple lawyer Charles Garry 
quoted Jones as saying “he wasn’t sending anyone 
back.” To a local reporter who covered his arrival at 
Georgetown, Jones said, “I am here with no feeling of a 
future. Our movement is dead. If I didn’t come here . . . 
we would be destroyed in the U.S.A.” To Debbie 
Touchette, working in the Georgetown office of the 
Temple, he confided, “We are going down, Debbie; 
there is no hope.”

If anyone managed to escape Jonestown by the single 
road, which was heavily patrolled and kept in a state of 
disrepair, or through the snake-infested jungle, the like­
lihood of getting assistance in a local town or village 
without money or something to barter was remote. The 
airstrip was seven miles away, but it was used infre­
quently, only by charter aircraft from distant George­
town. Escape by water would have required an eight­
hour trip downriver to an ocean port, then a sixteen-hour 
voyage to Georgetown. The frequent roll calls in Jones­
town gave the potential escapee little time to get very far 
before being overtaken by the armed guards.
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Jones bragged that Jonestown was a self-supporting 
“agricultural mission.” But former Temple member Jim 
Bogue, assigned as farm manager, said the lease Jones 
signed with the Guyanese government for 3,852 acres of 
uncleared jungle was only a ruse. The proposal Jones 
submitted to officials to obtain his lease called for agri­
cultural development of 3,000 acres to support a popula­
tion of no more than 200 people.

Bogue said it was possible the land might have sup­
ported that many people, with strong financial backing 
from Temple headquarters in San Francisco. But the 
Temple operation, with its many profitable financial 
enterprises, was virtually halted after the mass exodus of 
its members to Jonestown in 1977. By illegally removing 
children under guardianships from the country, Jones 
cut off a sizable share of the lucrative Social Security 
payments he was receiving for the children—another 
indication that he was burning his bridges behind him. 
“More than 1,000 people moved to Jonestown that 
summer,” Bogue said. “That was five times what the 
land would support.”

While Jones had always been a meticulous planner, he 
embarked on his paradise adventure without even test­
ing soil samples at the site. A Guyanese agriculture 
official said that the earth there was laterite, an extremely 
acidic red jungle soil from which almost all nutriments 
had been leached. “There was a curious mismatching of 
the soil, the technology, and the number of people at 
Jonestown,” he said. Charles Touchette, a former Tem­
ple member who helped build Jonestown, said “nothing 
grew well except the bush and a root vegetable plant.” 
Virtually the only food served at Jonestown was rice, 
which Touchette brought in by boat from Trinidad. The 
population, consisting mainly of children and senior 
citizens whose only farming experience had been that of 
picking grapes in California, was clearly an inadequate 
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work force. Most of the strong young inen and women 
were made guards and stood in the shade, making sure 
the others worked ceaselessly.

The original plan for the settlement called for con­
struction of 150 living units. However, only fifty-two had 
been completed when the big move was made from San 
Francisco, and Jones ordered Touchette to build no 
more. This resulted in severe overcrowding. Stanley 
Clayton said, “The buildings were so crowded that it 
was almost impossible to dress and undress inside be­
cause you kept knocking into other people.” There were 
only two toilets, and for the last four months, one was too 
full to use. Toilet articles were rationed—one tube of 
toothpaste per year, one bar of soap per month—and, on 
Jones’ orders, Bibles were to be used for toilet paper.

Guyanese officials who visited the settlement noted 
that during each tour, the children were always studying 
the same page, the same lesson. They attempted to place 
a Guyanese teacher in the compound’s school, but Jones 
reportedly bribed them and threatened mass suicide if 
the government forced its hand in the matter. He won his 
case.

Native villagers were extremely impressed with 
Jonestown’s medical unit, and many left the compound 
with high praise. In reality, however, like everything 
else, this was for show. Leslie Wilson, who escaped the 
morning of the final White Night, had become embit­
tered at how the old people were forced to live in 
conditions reminiscent of a slave ship and hand over 
their entire Social Security' checks to Jones, yet received 
no medical treatment at all. Even when people were 
vomiting, they had to continue to work in the fields. 
Stanley Clayton echoed Wilson’s bitterness over the lack 
of care. “The unit was too busy doping up those who 
wanted to leave or were critical of Jones or were caught 
trying to escape, to take care of the sick.” The medical 
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unit was one more means of control; in the end, it 
became the means of death when the medical personnel 
were turned into killers.

A significant clue to Jones’ motivation relates to one of 
the most expensive pieces of machinery at Jonestown, a 
huge bulldozer used to clear the jungle. When an inex­
perienced operator severely damaged the equipment, it 
cost $100,000 to repair. After that, the only person Jones 
allowed to operate the machine was Touchette’s son, 
Michael. One day, however, Alvin Simon, in anger and 
frustration, climbed on it and started uprooting tree 
stumps. Michael Touchette ran to Jones and told him: 
“Simon will tear up that bulldozer, and it’ll cost us 
another $100,000 to fix it again.” But Jones told Tou­
chette that he was eager to placate Simon at this time. 
Touchette persisted, but Jones cut him off, saying he did 
not w'ant Simon to leave; he didn’t want anybody to 
leave.

The security force that Jones developed through total 
brainwashing and personal favors was as ruthless as any 
in history and loyal enough to guarantee Jones’ appoint­
ment with destiny. Leslie Wilson, whose husband was a 
member, said “Most of them were dedicated enough to 
kill their own mothers for Jones and the Cause.” Headed 
up by Jones’ adopted son, Johnny, the force was armed 
with shotguns, semiautomatic rifles, and deadly Wham- 
O-Power-Masters crossbows.

The security' guards were better fed than the others 
and were permitted sex, alcoholic drinks, and other 
privileges. Most important, they didn’t have to work in 
the fields or perform other hard labor. Their only job was 
to keep people in the compound and to round up 
everyone, including the children, to make sure no one 
left the main area during White Nights. Children who 
survived Jonestown called them “rough,” “mean,” and 
“cruel.” Jones had succeeded in expertly playing on 
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the guards’ hatred of “the system’’ and, in many in­
stances, on their incredibly wretched lives before they 
joined People’s Temple, especially in the case of blacks.

Typical of the guards was Marie Duckett, who had 
been abused as a child, forced into prostitution, and 
hooked on heroin, and had spent time in prison for 
felony convictions. Marie was court-ordered into Jones’ 
care; he claimed her as a model example of his success­
ful rehabilitation program: “When someone is rehabili­
tated in our program, I know it! She [Marie] is one of 
these.” When Stanley Clayton testified at a coroner’s 
inquest after the massacre, he had this to say of Jones’ 
model proselyte: “I walked up to the security to see if 
maybe I knew one of them and they would let me go. 
One saw me and jumped back and pulled back her bow 
and arrow. Her name was Marie Lawrence Duckett.”

Having isolated his followers from the outside world, 
Jones worked on their fears to create a world based on 
his own imagination. He read the nightly news on the 
settlement’s loudspeakers, warning that frightful danger 
surrounded them all, that evil men were out there set on 
destroying their noble experiment. He carefully nur­
tured the idea that only he could protect his people from 
the danger that was everywhere, in the jungle and 
beyond.

One night Stephan Jones saw his father slip into 
the jungle with a .357 magnum pistol. Shots were heard 
in the night, then Jones’ voice over the loudspeaker an­
nouncing a sniper attack.*  “He put fear in us to put faith 
in him,” said Michael Touchette.

* Stephan told Michael Touchette about similar incidents that occurred 
while he was growing up in Indianapolis. Stephan said his father would run 
into the house, shouting that the family was under attack and telling all of 
them to hide under their beds. Then Jones would run out, and moments later 
Stephan would hear glass breaking and gunshots. One night he summoned 
enough courage to look out the window and saw his father standing outside, 
firing into the air.
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For the children, tlie White Night drills were constant, 
petrifying nightmares. Many of the drills took place late 
at night or very early in the morning. Rudely awakened, 
the children heard the threatening voice of Jones talking 
about .an attack by savage enemies who would cut and 
dismember their bodies. Many times the security guards 
forced the youngsters to crawl under the dining-room 
tent and form walls around it with tables so that they 
wouldn’t be hurt during the attack. Leslie Wilson said 
the fear instilled in the children controlled every aspect 
of their lives at Jonestown.

Two months before the final night, Jones ordered 
everyone to write an “open confessional letter” to him. 
Eleven-year-old Mark Fields was so caught up in what 
Jones had been espousing night after night that he 
wrote:

If the capitalists came over the hill I’d just drink the potion 
as fast as I could do it. I wouldn’t let the capitalist [sic] get 
me, but if they did I’d endure it. I would not say a word. I’d 
take the pain, and when I couldn’t stand it any more I’d 
pass out.

After a delegation of children entreated Jones not to 
cut off their heads, as he had graphically suggested 
during one White Night, Jones instructed Dr. Larry 
Schacht to research the subject of mass suicide by 
poisoning. On a hot night in May 1978, Jones assembled 
his followers to see the progress of Schacht’s research. 
Three pigs were brought up from the piggery and 
injected with syringes filled with different quantities of 
cyanide. The children, the adults, and Jones watched the 
ominous results.

More and more drills were carried out. As Debbie 
Blakey testified in her affidavit: “Because our lives were 
so wretched anyway, and because we were so afraid to 
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contradict Reverend Jones, the concept [mass suicide] 
was not challenged.” One night everyone, including the 
children, was forced to drink a strange-looking mixture. 
The drill ended with Jones saying: “The time is not far 
off when it will become necessary for us to die by our 
own hands . . .” As mentioned earlier, he also threat­
ened during this time to kill everyone in a burning 
building if the courts forced him to return John Victor 
Stoen to his parents.

According to Stephan Jones, his mother challenged the 
suicide-by-poison plan. “You can’t kill 1,000 people,” 
said Marceline Jones. “There are going to be people 
[left] alive, brain-damaged. It’s going to be a horrible 
scene.” Jones responded that the alternative was torture. 
At a subsequent meeting of top security personnel and 
aides, Jones directed Johnny Jones to pick one very 
trusted person to make sure that after everyone had 
taken the real poison, no one was left alive. If there were 
any, they were to be shot.

On Friday, November 17, when the loudspeaker an­
nounced, “Alert! Alert! Alert!” Richard Clark instinc­
tively knew he was in extreme da iger. From the day he 
entered Jonestown, Clark had pl aed to escape, for he 
hated the compound and he hated Jones. The time was 
one o’clock in the afternoon, a p< uliar hour for a White 
Night drill. Clark observed that Jim Jones was strangely 
silent as Marceline announced that Congressman Ryan 
was coming to the compound. She continued talking in 
detail for some time and gave everyone instructions. 
Richard Clark and Leslie Wilson knew by the way 
“Father” looked that the situation was deteriorating 
rapidly.

At this point, Jones told everyone to get into good 
clothes so that they wouldn’t look as if they had been 
working in the fields all day. He also ordered them not to 
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look tired. The gathering broke up with Jones’ parting 
words: “If Ryan gets in, he won’t get out alive.” As 
Leslie Wilson would attest later, “Everyone knew some­
thing was going to happen to Ryan and that something 
would greatly affect everyone there.” When they left the 
main pavilion, Richard Clark whispered to his compan­
ion, Diane Louie, “Something definitely is going to 
happen, and I want to be out of here when it does!”

Clark had previously volunteered to help clear the 
jungle so that he could explore escape routes. He felt 
certain he knew the way to Matthews Ridge, which was 
about thirty-six miles from Jonestown. His plan was to 
take some music tapes with him that he could sell or 
barter for money to get Diane and himself out of the area. 
Diane had a close friend in the medical unit, Leslie 
Wilson, whom she could trust. When told of Clark’s plan, 
Leslie said to count her in, but she also wanted to take 
her three-year-old child and invite another family, Julius 
and Sandra Evans and their three children: Sonya, 
eleven; Sharia, seven; and Shirelie, five.

They decided to leave during the next morning’s 
general confusion and tension of Ryan’s interviewing. 
Diane and Leslie obtained small amounts of Valium and 
gave it to the younger children so that they wouldn’t be 
frightened or make any noise when the party made its 
initial move from Jonestown. They left at eight-thirty in 
the morning and, with much difficulty and determina­
tion, arrived at Matthews Ridge at six that evening. 
Police and army personnel there told them that Ryan had 
been ambushed, but none of them knew at that moment 
the people they had left behind were being slaughtered.

Nine escaped in the Clark party; four others are known 
to have survived once the killing started. The escape 
parties were small because of the constant vigilance of 
the security force and because no one knew whom to 



THE LAST WHITE NIGHT 183

trust. So effective was Jones in breaking down human 
relationships, that Leslie Wilson couldn’t trust her own 
brother, mother, or husband. Yet, according to the survi­
vors, more than 90 percent of the people at Jonestown 
wanted desperately to leave. Sandra Cobb declined to 
join Leslie because she didn’t want to leave her family. 
She, her mother, and brother Joel wanted to leave but 
couldn’t do it.

In retrospect, there was no logical reason for Jones to 
kill Ryan and his party. Only a handful of people de­
fected with them. Robert Krause of The Washington 
Post had been very impressed with Jonestown. The 
NBC interview tapes revealed nothing dramatic ex­
cept differences of opinion within families. No doubt 
those who left with Ryan would have told their sto­
ries once they were safely in the United States, but 
Jones and his public relations people had always 
been adept at neutralizing bad press. Seen in light of 
this, then, Ryan’s murder had only one purpose—to 
trigger the finale of Jones’ self-appointed date with 
destiny, and cut off the last chance for escape for the 
children, the elderly, and all the rest.

During the evening of November 17, as the entertain­
ing of the Ryan delegation progressed, Charles Garry felt 
things were going rather well. Most of the audience felt 
the same. Yet, for almost no reason, after Leo Ryan 
praised Jonestown, Jones told the press: “If we could 
just stop it, stop this fighting. But if we don’t, I don’t 
know what’s going to happen to twelve hundred lives 
here.”

On the final day, after Ryan, his delegation, and the 
defectors left the compound for the airstrip, Marceline 
Jones told everyone to return to his or her cottage and 
rest while dinner was being prepared in the kitchen. The 
children were unusually quiet as they intuitively antici­
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pated another White Night. The adults wondered what 
punishment would be in store for Alvin Simon for 
attempting to leave with his children and father. Some 
mothers sensed an even greater and final danger, for they 
knew the medical staff had been summoned. The follow­
ing petition was later found crumpled in the mud near 
Jones' house:

We, the undersigned mothers, have been shown a dream.
We left our homes to follow it. Now we fear that it is about 
to turn into a nightmare. . . . Dad, we beg of you, don’t 
finally embark upon the step that you have spoken of. 
Please spare our children. If we must die, let them live. 
There is nothing noble in dying, nothing fine about killing 
our children.

But Jones had made his decision. The Ryan party was 
already under attack at the airport. In a radio message to 
the forty-six Temple members at Lamaha Gardens in 
Georgetown, Jones ordered all of them to commit sui­
cide immediately. Lamaha Gardens radioed back that 
they had nothing available with which to do the deed, 
and requested instructions. A coded reply said, “KNIFE.”

After Liane Harris returned home to Lamaha Gardens 
from having dinner with her visiting father, Sherwin, at 
the Pegasus Hotel, her crazed mother cut her throat, as 
well as her son Mark’s and another daughter’s. Sharon 
Amos then cut her own throat, all in blind obedience to 
“Father.” The other People’s Temple members in 
Georgetown disobeyed the order, as did all the followers 
in San Francisco.

At approximately 5 P.M., Jones’ order for everyone to 
assemble at the main pavilion came over the loud­
speakers. Dr. Larry Schacht and nurses Annie Moore and 
Joyce Touchette finished filling the last of hundreds of 
syringes with a cyanide-laced sweet drink. The syringes 
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were colored yellow for the infants, rose-pink for the 
children under ten, and purple for the older children and 
adults. A box of Magic Markers lay in readiness for the 
placing of an “X” on infants and children—and eventu­
ally on everyone—after the cyanide had been adminis­
tered.

Security personnel, armed with guns and crossbows, 
were positioned around the pavilion as the people gath­
ered for the last mass meeting. Stanley Clayton heard 
security guard Johnny Brown instruct his men over the 
loudspeakers: “If you see anyone doing a suspicious or a 
treacherous act—if you see anyone trying to leave—I 
want them shot.”

According to Clayton, Jones then stepped to the micro­
phone and addressed the multitude in fatherly tones: 
“Let’s don’t fight one another. Let’s do it right. I 
wouldn’t want others to see that we were fighting among 
ourselves.” Once the consequence of resistance had 
been made perfectly clear to those assembled, a tape 
recorder was turned on to capture the last moments. 
However, experts who later examined the tape said that 
Jones had monitored the recording by turning the ma­
chine off and on approximately forty-seven times.

He told his followers the end was near, that the 
Guyanese Army was preparing to “parachute in here on 
us.. . . If the children are left, we’re going to have them 
butchered. . . . When they start parachuting out of the 
air, they’ll shoot some of our innocent babies. . . . 
They’ve got to shoot me to get through to some of these 
people. I’m not letting them take your child. Can you let 
them take your child?”

“No!” said a chorus of voices. “No, no!”
And I don t think we should sit here and take any 

more time for our children to be endangered,” said 
Jones, because if they come after our children and we 
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give them our children, then our children will suffer 
forever.”

A woman, Christine Miller, protested: “I look at all the 
babies, and I think they deserve to live.” Jones coun­
tered: “But don’t they deserve much more? They de­
serve peace.” Christine continued in protest. “I have the 
right to choose, and I choose not to commit suicide.” At 
that point, according to eyewitness Clayton, Jones 
turned off the tape recorder and said, “I’m going to see 
that you die.’’ Christine Miller, who was not very popu­
lar among the people at Jonestown, was baiting Jones to 
build hostility against her. Ordell Rhodes, impressed 
with her courage, heard her directly challenge Jones: 
“Who made this decision for the children? They didn’t 
have any part in this decision. They have a right to life 
and happiness.”

Jones, reportedly furious, kept his temper and replied 
evenly, “With me dead, nobody would be happy.” At 
this time, the truck pulled in from the airport. Two of the 
gunmen, Johnny Jones and Tom Kice, jumped from the 
truck. Young Jones whispered in his father’s ear. Jim 
Jones responded, “We got him—the Congressman—he’s 
dead. Jim Cobb is dead, too.” He told his son and Kice to 
drink the poison. They obeyed and were the first Temple 
members to die.

The tape recorder was turned on again, and Jones told 
everyone that the situation was now hopeless and ven­
geance would swiftly follow. He wanted the 276 chil­
dren killed first. The children had always been his 
hostages. He had used them to lure their parents to 
Guyana and to thwart any plans by the parents to 
escape. Now the children would serve his final pur­
pose.

With all the flair of a preacher, Jones bellowed: “I 
want my babies first. Take my babies and children first.” 
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He ordered the poison to be brought to the pavilion. “It’s 
simple,” he told the frightened children and their par­
ents. “There’s no convulsions with it. It’s just simple. 
Just please get it before it’s too late. The G.D.F. [Guy­
anese Defense Force] will be here. I tell you, get 
moving, get moving, get moving. Don’t be afraid to die. 
You’ll see people land out here. They’ll torture some of 
our children here.” On Jones’ order, the nurses picked 
up syringes and began squirting cyanide down the 
throats of the infants. In some cases, Clayton said, “the 
nurses plucked babies right out of their mothers’ arms” 
while the mothers stood “frozen with shock, scared out 
of their wits.” When the infants reacted to the potion 
with piercing, tormented screams, a nurse tried to reas­
sure the crowd: “They’re not crying from the pain. It’s 
just a little bitter-tasting. They’re not crying out of any 
pain.”

The security guards, using cattle prods, forced mothers 
to the vat containing the cyanide. Rouletta Paul, who was 
holding her one-year-old son, Robert, Jr., held her 
ground and wouldn’t move. A guard pressed his gun 
tightly against her side and said angrily, “You better do it 
or we re going to shoot your ass off!” The young mother 
picked up a syringe, shot the liquid down her son’s 
throat, then took some herself. Ordell Rhodes watched as 
a person standing to one side with a Magic Marker put an 
“X” on Rouletta. Rouletta walked over to the field, sat 
down, held her baby to her, and started rocking him.

With the infants dying, Marceline pleaded with Jones 
to stop killing them. “Mother, Mother, Mother” was 
recorded before he turned off the tape and confronted his 
wife. According to eyewitnesses and police reports, an 
enraged Jones either ordered or pushed Marceline from 
the table.

“You can’t do that to Mother!” protested her personal 
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bodyguard, Gary Johnson. Jones ordered Johnson to fill a 
paper cup from the vat and drink it immediately. John­
son acquiesced. Marceline seemed to give up then, and 
drank the poison herself.

The toddlers and younger children followed the ba­
bies ft) the font of death. Terrified, but not quite under­
standing what was happening, most of them obediently 
swallowed the drink. Many of the children who drank at 
the pavilion went into violent convulsions before they 
reached the outside area where they were supposed to 
die, where piles of bodies were being stacked by adult 
volunteers and security guards. Some died in the men’s 
arms as they were being carried. Others were placed 
alive on the death piles, face down to hasten asphyxia­
tion. Later, Ordell Rhodes, who had worked with many 
of these children and was their friend, talked about some 
of the innocents whom the nurses and security guards 
brought to him:

I picked up a pretty little toddler, Tchai Jones. He was 
shaking so violently with convulsions that I could hardly 
hold him. His frail little body shuddered horribly. I cradled 
him tighter in the crazy hope that the force of my hug might 
somehow keep him alive.

Someone handed me Bippy Romano. She was about six or 
seven, and God knows how I loved that precious child. She 
was the kind of kid who could light up your life. It just 
made your day to see her smile. Now she lay dying in my 
arms, with her lovely short hair combed so neatly and her 
beautiful smile erased by a twisted grimace of confusion 
and pain. My tears wet us both and I hugged her until she 
died.

I picked up one little girl, Nini Wilhite, whom I had held in 
my arms just hours earlier. She was a fine, cheerful child, 
but now her face was a heartbreaking mask of agony. Her 
eyes rolled up into her head. She gasped for breath and her 
arms went rigid. Then she was still.
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“Many of the children, too, were tricked into taking 
the poison,” said Cecil A. Roberts, deputy police com­
missioner of Guyana. “They thought it was a game.” 
Cups were handed to boys, ten to twelve years old, who 
were close friends and usually played and worked to­
gether. They ran outside and sat on the ground in 
scattered groups, facing each other in circles, and drank 
the liquid. Roberts, a tough cop who thought he had seen 
everything, said he cannot erase the memory of one 
cluster of boys, all lying face down in a small circle. 
“One little fellow was wearing jeans, sneakers, and red 
socks, and in his back pocket was a slingshot. Just like he 
came in from playing.” Clayton said mild disputes broke 
out in some families between parents who wanted their 
children to die with them and children who had been 
told by Jones that they would only be going to sleep. 
One of these was an eight-year-old girl who told her 
mother, “I’m sorry we all have to go to sleep. Can I go to 
sleep with my friends?” The mother hesitated, then said 
that would be all right. “Mommy, I love you,” said the 
girl, running off to find her friends. “I love you, too,” the 
mother called after her, tears running down her cheeks.

“Hurry!” Jones shouted to the running children. 
“Hurry, my children. . . . It’s just something to put you 
to rest. . . . Children, it will not hurt.”

As the adults realized that the children were actually 
dying and suffering terribly, the movement toward the 
vat came to an abrupt standstill. Jones left his elevated 
throne, and screaming, began pulling people out of their 
chairs. The security guards joined him, prodding young 
people with their weapons. Some began to help force the 
fatal drink down the throats of the reluctant. Another vat 
was brought out and placed behind the pavilion.

Jones returned to the microphone and tried to calm the 
panicked crowd: “I don’t care how many screams you 
hear. I don’t care how many anguished cries. . . . Let’s 
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be dignified. If you quit telling them [the children] 
they’re dying, if you would also stop some of this 
nonsense . . . Adults! Adults! I call on you to stop this 
nonsense. I call on you to quit exciting your children, 
when all they’re doing is going to a quiet place.”

Then it was time for the teen-agers. Some were ex­
tremely frightened, in shock, and dutifully lined up and 
drank the lethal concoction. They knew they had no 
choice because of the weapons. Force had to be used on 
the more rebellious ones. A Guyanese youth, fifteen­
year-old Jimmy Gill, hid against some rails outside the 
pavilion. “Security guards grabbed him,” Clayton re­
called. “There was a struggle. He said, ‘OK.’ Nurse 
Annie Moore ran over to him and injected him. . . . Fred 
Lewis, fifteen, struggled against taking the poison. They 
injected him with a needle, too.”

Clayton also described the death of Julie Ann Runnels, 
who, he said, “downright refused to take the poison.” 
She was grabbed and held by Paulette Jackson, her 
court-appointed guardian, who pulled her head back 
while Nurse Moore tried to pour the potion into her 
mouth. The girl spit it out five times. The two women 
then beat her and again attempted to get the cyanide into 
her. This time they covered her mouth and nose with 
their hands so that she could not breathe, forcing her at 
last to swallow the liquid. Pressured by Jones to “hurry, 
hurry, hurry!” the nurses and security men injected teen­
agers and adults in their backs, necks, foreheads, arms, 
legs, and sides.

Unpublished Guyanese police photos show the final 
agony the children endured. Dr. C. Leslie Mootoo, 
Guyana’s chief medical examiner, almost fainted when 
he first viewed the dead children, who “had pain written 
all over their faces.” One photo shows a teen-age girl 
clutching a blanket in a death grip; another, a four­
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teen-year-old girl with her legs pulled upward in a 
frozen spasm of tonnent. Other photos are of foaming 
mouths and noses, and faces covered with hemor­
rhaged blood. Jones had lied again. It was painful, 
incredibly painful.

With their children dead or dying, with armed guards 
all around them, the adults became resigned to their own 
death. Ordell Rhodes added: “There were people dying 
right in front of others waiting to get the potion. Some of 
those waiting looked like they were in a trance. They 
stood there glassy-eyed, waiting for their turn to die. But 
others, especially the children, were frightened.” It is 
believed that with all the drugs in Jonestown, the 
congregation was almost certainly drugged that morning 
in order to make them less likely to offer physical or 
mental resistance to the horror unfolding before their 
eyes.

Shortly before the massacre began, Jones had John 
Victor Stoen brought to him. With the tape recorder off, 
he asked the little boy if he wanted to die. John an­
swered, “No, I don’t want to die.” He was put to sleep 
and then injected with the cyanide.

It has not been officially determined whether Jones 
took his own life, but it is certain that it ended with a 
bullet in the head, killing him instantly. Not for him the 
poison he forced on the children.



"Although its features have been barely 
ruined, it is more horrible than the rest. It is 
the body of a small child, dressed in a green 

T-shirt and plaid short pants. The ravages 
of the poison were unable to remove the 

innocence of the little girl's face.”

Jim Willse, in the San Francisco Examiner, two 
days after Jonestown

10. I he Politics
of National Shame

George Gallup, Jr., wrote in February 1979:

The inass suicides and murders in Jonestown, Guyana, 
were the most widely followed event of 1978, with a 
remarkable 98% of Americans saying they had heard or 
read about this tragic occurrence. Few events, in fact, in 
the entire 43-year history of the Gallup Poll have been 
known to such a high proportion of the U.S. public.

Yet, despite such widespread national recognition, 
Nawab Lawrence, Michele Brady, Julie Ann Runnels, 
and close to 300 other youngsters were neglected and 
debased in death. High United States officials made 
decisions ensuring the probability that, of the 276

192
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children murdered (240 under age sixteen), approxi­
mately 210 will never be identified.

The Guyanese troops were the first outsiders to reach 
Jonestown after the final White Night. They entered the 
compound on Sunday morning, November 19, expecting 
an ambush, finding instead an eerie silence. The only 
signs of life were a dog and one old woman, Hyacinth 
Thrash, who had slept through the entire cult ritual. The 
incredulous troops quickly left Jonestown with Mrs. 
Thrash and returned to Georgetown, which was filling 
up with reporters who had come to cover the death of 
Congressman Ryan, to give an account of what appeared 
to be approximately 400 dead people lying in neat rows 
in the compound.

The body count rose sharply, however, after army and 
medical officials removed the older children and adults 
and found, beneath them, the babies and small children 
who had died first. In many instances, parents had died 
with their children and appeared to protect them in 
death. Jones, with ever a mind to public relations, had 
urged parents to follow their children in death. Security 
guards had piled mothers and fathers on their children to 
give the symbolic impression that they wanted to die 
together. Having divided families in life, Jones had had 
them reunited in death for show.

The first medical team to arrive at the jungle settle­
ment consisted of Dr. Mootoo and two assistants. Work­
ing thirty-two consecutive hours, to the point of prostra­
tion from lack of sleep and food, Dr. Mootoo examined, 
among others, four children: Kawan Carter, two; Yolanda 
Brown, fifteen; Marcus Anderson, fourteen; and Nawab 
Lawrence, eleven. Their stomachs contained cyanide 
and traces of Valium. “The children died from asphyxia 
due to violent convulsions,” said Dr. Mootoo. He also 
ascertained that at least “eighty-three people had been 
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injected with cyanide.” Other tests had to be forgone 
because of the medical examiner’s extreme fatigue and 
lack of supplies. An American pathologist phoned Dr. 
Mootoo to offer United States assistance, but Washington 
never gave permission and denied any knowledge of 
such an offer.

Dr. Mootoo, who had youngsters of his own, was 
deeply moved by the children he examined and the 
conditions he found at Jonestown. He was convinced 
that had the dinner that had been prepared for both 
babies and adults been served, the victims would not 
have suffered the severe pain they did on empty stom­
achs.

Eleven-year-old Nawab Lawrence stood out in death 
to Dr. Mootoo and Maurice Dundas, another Guyanese 
official. Dundas remembered seeing the little boy on his 
arrival in Georgetown: He wore the same clothes that 
day as he was wearing on the day of his death. Nawab 
was bom to a heroin addict on November 20,1967, and 
hungered for love all his life. In Jonestown, the young­
ster was “always getting into trouble” and was the 
subject of sadistic torture and prolonged psychological 
abuse. Nawab also was the first guardianship case this 
writer discovered. When the boy was six, a legal brief 
drafted by Reverend Jim Jones’ lawyers stated that 
Nawab’s guardian was “able to offer the minor a positive 
educational environment in a rural setting.”

After a few hours of sleep in one of the compound’s 
buildings, Dr. Mootoo went through the personal posses­
sions left behind in the “slave ships”—the cramped 
living quarters with twenty-seven bunk beds on each of 
the two floors. Crowded as they were, the old people, 
especially, had kept meaningful effects under their mat­
tresses. The medical examiner wearily and sadly read 
countless letters from relatives in the United States. 
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Grandchildren wanted telephone numbers in order to 
call their “grandmom(s) and grandpop(s),” and they 
wondered why their relatives, so far away in a strange 
land, didn’t write. On the walls were pictures of the 
writers and hopeful callers—families that Jones had 
sought to destroy so that each individual’s will could be 
reshaped to obey his demands without question. In fact, 
it was the bond of the family that finally challenged 
Jones and made him vulnerable.

It is now known that at least twenty of the unidentified 
children were Guyanese. A confidential statement given 
to this author by a Port Kaituma resident who had 
frequently visited Jonestown said that about fifteen 
native “mixed” (American/African) children from Ara- 
kaka and Mabaruma had been informally adopted by 
People’s Temple. Three children came from Port 
Kaituma, where their invalid mother still lives. They 
were David George, seventeen; Philip George, eight; 
and Grabela George, seven. Two other Guyanese young­
sters, named Neil and Derrick, also lived at the com­
mune on a permanent basis. According to former Temple 
members, a number of native women delivered babies at 
the Jonestown clinic and left them behind when they 
went back to their homes. Although these babies were 
never registered by the American Embassy as American 
citizens, the following Temple members, among others, 
informally adopted them: Andra and Tony Walker, Ava 
Jones (Brown), Sandy Jones, Joyce and Charles Tou­
chette, and Darline Ramsey.

Charles, Michael, and Mickey Touchette and Debbie 
Blakey concur with the Port Kaituma citizen on the 
number of native children at Jonestown on that fateful 
day. A Guyanese source said: “They were all packed up 
and sent to the U.S.A,” with the exception of Jimmy Gill, 
whose mother, on hearing that her son had been killed 
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while his hands were tied behind him, “ran wild and ran 
into the bush.”

Initially, the United States and Guyana agreed that the 
400 known bodies were to be buried at Jonestown. But 
as the body count rose day by day, so did Prime Minister 
Bumham’s concern that his country would become a cult 
shrine. He told the U.S. Embassy that the dead Ameri­
cans had to be removed at once.

The United States military was quickly mobilized and, 
within several days of Dr. Mootoo’s arrival, was on the 
scene to start the grim task of removing the bodies. The 
first chore of the troops was to bayonet the bloated 
bodies to release the internal gases caused by the hot sun 
and high humidity'. The second was more controversial. 
Although Ordell Rhodes and Stanley Clayton had re­
turned to the compound the first morning to help iden­
tify the dead, “on orders from very high up . . . all 
politically sensitive papers and forms of identification 
were removed from the corpses.” Photos on the cover of 
Newsweek and other magazines and newspapers clearly 
show that many of the bodies had ID tags on them. Joel 
Cobb and John Stoen, who are now among the 
unidentified children, were initially, positively 
identified. Jim Cobb told NBC News in March 1979, “My 
brother [Johnny Cobb] saw tags on the people’s bodies, 
and only two members of my family have been identified 
and I want to know why.” Lt. Gen. Gordon Sumner 
later was reported to have said, “It was the first time 
in [his] military career that [he] saw [his] men politi­
cized.” In view of the fact that the order to strip the 
IDs came from Robert Pastor, of the staff of Zbigniew 
Brzezinski, President Carter’s national security ad­
viser, it is clear that the impulse was to save any 
possible embarrassment to the Carter administration. 
This action would, in many cases, make the process 
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of identification impossible for the medical authorities 
in Guyana and once the bodies had been returned to 
the United States. Dr. Rudiger Breitenecker, a Balti­
more pathologist, said that the seven autopsies at 
which he assisted “were severely hampered by lack 
of crucial information which is usually collected in 
medical-legal investigations.” Unaware of the strip­
ping of the bodies and uninformed of Dr. Mootoo’s 
work and findings, the United States pathologists na­
ively told The New York Tinies on February 18, 1979: 
“We shuddered about the degree of ineptness.”

Preparing the children for removal from Jonestown to 
the United States was no easy task for the GIs assigned 
to the duty. In fact, the Army and Air Force are quietly 
providing psychiatric help to many of the young soldiers 
and airmen who assisted in the removal of the bodies 
from Jonestown. Sgt. Boy Petrie told the press: “There 
are a lot of little kids—that’s the toughest part. You can 
tell they are, kinda by the weight of the bags. They just 
didn’t have any choice.” Sixty-five were small enough to 
be placed in 4-foot lockers, and one aluminum coffin 
held five small bodies. All 913 deceased were sent to 
Dover Air Force Base in Delaware for identification 
purposes and final arrangements for burial.

One admitted problem in identifying the children was 
the deteriorated condition of their bodies. Comparison 
through pictures was impossible because of body de­
composition, and it was also hopeless to try to distin­
guish races because the pigments bearing skin had 
peeled off. However, when the bodies arrived at the old 
Fighter Alert Hangar No. 1315 at Dover, an assembly 
line was set up, according to Colonel Cowan, deputy’ 
director for the Air Force at the Armed Forces Institute 
of Pathology, and certain characteristics were charted on 
all the dead: sex, weight, height, and hair color and 
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texture. The FBI took prints of fingers and feet on 
everyone they could. Dental charting was done and X- 
rays were taken. Personal effects were photographed 
with a Polaroid color camera.

When Colonel Cowan was asked if identification 
could be made on the remaining 210 children, he stated: 
“It’s largely dependent on receiving other dental records 
. . . an awful lot of them have characteristic dental 
findings which we have X-rays on. If we had something 
to compare them to, I’m sure we could identify the 
people.’ But later, Cowan made a contradictory com­
ment when he claimed the FBI and the State Depart­
ment were working hard to come up with new informa­
tion. “We have exhausted what we have here,” he said. 
“We are at a standstill unless we get new information.”

Another reason for the high number of unidentified 
children is that Guyana never required fingerprinting for 
anyone under sixteen years of age, and California, where 
the majority of the children were born, stopped record­
ing footprints in the late 1950s. The practice was 
stopped, according to the California Bureau of Vital 
Statistics, because the ink used for the babies’ prints 
came through the birth certificates.

Be that as it may, the remaining fifty-four children 
bom outside California have not had their footprints 
requested by any United States agency for the purpose of 
identification. Conrad Banner, head of the FBI s 
Identification Bureau, allowed that “because of limited 
resources, [they] were not able to check hospitals and 
other leads.” Although Marvin Sellers was traced to St. 
Francis Hospital in Trenton, New Jersey, and copies of 
his footprints were handed over to the FBI by this writer, 
the Bureau said the quality of the copy was not good 
enough and the original print was necessary. Mrs. 
Gaines of St. Francis’ Records Department said that 
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because the original prints were on a microfilm with 
ninety-nine other private records, they would have to be 
viewed in the hospital’s Medical Records Room. Pres­
ently, the FBI has still not made any attempt, and Marvin 
Sellers remains unidentified.

Reaction to the death of the children of Guyana has 
been largely one of callous disregard. Representative 
Evans of Delaware balked at the high cost of bringing 
home the bodies, while Governor DuPont wanted them 
out of his state as soon as possible. A group of solid San 
Francisco citizens, including Michael Goldwater, son of 
Senator Barry Goldwater, voted to send a telegraph 
protesting the possibility of burying the dead near their 
“quiet bedroom community.” The President of the 
United States, as well as national and state political 
leaders, said nothing about this in all of 1979, the 
International Year of the Child. And, by and large, 
the religious and civic communities of the nation 
have also looked the other way.

There are hundreds of youth-oriented groups in this 
country, especially in Washington, with the express 
purpose of advocating children’s rights. Yet, with one 
exception, they have been silent on the single most 
glaring example of denial of human rights for children in 
several decades. These groups with their vast budgets 
did not want to risk losing federal dollars, therefore 
prudently said and did nothing.

In the early autumn of 1979, a Chicago housewife, 
Kaye Jarrett, decided to organize a national memorial 
service for the children of Jonestown. Invitations were 
mailed out to every major child-advocacy organization in 
the country and to all clergymen in the Capital. Every 
United States senator and representative received a 
hand-carried invitation to attend the service and light a 
candle before the FBI Building to protest the lack of 
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effort on the part of that organization to identify the 
children. Not one legislator or children’s advocate came.

For the 215 or so people who did come to pay their 
respects to hundreds of murdered innocents, Father 
Sean McManus of Washington, the only clergyman 
present, poignantly supplicated:

Let us pray. Lord, forgive us for not knowing the names of 
your children, as it is a sign that we really don’t know who 
we ourselves are. May their names be forever before you. 
May their memory always serve to remind us sinful adults 
of the crimes we commit against children. Holy Lord and 
Father, teach the adult world that violence against children 
is the purest expression of satanic assault on the name of 
and the person of Jesus.

While a nation, its government, and its agencies ig­
nored the victims, the professionals who had worked 
closely with the dead, especially with the children, 
voiced a very different attitude. Dr. Mootoo, who had 
labored so diligently to give dignity and order to the 
chaotic death scene, said he almost fainted when he first 
viewed the youngsters. FBI agents examining the 
young bodies in Dover thought of their own children 
and went about their duties with sad attachment. 
Charles Carson, chief undertaker at Dover Air Force 
Base during the Vietnam war, said, “I am a father. I 
have a small boy. That child on that table took on the 
ID of my child. I had to fight back feelings—anger, 
love, tears. . . . Those kids didn’t make a decision to 
die . . A religious man, Mr. Carson went on to say, 
“The Lord said, ‘Suffer little children and come unto 
me.’ ” He tearfully added, “I hope thex do.”

In February 1979, Judge Ira Brown oi the Superior 
Court of California, who was handling the estate of 
People’s Temple, requested information on the 
unidentified dead of Jonestown. Carmen A. Diplacido, of 
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the State Department’s Citizens’ Consular Services, 
wrote to Judge Brown on February 28:

Of the 561 bodies remaining at Dover Air Force Base, 253 
have yet to be identified. However, with few exceptions, 
we are aware of the names of the 253 bodies, but in 
connection with the U.S. Armed Forces Institute of Pathol­
ogy, in their continuing identification process, we have 
been unable to match the decedent’s name to a certain body 
among the 253. This, then, is why these decedents are 
considered as unidentified.

In early May of 1979, roughly six months after their 
arrival in the United States, a decision was made to bury 
the children in Oakland, California. Fifty four-foot-long 
coffins were loaded on a tractor-trailer for a four-day trip 
across the United States to the West Coast. State Depart­
ment Attorney Charles Wyman, who was known for his 
humane attitude to Jonestown relatives across the coun­
try, commented on the loading of that truck: “When you 
see a forklift pick up eighteen boxes and you know they 
have eighteen children in them, it’s got to get to you, 
unless you’re calloused.”

Upon its arrival in Oakland, each 20-gauge steel, 
govemment-regulation-sized coffin, bearing a coded 
number to replace the name, was put inside a concrete 
cemetery liner. Again a forklift tractor picked up the 
boxes and carried Nawab Lawrence, John Victor Stoen, 
and their playmates to their final resting place—a huge 
50- by 80-foot excavation area that had been dug for all 
the unidentified bodies. With only a handful of people 
looking on during that warm, lovely day in May 1979, the 
neglected, abused, and, finally, murdered children of 
Jonestown were covered over by the same machine that 
had carved out the massive hole. Thus did they disap­
pear from the conscience of America.



"Not I, not 1, but the wind that blows 
through me 

A fine wind is blowing a new direction of 
time. 

If only I let it bear me, carry me; if only it 
carry me! 

If only I am sensitive, subtle, oh, delicate, a 
winged gift, 

If only, most lovely of all, I yield myself and 
am borrowed 

By the fine, fine wind that takes its course 
Through the chaos of the world. . .

D. H. Lawrence

11. The Cults
and Human Rights 
for Children

Jim Jones, murderer of 276 children and 637 other 
human beings at Jonestown, left a final mocking message 
on a board above the throne where he presided over his 
followers: “Those who do not remember the past are 
condemned to repeat it.”

As a nation, we do not seem to want to remember what 
happened in Jonestown. Nor do we want to learn how 
and why it happened. With very few exceptions, 
Americans, from the President of the United States to 
people on the street, shrink from discussing the “ab­
erration,” an event “too morbid to think about—it’s
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best to forget it.” Only Representative Bill Royer, 
who replaced Leo Ryan in Congress, and newly 
elected San Francisco District Attorney Arlo E. Smith 
have persisted in the quest to shed light on the cir­
cumstances that culminated in Jonestown. At the local 
level, Smith has announced his intention to “reopen 
the investigation into the activation of the People’s 
Temple in San Francisco,” while Royer has persis­
tently called on his colleagues to further investigate 
Jim Jones and his operation.

The demise of the People’s Temple membership was 
a significant, historical event worthy of examination at 
the level of a Presidential commission. I propose that 
California name a panel of retired state and federal 
judges to probe the reason why the Ortiz report, dis­
cussed in Chapter 7, and numerous other affidavits and 
complaints against Jones and his organization were not 
acted upon. This panel should focus on politicans and 
bureaucrats, an omission that left the three previous, 
rather cursory hearings lacking in depth and intent.

When the House Foreign Affairs Committee started 
their investigation of Leo Ryan’s assassination, Chair­
man Clement J. Zablocki requested the opportunity for 
his staff to interview Guyanese officials, including the 
Prime Minister. In an exchange of letters, Guyana re­
sponded that such interviews would be feasible if simi­
lar questions could be put to Mrs. Jimmy Carter, Vice 
President Mondale, and other American political leaders 
who supported Jones in one way or another. Needless to 
say, nothing came of such a proposal. The political 
intrigues that gave Jones his power base have yet to be 
explored.

Without question, the Ethics Committee of the Ameri­
can Bar Association should conduct a professional hear­
ing into the various roles and activities of all People’s
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Temple attorneys, including Mark Lane, Charles Garry, 
and Tim Stoen. If our government and the legal profes­
sion cannot identify and rectify the causes and means of 
the injustices done to the children of Jonestown, I call 
for an inquiry to be instigated by the Secretariat of 
Amnesty International.

The time has come, too, for in-depth investigations of 
the other cults that have proliferated in the last decade: 
the Unification Church (“Moonies”); The Church of 
Armageddon (the Love Family); the Children of God; 
Scientology; Foundation Faith Ministries; and The Way, 
International. While the leaders of these groups may not 
have Jones’ murderous motives, People’s Temple was 
not unique/The methods employed by Jones to manipu­
late and dominate his disciples are shared by most of 
these cults today. Followers are coerced into signing 
over their assets to the “church.” Defectors are threat­
ened and harassed while attempts are made to keep 
control of their children. Brainwashing is used to recruit 
followers and indoctrinate them. Children are forced to 
beg on the streets. Key government agencies are 
infiltrated by cult personnel. Bizarre sexual practices are 
employed to undermine the bonds uniting families^- 
Threats of costly lawsuits are put forth to intimidate 
critics and the media, as well as parents who seek to 
rescue their children. Worst of all, children are routinely 
neglected, abused, and refused medical attention.

Since the Jonestown massacre, thousands of parents 
have been organizing against the cults. Their battle, 
however, is a lonely, uphill struggle against tremendous 
odds: These quasi-religious organizations are protected 
by our First Amendment and the government’s reluc­
tance to pursue charges of fraud, misappropriation of 
property, forgery, and widespread child abuse and ne­
glect, penetrated within the private confines of 
churches.
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Jonestown is not the only place where children have 
died as a result of fanatical cult ceremonies or at the 
hands of a lunatic prophet. Cult children have starved in 
New York, Indianapolis, and Yakima, Washington. Ba­
bies bom into cults, their births unregistered, are re­
ported to have died of unnatural causes and to have been 
buried in secrecy, like pets. Does the First Amendment 
give every “religious” community the license to neglect, 
abuse, and even murder its children?
_^>£ults thrive on psychological manipulation, but the 
key to their survival is financial manipulation and, in 
many cases, financial fraudjAt this writing, millions of 
dollars are being garnered by the new breed of media 
preachers. Fortunes are being collected through TV and 
radio solicitations without any accountability' being of­
fered to the givers. While the state may not question^ 
cult’s beliefs, it should be able to look into its bookkeep­
ing and sources of income. Would it not be a fitting 
memorial to the Jonestown dead—whose Social Security 
checks helped Jones build his power base—to require 
that all religious bodies open their financial records to 
public scrutiny? Would this violate religious freedom? I 
don’t think so. Taxpayers are entitled to know when the 
umbrella of “religion” is being used to exploit public 
funds.

Admittedly, there would be strong opposition from 
organized religions to such monitoring. Ever since the 
founding of our country, they have been protected by the 
First Amendment to the Constitution. Unfortunately, 
this guaranteed religious freedom has come to be inter­
preted by churches in its broadest sense, to the point that 
the rights of taxpayers are being violated. Recently, 
when a California attorney general investigated the 
financial records of a very corrupt church, traditional 
organized religions, particularly the Catholic Church, 
joined in a chorus of protest. Is the wealth of churches
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more sacred than the human rights that corrupt minis­
tries jeopardize? Can we not draw the line between 
religious freedom and vast financial holdings that pro­
vide no accounting to the people who labor to bestow on 
their clergy such immense wealth? What checks are 
there to keep religion honest? The time to establish 
them is now.

The House Foreign Affairs Committee’s report on 
Jonestown recommended “inclusion of the subject of 
cults on the agenda of the White House Conference on 
the Family” to coincide with the 1981 United Nations 
International Year of the Family. The report called for a 
“comprehensive and balanced discussion on the subject 
of cults, with special reference to their mode of opera­
tion, the style and tactics of their leaders, and means and 
methods by which parents and children can avoid be­
coming involved with such organizations.”

This effort is already being sabotaged by the cults. 
Much the same as Jim Jones, cult leaders are directing the 
infiltration of every level of government. Brainwashed 
as they are to total belief in, and dedication to, their 
leaders, the infiltrators will let nothing stop them from 
doing as they are ordered, regardless of what moral or 
legal issues are involved. We must at least make an effort 
to better understand and guard against the realities of 
these multimillion-dollar quasi-religions that trap the 
youth of our land in their quest for increasing power over 
lives and fortunes.

To understand the full impact of the tragedy of the 
children of Jonestown, we must realize that it occurred 
within the framework of an ongoing and tar greater 
tragedy—the worldwide abuse and neglect of children. 
In 1978, eight million children died because of mis­
placed national priorities by various governments. 
Whereas expenditures of public funds for basic health
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care, nutrition, and education could have saved untold 
numbers of children, the world spent $120 billion on 
new arms. As a result of war and politics, the starving 
children of Indochina dominated the news in 1979. In 
1980, hundreds of thousands of children and their par­
ents became refugees in the wake of the Soviet invasion 
of Afghanistan. Children, who cannot understand the 
deadly politics of international leaders and who look to 
the adult world for protection and safety, are simply left 
to suffer starvation, illness, and death.

In a report by Ruth Leger Sivard, “World Military and 
Social Expenditures—1979,” the priorities pursued at 
the expense of the world’s youth are documented:

In the Year of the Child, 8 million children in the world will 
die as a result of hunger and illnesses related to malnutri­
tion.

Developing nations, with 660 million people who cannot 
afford the basic necessities of life, spend over $90 billion a 
year on military power.

The world invests 2,500 times more in the machinery of war 
than in the machinery of peacekeeping.

In the Year of the Child, 650 million school-age children in 
the world are not in school.

The strongest military nation in the world has over 25 
million people who are malnourished, 10 million children 
who have never seen a doctor.

In the Year of the Child, the world has added to two of its 
longest-lived legacies for future generations: a soaring 
public debt, and a stockpile of nuclear waste which remains 
dangerous for tens of thousands of years.

In pounds per person, the world has more explosive power 
than food.
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The universality and scale of the neglect and abuse of 
children might ameliorate the death of 276 youngsters in 
Jonestown, except for the fact that a free society, gov­
erned by just laws, allowed the murder and now chooses 
to ignore that it happened. The victims of Jim Jones 
deserve more of a memorial than cold statistics. Would it 
not be proper for President Carter to award the Freedom 
Medal, for the first time, to a child? Julie Ann Runnels 
made such a gallant attempt at life. In spitting out the 
poison five times as adults held her tight, she embodied 
the will of all the children to live, even though life was 
for them hunger, abuse, and tenor. I suggest that the 
President award the Freedom Medal posthumously to 
Julie Ann on behalf of all the children who were mur­
dered in Guyana. By presenting it at the graveside of 
these young victims, our leader would not only pay 
homage to their courage but give them the dignity they 
deserve.

In the silence of the children’s death, the potential of 
their lives and dreams is haunting. Shawn Valgen Baker, 
a poet at thirteen, rivaled Langston Hughes in his pride 
at being black. Ten-year-old Mark Amos was a genius, 
constantly impressing adults with his creative intelli­
gence. David Chaikin, at fifteen, was a sensitive artist 
and poet. Denise Boutte and Marvin Sellers wanted to 
be doctors, and young Ruthie Tupper died with child. 
Vincent Lopez, Donna Ponts, Joel Cobb, John Victor 
Stoen, Pattie and Judy Houston, Nawab Lawrence, and 
hundreds of other children wanted so little and could 
have given so much.

Candice Cordell was eulogized by a girl friend who 
survived Jonestown:

She grew up in P.T. all her life, she didn’t know what the 
outside world w’as like. And she’d wonder, she’d talk about 
it, she wanted to know what it was like. “Just for a day,’ she 
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said, she’d “like to know how it was on the outside world.” 
It’s hard for me to relate to her dying. Because I know she 
wanted that chance and she never got it. She had no way to 
get out. Nobody to turn to.

In the final refuse of People’s Temple were little dolls, 
sneakers, baseball mitts, empty Mother Goose shoe 
boxes, games, assorted toys, and single socks of all sizes. 
One room was filled with baby cradles, bassinets, a potty 
chair, and baby bottles. The loss of human potential can 
never be measured. Those shoes will never be bronzed; 
the dolls will never again be loved; the sneakers will 
never wear out at the toes or be covered with dust from 
play. The toys and games, like the precious lives, are lost 
to all of us. In a violent world, the gentle words of Pablo 
Casals attempt to teach us another meaning of the word 
“proud”:

You may become a Shakespeare, a Michelangelo, a 
Beethoven. You have the capacity for anything. Yes, you are 
a marvel. And when you grow up, can you then harm 
another who is, like you, a marvel? You must cherish one 
another. You must work—we all must work—to make this 
world worthy of its children.
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ACCUSATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS 
BY REV. JAMES WARREN JONES AGAINST OUR 

CHILDREN AND RELATIVES AT THE PEOPLE’S 
TEMPLE JUNGLE ENCAMPMENT IN GUYANA, 

SOUTH AMERICA

TO: REV. JAMES WARREN JONES

From: Parents and relatives of children and adults under 
your control at “Jonestown,” Northwest District, Co­
operative Republic of Guyana

Date: April 11, 1978
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I. INTRODUCTION

We, the undersigned, are the grief-stricken parents and 
relatives of the hereinafter-designated persons you arranged 
to be transported to Guyana, South America, at a jungle 
encampment you call “Jonestown.” We are advised there are 
no telephones or exit roads from Jonestown, and that you now 
have more than 1,000 U.S. citizens living with you there.

We have allowed nine months to pass since you left the 
United States in June 1977. Although certain of us knew it 
would do no good to wait before making a group protest, 
others of us were willing to wait to see whether you would in 
fact respect the fundamental freedoms and dignity of our 
children and family members in Jonestown. Sadly, your con­
duct over the past year has shown such a flagrant and cruel 
disregard for human rights that we have no choice as responsi­
ble people but to make this public accusation and to demand 
the immediate elimination of these outrageous abuses.

II. SUMMARY OF VIOLATIONS

We hereby accuse you, Jim Jones, of the following acts 
violating the human rights of our family members:

1. Making the following threat calculated to cause alarm for 
the lives of our relatives: “I can say without hesitation 
that we are devoted to a decision that it is better even to 
die than to be constantly harassed from one continent to 
the next.”

2. Employing physical intimidation and psychological co­
ercion as part of a mind-programming campaign aimed at 
destroying family ties, discrediting belief in God, and 
causing contempt for the United States of America.

3. Prohibiting our relatives from leaving Guyana by 
confiscating their passports and money and by stationing 
guards around Jonestown to prevent anyone escaping.

4. Depriving them of their right to privacy, free speech, and 
freedom of association by:
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a. Prohibiting telephone calls;
h. Prohibiting individual contacts with “outsiders”;
c. Censoring all incoming and outgoing mail;
d. Extorting silence from relatives in the U.S. by threats 

to stop all communication;
e. Preventing our children from seeing us when we 

travel to Guyana.

The aforesaid conduct by you is a violation of the human 
rights of our loved ones as guaranteed by Article 55 of the 
United Nations Charter, and as defined by the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights (adopted by the U.N. General 
Assembly on December 10, 1948). It is also a violation of their 
constitutional rights as guaranteed by the Constitution of the 
United States, and as guaranteed by the Constitution of the 
Cooperative Republic of Guyana (adopted May 26, 1966).

III. THREAT OF DECISION TO DIE

On March 14, 1978, you, Jim Jones, caused to be written 
on People’s Temple stationery a letter “to all U.S. Senators 
and Members of Congress” complaining of alleged “bu­
reaucratic harassment” and ending with this chilling threat:

“[I]t is equally evident that people cannot forever be continually 
harassed and beleaguered by such tactics without seeking alterna­
tives that have been presented. I can say without hesitation that 
we are devoted to a decision that it is better even to die than to be 
constantly harassed from one continent to the next.”

We know how exact you are in choosing your words, and there 
is little doubt that this letter was dictated by you personally 
since it has been your policy over the years to dictate all 
letters sent to government officials on Temple stationery. Your 
letter seeks to mask, by the use of irrelevant ideological 
rhetoric, its real purpose, which is to divert the attention of 
U.S. Governmental agencies toward your abuses of human 
rights by putting them on the defensive.

The “1,000 U.S. citizens” you claim to have brought to 



APPENDIX 213

Guyana include our beloved relatives who are “devoted to a 
decision that it is better to die.” We frankly do not know if you 
have become so corrupted by power that you would actually 
allow a collective “decision” to die, or whether your letter is 
simply a bluff designed to deter investigations into your 
practices. There is supporting evidence for our concern in the 
affidavit of Yolanda Crawford, which shows that you have 
publicly stated in Guyana that you would rather have your 
people dead than living in the United States, and that you 
have solicited people to lay down their lives for your cause. 
You certainly have been successful in making us fearful as to 
your intentions.

We hereby give you the opportunity now to publicly repudi­
ate our interpretation of your threat. If you refuse to deny the 
apparent meaning of your letter, we demand that you immedi­
ately answer the following questions:

1. When you refer to “a decision that it is better even to die 
than to be constantly harrassed,” has this “decision” 
already been made or is it to be made in the future? If 
made, when and where? Were our relatives consulted? 
Did anybody dissent? By what moral or legal justification 
could you possibly make such a decision on behalf of 
minor children?

2. When you say you are “devoted” to this decision, does it 
mean it is irreversible? If irreversible, at what point will 
the alleged “harassment” have gotten so great as to make 
death “better”? Would it be an International Human 
Rights Commission investigation, or an on-premise in­
vestigation of your operations by the U.S. Government? 
Who besides you will decide when that point “to die is 
reached?

We know your psychological coercion of the residents of 
Jonestown to be so “totalitarian” that nobody there, including 
adults, could possibly make such a decision to die freely and 
voluntarily. The evidence is that our relatives are in fact 
hostages, and we hereby serve notice that should any harm 
befall them, we will hold you and People’s Temple church 
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responsible and will employ every legal and diplomatic re­
source to bring you to justice.

IV. MIND-PROGRAMMING AND INTIMIDATION

Tbe affidavit of Steven A. Katsaris is a personal account of 
his experiences in Guyana. It reveals the terrifying effect of 
your mind-programming on his daughter, a bright 24-year-old, 
which has caused her to deny belief in God, to renounce 
family ties, and to manifest symptoms of sleep-deprivation 
and a serious personality change.

Yolanda Crawford’s affidavit is an eyewitness account of 
your activities in Guyana by someone present with you. The 
affidavit shows that you, Jim Jones, preach there the following 
doctrines: a) that you are God and there is no other God; b) 
that the United States is the “most evil” nation in the world; c) 
that allegiance to your cause must replace family loyalty and 
that parents should be handled at a distance for the sole 
purposes of collecting inheritances for the cause and of getting 
them not to cause trouble.

The evidence also shows that you have instituted the 
following practices in Guyana: a) a centralized chain of 
command whereby all decisions of significance are to be made 
by you and, once made, must be followed by Temple mem­
bers under threat of punishment; b) the stationing of guards 
around Jonestown to prevent persons from escaping; and c) 
the use of degrading punishments (for example, eating hot 
peppers), sleep-deprivation, food-deprivation, hard labor, and 
other coercive techniques commonly used in mind-program­
ming.

The evidence also shows that you, Jim Jones, confiscate the 
passports and monies of people upon their arrival in Guyana, 
prohibit individual contacts with “outsiders,” censor incom­
ing and outgoing mail, prohibit telephone calls by Temple 
members when in Georgetown, and require Temple members 
to travel in groups. Ms. Crawford’s affidavit also shows that 
you have publicly threatened that anyone who tries to leave 
the “cause” will be killed.
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The aforesaid conduct by you is a wanton violation of the 
human rights of our loved ones. It is also a violation of their 
constitutional rights. The physical intimidation is a violation 
of the penal codes of the United States and the Cooperative 
Republic of Guyana.

J V. THE HUMAN RIGHTS BEING VIOLATED

We hereby bring to your attention, Jim Jones, the particular 
provisions which guarantee human rights and constitutional 
rights that you are violating:

1. Confiscation of Passports. Your systematic confiscation 
of passports and all of the monies of Temple members 
upon their arrival in Guyana is for the purpose of pre­
venting them from leaving and returning to the United 
States. You are thereby violating Article 13, Section 2, of 
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which 
reads:

“Everyone has the right to leave any country, includ­
ing his own, and to return to his country.”

Your conduct is also a violation of Article 14 (1) of the 
Constitution of the Cooperative Republic of Guyana, 
which reads:

“No person shall be deprived of his freedom of 
movement, that is to say, the right to move freely 
throughout Guyana ... the right to leave Guyana

2. Prohibiting Telephone Calls. You systematically tell all 
Temple members upon their arrival in Georgetown, 
Guyana, that they are not permitted, under threat of 
punishment, to make any telephone calls to family mem­
bers in the United States or elsewhere, your purpose 
being to prevent negative information being imparted to 
relatives in the U.S. Your additional purpose is to over­
come the bonds of family which might induce a Temple 
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member to wish to return to his home in the U.S. This 
conduct is a violation of Article 19 of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights, which states:

“Everyone has the right to freedom of opinion and 
expression; this right includes freedom to hold opin­
ions without interference and to seek, receive and 
impart information and ideas through any media and 
regardless of frontiers.”

This conduct is also a violation of Article 12 (1) of the 
Guyana Constitution, which reads:

“Except with his own consent, no person shall be 
hindered in the enjoyment of his freedom of expres­
sion, that is to say, freedom to hold opinions without 
interference, freedom to communicate ideas and 
information without interference and freedom from 
interference w'ith his correspondence.”

3. Prohibiting Contacts with Outsiders. You systematically 
require that all Temple members, while in Georgetown, 
not communicate or visit with “outsiders” and not leave 
the communal headquarters (41 Lamaha Gardens) unless 
in association with other Temple members. You follow 
the same policy in Jonestown, enforcing your edicts with 
guards. Your purpose is to prevent anyone going to the 
U.S. Embassy and causing them to ask questions on how 
you treat people. Your additional purpose is to discour­
age Temple members from being exposed to other reli­
gions or philosophies, and from viewing their lives 
independent of communal obligations. Your conduct is a 
violation of Article 20, Section 2, of the Universal Decla­
ration of Human Rights, which states:

“No one may be compelled to belong to an associa­
tion.”

It is also a violation of Article 18 of the same Declaration, 
which states:
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“Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, 
conscience and religion; this right includes freedom 
to change his religion or belief, and freedom, either 
alone or in community with others and in public or 
private, to manifest his religion or belief in teaching, 
practice, worship and observance.”

Your conduct is also a violation of Article 13 (1) of the 
Guyana Constitution, which reads:

“Except with his own consent, no person shall be 
hindered in the enjoyment of his freedom of assem­
bly and association, that is to say, his right to assem­
ble freely and associate with other persons.”

4. Censoring Mail. You systematically require that all of the 
incoming mail and all of the outgoing mail of Temple 
members be censored by your staff. Your purpose is to 
discourage negative information being “leaked” to peo­
ple in the U.S. and to prevent facts about the “outside” 
world reaching Temple members which are at variance 
with your “party line.” This is shown by the affidavit of 
Ms. Crawford with respect to the Ku Klux Klan marching 
in the streets. Because mail is the only means of contact 
available to our loved ones once they are transported to 
Jonestown, you have thereby effectively cut off all free 
expression and correspondence. Your conduct is a viola­
tion of the right of our relatives to privacy, family, and 
correspondence under Article 12 of the Universal Decla­
ration of Human Rights, which states:

“No one shall be subjected to arbitrary interference 
with his privacy, family, home, or correspondence. 
Everyone has the right to the protection of the law 
against such interference.”

Your censoring of mail is also a violation of Article 12 (1) 
of the Guyana Constitution, which is quoted above.

5. Extorting Silence From Relatives. You systematically 
require that Temple members who write to their family 



218 THE CHILDREN OF JONESTOWN

members in the U.S. threaten in their letters that they 
will stop all further communication if any criticism is 
made of you or People’s Temple. For example, Donna 
Ponts is a 15-year-old girl taken to Guyana in July 1977 
without her father’s knowledge and in violation of a court 
order requiring her to remain in California unless he 
gave permission. Attached is a letter from Donna to her 
grandmother, which starts out saying: “Grandma, hi! 
How are you doing? I hope you and everyone else are 
doing good.” It ends as follows: “I am sorry to hear that 
you called the radio station, but since you did, I will not 
be writing you any more.”

Those of us who receive letters from our relatives in 
Jonestown find them standardized and unresponsive, as 
if written by machines. But since it is all we have, these 
letters are very precious to us. You have placed us in the 
agonizing dilemma of watching helplessly while the 
rights of our relatives are violated or losing all contact. 
We have chosen, however, not to yield to your extortion, 
which is a violation of Article 12 of the Universal Decla­
ration of Human Rights, quoted above, and of Article 13 
(1) of the Guyana Constitution, also quoted above.

6. Prohibiting Our Children From Seeing Us. Five of the 
parents who have signed this accusation have traveled 
from San Francisco some 5,000 miles in order to see their 
children since you took them to Guyana. The evidence is 
clear that you have instituted a most pernicious cam­
paign to discredit us in our children’s eyes, as can be 
concluded from the following experiences:
a. Steven A. Katsaris. On September 26, 1977, Steven A. 

Katsaris arrived in Guyana and attempted to meet 
with his daughter, Maria. She was prohibited from 
meeting with him, duress being employed by you to 
force her to lie to the U.S. Embassy that she did not 
wish to see her father because “he had molested” her. 
Mr. Katsaris had with him a letter from Maria, inviting 
him and saying, “I love you and miss you.” On 
November 3, 1977, Mr. Katsaris returned to Guyana to 
see his daughter, after first obtaining a promise of 

A
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assistance from the Guyanese Ambassador to the 
United States. After days of waiting, Maria was al­
lowed to see her father, but only in the presence of 
three other Temple members. Maria gave evidence of 
sleep-deprivation and a behavior pattern extremely 
hostile and different from that ever manifested before.

b. Howard and Beverly Oliver. On December 19, 1977, 
Howard and Beverly Oliver, together with their attor­
ney, Roger Holmes, arrived in Guyana in order to see 
their two sons, William S. Oliver (age 17) and Bruce 
Howard Oliver (age 20). In July 1977 both boys had 
told their parents they were going to Guyana “for two 
weeks.” The Olivers had a court order from a Califor­
nia Superior Court for the return of William. They also 
had in their possession letters from each son saying, “I 
love you.” After spending eight days without success 
trying to see their sons, they were told that “Jim Jones 
had a council meeting” and the decision was that “it 
was best that we did not see or talk to our sons.”

c. Timothy and Grace Stoen. On January 4, 1978, Timo­
thy and Grace Stoen arrived in Guyana in connection 
with habeas corpus proceedings commenced the pre­
ceding August. Although they had a California Supe­
rior Court order which ordered you to deliver their 
six-year-old-child, John Victor Stoen, to them, you 
refused to let either parent even see their child. The 
evidence also shows that you have falsely accused 
Grace as being “unfit” and that on January' 18, 1978, 
three Temple members surrounded Timothy at Ti- 
mehri Airport in Guyana and threatened his and 
Grace’s lives if they did not drop legal proceedings.

The aforesaid conduct on your part constitutes a violation of 
Article 12 (1) of the Guyana Constitution, quoted above, and 
Article 12 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 
which states as follows:

“No one shall be subjected to arbitrary interference with 
his . . . family . . .”
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VI. DEMANDS FOR RELIEF

We hereby demand that you, Jim Jones, immediately cease 
and desist from the aforesaid conduct and that you do the 
following additional acts immediately:

1. Publicly answer our questions regarding your threat of a 
collective “decision ... to die,” and publicly promise 
U.S. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance and Guyana Prime 
Minister Forbes Burnham that you will never encourage 
or solicit the death of any person at Jonestown, whether 
individually or collectively, for any reason whatsoever.

2. Remove all guards physically preventing our relatives 
from leaving Jonestown.

3. Return all passports and money taken from our relatives 
to them for their permanent possession.

4. Permit and encourage our relatives a one-week visit 
home, at our expense. (Because our relatives have been 
in Guyana for months—and some for years—and because 
it is our belief that they do not know the full People’s 
Temple story and have been prejudiced against their 
families, we demand you demonstrate in practice your 
contention that they are their own agents by permitting 
and encouraging our relatives to visit their families in the 
United States for one week, with our guarantee that we 
will provide them with round trip air fare and not 
interfere with their return at the end of the family visit 
should they so choose.)

5. Permit our relatives to write letters to whomever they 
wish, uncensored and in private.

6. Permit our relatives to read letters sent to them in private 
and without censorship.

7. Abide by the orders of the courts in the United States, 
which you have heretofore ignored.

8. Notify us within three days on your radio-phone network 
of your full acceptance and compliance with these de­
mands by contacting: Steven A. Katsaris, Trinity School, 
915 West Church Street, Ukiah, California 95482, tele­
phone (707) 462-8721.
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To those whom I have inadvertently failed to give credit, I 
offer my apologies, and trust they will forgive my human error.
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